First print



New South Wales

## Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

## **Explanatory note**

This explanatory note relates to this Bill as introduced into Parliament.

## Overview of Bill

The object of this Bill is to repeal and re-enact the *Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941* with the following modifications:

- (a) the issue of licences under the Act will be on the basis of entry-level competence, good character, continuing professional development and professional indemnity insurance,
- (b) professional indemnity insurance requirements will be introduced for all licence holders,
- (c) there will be provision for requiring licence holders to undertake continuing professional development,
- (d) licences will be renewable annually,
- (e) caretaker managers will be required to be licensed as on-site residential property managers,

b01-090-p02.820

Explanatory note

- (f) provision for the issue of certificates of registration for industry employees will parallel the new licensing provisions except that there will be no requirement for professional indemnity insurance,
- (g) the Director-General of the Department of Fair Trading will be able to grant exemptions from the requirement that there be a licensee in charge at each place of business under a licence,
- (h) the requirement that at least 50% of the directors of a corporate licensee must be licensed for the business conducted by the corporation is replaced with a requirement that at least one of the directors must be appropriately licensed,
- (i) obligations are placed on a licensee and the licensee in charge at a place of business to properly supervise the business carried on under a licence,
- (j) simplified and modernised disciplinary provisions are introduced, including provision for show cause proceedings, power to suspend, appointment of a manager of a licensee's business, and the keeping of a register of disciplinary action,
- (k) procedures for the taking of action in relation to general trust account deficiencies are simplified,
- (1) powers of inspection and enforcement are enhanced, and broadened to cover unlicensed trading,
- (m) provision is made for a register of bidders at auctions of residential property and rural land and for limiting vendor bids to 1 bid,
- (n) misleading advertisements and statements as to the estimated selling price of residential property are prohibited,
- (o) all benefits received by a licensee will be required to be disclosed in the relevant agency agreement,
- (p) provision is made for the disclosure of information to the client by a real estate agent who provides financial or investment advice,
- (q) the circumstances in which a licensee is required to declare a beneficial interest in a property transaction are clarified,
- (r) provision is made for the prescription by regulation of standard form agency agreements, the introduction of a cooling-off period for agency agreements, and requiring approved information to be provided to consumers prior to entering into an agency agreement,
- (s) the prohibition against recovery of commission under an agency agreement when a copy of the agreement is not served on the consumer in the required time is modified to allow a court to permit recovery of commission in some cases,

Explanatory note page 2

Explanatory note

- (t) provisions for the payment of compensation out of a Compensation Fund in the event of defalcation by a licensee are extended to apply to transactions where the consumer reasonably believed he or she was dealing with a licensee,
- (u) penalty levels for offences are revised,
- (v) the language of the Act is modernised and simplified, redundant provisions are removed and various changes of a minor or statute law revision nature are made.

The Bill also contains savings and transitional provisions and makes consequential amendments to various Acts.

### Outline of provisions

### Part 1 Preliminary

Clause 1 sets out the name (also called the short title) of the proposed Act.

**Clause 2** provides for the commencement of the proposed Act on a day or days to be appointed by proclamation.

Clause 3 defines certain words and expressions used in the proposed Act.

**Clause 4** exempts certain persons from the requirement to hold a licence under the proposed Act.

**Clause 5** provides that notes in the proposed Act are explanatory only and do not form part of the Act.

## Part 2 Licences and certificates of registration

#### Division 1 Requirement for licence or certificate of registration

**Clause 6** specifies the kinds of licences and certificates of registration that may be granted under the proposed Act.

**Clause 7** provides that a natural person must not, without a relevant licence, carry on the business of (or advertise, notify or state that the person acts as or carries on the business of or is willing to act as or carry on the business of):

(a) a real estate agent, or

Explanatory note

- (b) a stock and station agent, or
- (c) a business agent, or
- (d) a strata management agent or community managing agent, or
- (e) an on-site residential property manager.

The clause also provides that a natural person is not entitled to bring any proceeding in any court or tribunal to recover any commission, fee, gain or reward for any service performed by the person in that capacity unless the person was the holder of a relevant licence.

**Clause 8** provides that a corporation must not act as or carry on the business of (or advertise, notify or state that the corporation acts as or carries on the business or is willing to act as or carry on the business of) an agent unless the corporation holds a corporation licence.

The clause also provides that a corporation is not entitled to bring any proceeding in any court to recover any commission, fee, gain or reward for any service performed by the corporation as an agent unless the corporation was the holder of a corporation licence at the time of performing the service.

**Clause 9** provides that a person must not do any of the following things unless the person is the holder of a certificate of registration:

- (a) be or remain as a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent, or
- (b) represent that the person is a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent, or
- (c) act as, or exercise any of the functions of, a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent.

**Clause 10** provides that the holder of a certificate of registration must not act as, or exercise any of the functions of, a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent unless the person is employed and supervised by the holder of a licence under the proposed Act.

**Clause 11** provides that a licensee or registered person must, if requested to do so, produce his or her licence or certificate of registration to an authorised person and allow the authorised person to inspect the licence or certificate.

**Clause 12** provides that the holder of a licence or certificate of registration must not let out, hire or lend the licence or certificate to any other person.

Explanatory note

#### Division 2 Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification

**Clause 13** specifies the matters of which the Director-General must be satisfied for a natural person or corporation to be eligible to hold a licence or certificate of registration.

**Clause 14** specifies that the qualifications required for the issue of a licence or certificate of registration are the qualifications approved by the Minister from time to time by order published in the Gazette.

The Minister's power to approve qualifications includes, but is not limited to, the power to approve qualifications by reference to the completion of a course of study, the completion of a period of training in a particular activity, the attainment of a standard of competency in a particular activity and the satisfaction of professional development requirements.

**Clause 15** specifies the grounds on which a person is disqualified from holding a licence or certificate of registration.

**Clause 16** specifies that an *approved policy of professional indemnity insurance* for the purposes of the Act is a policy, or a policy of a kind, that is approved by the Minister for the time being by order published in the Gazette.

#### Division 3 Application and issue procedure

**Clause 17** sets out the procedure for applying for a licence or certificate of registration. An application is to be made to the Director-General in a form approved by the Director-General.

**Clause 18** provides that the Director-General may make the inquiries in relation to an application. If requested by the Director-General, the Commissioner of Police must investigate an application and make a report on the investigation to the Director-General.

**Clause 19** provides that the Director-General must grant or refuse an application and cause notice of the decision to be given to the applicant.

**Clause 20** provides that a licence or certificate of registration may be granted subject to conditions, including any of the following conditions:

- (a) a condition prohibiting a real estate agent or stock and station agent from acting as an auctioneer unless he or she has completed an approved course of study,
- (b) a condition prohibiting the holder of a licence or certificate of registration from exercising certain functions other than as an employee of a licensee,

Explanatory note

(c) a condition requiring the holder of a licence or certificate of registration to undertake or complete specified study, education or training.

**Clause 21** specifies special conditions in respect of an on-site residential property manager's licence or certificate of registration of a trainee on-site residential property manager.

**Clause 22** provides that licences and certificates of registration are to be in the form, and specify the information, determined by the Director-General.

**Clause 23** provides that a licence or certificate of registration has effect for 1 year from the date on which it is granted, or the later date specified.

**Clause 24** specifies the procedure for the reissue or restoration of a licence or certificate of registration.

**Clause 25** provides that a person may apply to the Administrative Decisions Tribunal for a review of a decision by the Director-General to refuse to grant a licence or certificate of registration to the person, or to impose a condition on the person's licence or certificate.

# Part 3 General conduct of licensees and registered persons

#### Division 1 Place and name of business

**Clause 26** provides that a licensee must have a registered office within New South Wales.

**Clause 27** provides that a licensee must display the licensee's name and description as a licensee outside the licensee's registered office and any other place at which the licensee's business is carried on.

**Clause 28** provides that a licensee may carry out business, or advertise or hold out that the licensee carries on business as a licensee, only under the licensee's name (and the name of each other person, if any, with whom the licensee is carrying on business) or another name approved by the Director-General.

Explanatory note

#### Division 2 Business practices and supervision

**Clause 29** provides that an individual who carries on business under a licence at more than one place of business, or a corporation that holds a corporation licence, must employ at each place of business as the person in charge, a person who is the holder of a relevant licence.

**Clause 30** provides that a licensee must properly supervise the business carried on by the licensee. A similar obligation is placed on a licensee employed by another licensee as the person in charge of business at a place.

The requirement to properly supervise the conduct of the business includes a requirement to properly supervise employees engaged in the business, to establish procedures designed to ensure that the provisions of the Act (and any other laws relevant to the conduct of that business) are complied with and to monitor compliance with the procedures.

The Director-General may issue guidelines as to what constitutes proper supervision of the business of a licensee.

**Clause 31** provides that a licensee must not enter into an arrangement with an unlicensed person whereby the unlicensed person is entitled to a share of the commission, fee, gain or reward payable to the licensee in respect of any transaction.

**Clause 32** provides that any agreement between licensees to share any commission, fee, gain or reward must be in writing, signed by the licensees and contain the terms, if any, prescribed by the regulations.

**Clause 33** provides that a licensee who enters into a franchising agreement in connection with the conduct of the licensee's business as a licensee must give notice of the agreement to the Director-General.

**Clause 34** provides that a licensee cannot commence an action or other proceedings for the recovery of remuneration or reimbursement of expenses until 28 days after a statement of claim has been served on the person to be charged with the remuneration or expenses.

A person served with a statement of claim may apply to the Tribunal for the determination of a consumer claim within the meaning of the *Consumer Claims Act 1998*.

**Clause 35** provides that regulations may prescribe rules of conduct to be observed in the course of the carrying on of business under a licence.

Explanatory note

**Clause 36** provides that the Director-General may accept a written undertaking from the holder of a licence of a certificate of registration as to the manner in which the holder will exercise functions under the licence or certificate.

**Clause 37** imposes an obligation of a licensee to notify the Director-General of any failure to account by the licensee.

#### Division 3 Employees

**Clause 38** provides that a licensee is liable, in tort and contract, for anything done or not done, by an employee within the scope of the employee's authority or for the benefit, or purported or intended benefit, of the licensee or the licensee's business.

Clause 39 specifies the records a licensee must keep in respect of employees.

**Clause 40** provides that a licensee must not employ certain specified persons in any capacity in connection with the carrying on of the business conducted by the licensee.

**Clause 41** imposes a duty on a licensee to notify the Director-General within 7 days of becoming aware that a person employed by the licensee has become a disqualified person.

**Clause 42** imposes a duty on an employee of a licensee to notify the licensee within 7 days if the employee becomes a disqualified person.

#### Division 4 Conflicts of interest

**Clause 43** provides that the regulations may make provision for or with respect to requiring a real estate agent who provides financial or investment advice to a person in connection with the sale or purchase of land to provide to the person specified information or warnings.

**Clause 44** provides that a licensee cannot act on behalf of both the buyer and seller of land at the same time.

**Clause 45** provides that a real estate agent who is retained by a client as an agent for the sale of a property, or a real estate salesperson employed by the agent, must not obtain a beneficial interest in the property.

Explanatory note

#### Division 5 Advertisements and representations

**Clause 46** provides that a licensee must not publish an advertisement relating to or in connection with the licensee's business unless the advertisement includes specified information relating to the licensee's name or business name and the licence number.

**Clause 47** provides that a licensee must not publish, or cause to be published, any statement that is intended, or apparently intended, by the licensee to promote the sale or lease of any property if the statement is false, misleading or deceptive.

**Clause 48** provides that a person regulated under the proposed Act who, by any false, misleading or deceptive statement, representation or promise, induces another person to enter into any contract or arrangement is guilty of an offence.

**Clause 49** provides that an agreement for the sale and purchase of land, or any interest in land, cannot operate to prevent the purchaser from claiming or being awarded damages or other relief for fraudulent misrepresentation.

## Part 4 Agency agreements

#### Division 1 Requirements for agency agreements

Clause 50 defines certain terms used in the Division.

**Clause 51** provides that a licensee is not entitled to any commission or expenses from a person for or in connection with services performed by the licensee in the capacity of licensee for or on behalf of the person unless the services were performed pursuant to a written agreement, the agreement complies with any applicable requirements of the regulations and a copy of the agreement was served by the licensee on that person within 48 hours after the agreement was signed.

The regulations may make provision for or with respect to the form, and the terms, conditions and other provisions, of such agreements and may prescribe standard forms for such agreements.

**Clause 52** provides that a real estate agent must not enter into an agreement with a person for the sale of residential property unless the agent has provided the person with a copy of the relevant guide approved by the Director-General.

**Clause 53** provides that a real estate agent is not entitled to any expenses from a person for or in connection with services performed by the agent in the capacity of licensee unless the licensee has disclosed all rebates, discounts or commissions that the licensee will or may receive in respect of those expenses.

Explanatory note

**Clause 54** provides that a licensee must not enter into an agreement with a person in respect of the sale of residential property or rural land if the property or land is or is to be the subject of a sole agency agreement or exclusive agency agreement with another licensee.

## Division 2 Cooling-off period for residential or rural agency agreements

**Clause 55** provides that there is to be a cooling-off period for every agency agreement in respect of the sale of residential property or rural land. The cooling-off period commences when the agency agreement is signed and ends at 5 pm on the next day that is a business day or a Saturday.

**Clause 56** provides that a client can rescind an agency agreement by serving a notice of rescission on the agent during the cooling-off period and sets out the requirement for a notice of rescission to be effective.

Clause 57 provides for the effect of a rescission of an agency agreement.

**Clause 58** provides that a provision of an agreement or arrangement is void to the extent that it would have the effect of excluding, modifying or restricting the operation of the Division.

## Part 5 Residential property and rural land sales

#### Division 1 Contract for sale of residential property

**Clause 59** provides that a real estate agent must not offer residential property for sale unless the required documents are available for inspection at the real estate agent's registered office by a prospective purchaser or a prospective purchaser's agent. The required documents include a copy of the proposed contract for the sale of the property and the documents required by section 52A of the *Conveyancing Act 1919* to be attached to the contract before signature by the purchaser.

**Clause 60** provides that a real estate agent may insert the purchaser's details in a contract for the sale of residential property, insert in or delete from a contract for the sale of residential property any description of furnishings or chattels to be included in the sale or participate in the exchange or making of contracts for the sale of residential property.

**Clause 61** sets out the procedure following the rescission of a contract for the sale of residential property, or an option for the purchase of residential property.

Explanatory note

## Division 2 Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land

**Clause 62** provides that a sale by auction of residential property or rural land must include in the conditions of sale the right by the seller, or by any person acting on behalf of the seller or auctioneer, to make 1 bid. The seller, or any person acting on behalf of the seller or auctioneer, must not make more than 1 bid.

**Clause 63** provides that the auctioneer at a sale by auction of residential property or rural land must not take a bid from a person unless the person's relevant details have been entered in a Bidders Record and the person is identified at the auction by the person displaying an identifying number.

**Clause 64** imposes an obligation on a real estate agent engaged to act in respect of the sale of residential property or rural land by auction to make a record (the *Bidders Record*) of the persons who will be entitled to bid at the auction.

**Clause 65** provides that a real estate agent must not enter a person's name and address in a Bidders Record unless those details are established by proof of identity of the person or, if the person is acting on behalf of another person, a letter of authority to act on behalf of that person specifying that person's name and address.

Clause 66 provides that a Bidders Record is confidential.

**Clause 67** provides that the Director-General may approve a consumer education guide for prospective bidders at an auction of residential or rural land.

## Division 3 Representations as to selling price of residential property

**Clause 68** provides that a real estate agent, or an agent's employee, must not make a false representation to a seller or prospective seller of residential property as to the agent's or employee's true estimate of the selling price of the property.

**Clause 69** creates offences in relation to a real estate agent, or an agent's employee, making false representations to a prospective buyer of residential property, including falsely understating the estimated selling price of the property or indicating the price at which it is thought bidding at an auction of the property will start.

**Clause 70** provides that the Director-General may require a real estate agent to substantiate any estimate of the selling price of residential property made by the agent.

Explanatory note

**Clause 71** provides that the Division extends to an estimated price range in the same way as it applies to estimated price.

Clause 72 provides a definition of *estimate* as used in the Division.

### Part 6 Auctions—general

Clause 73 prohibits the use of collusive practices at auction sales of land or livestock.

**Clause 74** provides that an auctioneer, or an auctioneer's employee, must not knowingly enter in any record kept or required to be kept by the auctioneer as the purchaser of any land or livestock sold by auction any name other than the name of the actual successful bidder of the land or livestock.

**Clause 75** provides that an auctioneer must not knowingly misrepresent, or cause or permit to be misrepresented, the value, composition, structure, character or quality, or the origin of manufacture, of any land or livestock put up for sale at an auction conducted by the auctioneer.

**Clause 76** provides that a sale by auction of livestock may be notified in the conditions of sale to be subject to the right by the seller, or by any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer, to make 1 bid or a specified number of bids.

**Clause 77** provides that any provision in, or applying to, an agreement for the sale of property by auction that purports to exclude or restrict (otherwise that in accordance with the proposed Act or any other Act) the operation of any conditions prescribed as being applicable to or in respect of the sale by auction of that property, or property of that class or description, is void.

**Clause 78** provides that the successful bidder at an auction of land or livestock must supply to the auctioneer, or an employee of the auctioneer, the bidder's name or, if bidding on behalf of another person, the name of the person on whose behalf he or she bid.

**Clause 79** provides that an auctioneer must not, at an auction for the sale of livestock, sell any lot for a price lower than any price bid in relation to the sale of that lot.

Explanatory note

## Part 7 Trust accounts

#### Division 1 Preliminary

Clause 80 defines certain terms used in the Part.

#### Division 2 Payment of trust money into trust account

Clause 81 provides that money received for or on behalf of any person by a licensee:

- (a) is to be held exclusively for that person, and
- (b) is to be paid to the person or disbursed as the person directs, and
- (c) until paid or disbursed is to be kept in a trust account with an authorised deposit-taking institution in New South Wales and approved by the Director-General.

**Clause 82** provides that the Director-General may approve an authorised deposittaking institution for the purposes of the Part.

Clause 83 provides that trust money is not available for the payment of the licensee's debts.

**Clause 84** provides that a licensee must notify the Director-General of certain particulars within 5 days after becoming aware that a trust account of the licensee is overdrawn.

**Clause 85** provides that interest earned on trust accounts is to be paid to the Statutory Interest Account.

## Division 3 Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions

**Clause 86** provides that authorised deposit-taking institutions must notify the Director-General of certain matters with respect to trust accounts kept with the institution, including the number of trust accounts opened with the institution during a month and the names of the licensees who opened the accounts.

**Clause 87** provides that an authorised deposit-taking institution must inform the Director-General of the name and number of any trust account kept with it that has been closed, and the date on which the account was closed.

Explanatory note

**Clause 88** provides that an authorised deposit-taking institution must, within 5 business days of becoming aware that a trust account kept with it under this Part is overdrawn, notify the Director-General.

**Clause 89** provides that an authorised deposit-taking institution must, within 5 days of becoming aware that a cheque presented on a trust account kept with it under this Part has been dishonoured, inform the Director-General.

**Clause 90** provides that, within 14 days of the end of each month, an authorised deposit-taking institution must provide a written report to the Director-General, certified as correct by the institution, containing specified information in relation to trust accounts kept by it under this Part.

**Clause 91** provides that an authorised deposit-taking institution must, on an annual basis, provide to the Director-General a certificate given by a registered company auditor certifying that the institution has complied with the requirements of this Part in relation to trust accounts and the total amount of interest that the institution paid to the Director-General in respect of those trust accounts for payment to the Statutory Interest Account.

**Clause 92** provides an authorised deposit-taking institution with a limited protection from liability in relation to any transaction concerning an account of a licensee kept with the institution or with another financial institution.

#### Division 4 Unclaimed trust money

**Clause 93** provides that a licensee who has held trust account money for more than 2 years must give the Director-General a statement showing particulars of the money held, each person for whom or on whose behalf the money is held and the address of each of those persons last known to the licensee.

**Clause 94** provides that a former licensee, or the personal representative of a deceased licensee, who holds money in a trust account kept under the proposed Act must give the Director-General a statement giving particulars of the money held in the trust account.

**Clause 95** provides a procedure for the Director-General to dispose of unclaimed money held in licensees' trust accounts. If trust money is not claimed, the money is to be paid into the Compensation Fund and then, if still unclaimed, into the Consolidated Fund.

**Clause 96** provides that if an application for the payment to which a person is entitled is made while the money is held in the Compensation Fund or Consolidate Fund, the money must be paid to the person.

Explanatory note

#### Division 5 Information about trust accounts or transactions

**Clause 97** provides that the Director-General may require a licensee to give the Director-General a written statement setting out particulars in relation to the licensee's trust accounts, trust money paid to the licensee or transactions by or with the licensee as licensee.

**Clause 98** provides that a person directly concerned in a transaction by or with a licensee as licensee may ask the licensee to give the person an itemised account of the transaction.

**Clause 99** creates an offence for a licensee who fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with a requirement under this Division.

## Part 8 Records

#### Division 1 Keeping and inspection of records

Clause 100 defines the term licensee's records.

**Clause 101** specifies the records a licensee must make and the requirements for keeping the records.

Clause 102 provides for inspection of a licensee's records by an authorised officer.

**Clause 103** provides for inspection by an authorised officer of the records of an authorised deposit-taking institution with which a licensee has deposited any money in any account, whether the licensee's own account or a general or separate trust account.

**Clause 104** provides an authorised officer with power to require a licensee or another person who has possession, custody or control of licensee's records to produce specified licensee's records.

**Clause 105** provides an authorised officer with power to take possession of a record produced under this Part if the authorised officer considers it necessary to do so for the purpose of obtaining evidence or protecting evidence from destruction.

**Clause 106** imposes additional requirements in relation to the records to be kept by a strata managing agent or community managing agent.

**Clause 107** creates offences in relation to a person delaying or obstructing an authorised officer exercising the officer's functions under this Division or failing to comply with a requirement under this Division.

Explanatory note

#### Division 2 Audit of licensee's records

**Clause 108** requires a licensee, former licensee or the personal representative of a licensee, within 3 months after the end of the audit period, to have records and documents relating to money held during that period in a trust account audited by an auditor. The auditor's report on the audit must be lodged with the Director-General.

**Clause 109** provides that the audit period is the year ending on 30 June, or another period fixed by the Director-General.

**Clause 110** provides that if a licensee did not in an audit period receive or hold money for or on behalf of another person, the licensee must make and lodge with the Director-General a statutory declaration to that effect.

**Clause 111** specifies the obligations of partners in relation to the audit of records and documents of the partnership.

**Clause 112** specifies the qualifications a person must have to act as an auditor for the purposes of this Division.

Clause 113 specifies the duties of an auditor.

#### Division 3 Freezing of accounts

Clause 114 defines certain terms used in this Division.

**Clause 115** provides that the Director-General may give a direction under this Division if it appears to the Director-General that a licensee, the person in charge of a licensee's business at a place or a licensee's employee has, or may have, stolen, misappropriated or misapplied trust money. The Director-General's direction may direct that an amount of trust money be paid to the Director-General, that an amount not be drawn from an account or that an account may be operated only under specified conditions.

**Clause 116** provides that a financial institution given a direction under this Division must not pay a cheque or other instrument drawn on the account concerned unless it is also signed by the Director-General (or a person authorised by the Director-General) or give effect to another transaction on the account that is not authorised because of the direction.

Explanatory note

**Clause 117** provides that after a direction under this Division has been given to the holder of an account, the holder must not (while the direction remains in force) sign a cheque or other instrument drawn on the account unless the cheque or other instrument has been signed by the Director-General, or a person authorised by the Director-General.

**Clause 118** provides that the Director-General (or a person authorised by the Director-General) may operate an account that is the subject of a direction under this Division if the holder of the account refuses to operate the account.

**Clause 119** provides that the Director-General may withdraw a direction under this Division.

## Part 9 Complaints and disciplinary action

**Clause 120** specifies the grounds on which disciplinary action may be taken against a person who is or was the holder of a licence or certificate of registration.

**Clause 121** specifies the disciplinary action that the Director-General may take against a person.

**Clause 122** provides that the Director-General may, at any stage of a matter that is the subject of consideration by the Director-General under this Part, determine to take no further action.

**Clause 123** provides that any person may make a complaint to the Director-General setting out matters that are alleged to constitute grounds for taking disciplinary action against a person. Action may be taken against a person whether or not a complaint has been made.

**Clause 124** provides that the Director-General may serve a show cause notice on a person if the Director-General is of the opinion there is reasonable cause to believe that there are grounds for taking disciplinary action against the person.

**Clause 125** provides that the Director-General may, when a show cause notice is served on a person, suspend the person's licence or certificate of registration pending a determination by the Director-General of whether or not to take disciplinary action. The Director-General may only suspend a licence or certificate of registration if satisfied that the grounds for disciplinary action specified in the show cause notice would, if established, justify the suspension or cancellation of the licence or certificate.

**Clause 126** provides the Director-General with power to conduct inquiries and make investigations in relation to the matters to which a show cause notice relates.

Explanatory note

**Clause 127** provides that if the Director-General is satisfied that there are grounds for taking disciplinary action against a person on whom a show cause notice has been served, the Director-General may take such disciplinary action against the person as the Director-General thinks is warranted.

**Clause 128** provides for the recovery as a debt in a court of competent jurisdiction of a monetary penalty imposed by disciplinary action under the Part.

**Clause 129** provides that a person against whom disciplinary action is taken may apply to the Administrative Decisions Tribunal under the *Administrative Decisions Tribunal Act 1997* for a review of the decision on the disciplinary action or on a review of the disciplinary action.

**Clause 130** provides that the Director-General may authorise publication of a notice warning persons of particular risks involved in dealing with a specified holder of a licence, or a person who does not hold a licence, in connection with the activities of licensees.

**Clause 131** creates an offence for a person who is disqualified under this Part from being involved in the direction, management or conduct of the business of a licensee and who acts contrary to the direction.

**Clause 132** provides that a person who has possession of a licence or certificate of registration that has been suspended or cancelled must give the licence or certificate to an officer of the department within 7 days after the suspension or cancellation takes effect.

### Part 10 Management and receivership

#### Division 1 Preliminary

Clause 133 defines certain terms used in the Part.

Clause 134 specifies what is meant by a reference in this Part to a licensee's associate.

Clause 135 specifies what is meant by a reference in this Part to a *failure to account*.

Explanatory note

#### Division 2 Management

**Clause 136** provides that the Director-General may appoint a manager for a licensee's business in certain circumstances if the Director-General is of the opinion that it is necessary to make the appointment in order to protect the interests of other persons.

**Clause 137** specifies qualifications necessary for a person to be eligible for appointment as the manager of a licensee's business.

**Clause 138** specifies the powers of a person appointed as the manager of a licensee's business.

**Clause 139** provides that the manager of a licensee's business may continue to exercise his or her functions even if a receiver is appointed in respect of the licensee's property.

**Clause 140** provides that an act of the manager of a licensee's business is, for the purposes of any proceedings or transaction that relies on that act, taken to have been done by the licensee.

**Clause 141** provides the Director-General may reimburse a manager for any damages and costs recovered by the manager, or the manager's employee or agent, for anything done or omitted in good faith and in the purported exercise of a function under this Act.

**Clause 142** provides that the expenses of the management of a licensee's business that have not otherwise been paid to the manager out of the receipts of the business are to be paid to the manager by the Director-General. An amount paid under this section is recoverable by the Director-General as a debt owed by the relevant licensee.

**Clause 143** provides that the manager of a licensee's business must report to the Director-General on the management of the business.

**Clause 144** provides that Part 8 (Records) applies to the accounts kept by a manager in the same way as it applies to the accounts kept by a licensee.

**Clause 145** provides that the regulations may make provision with respect to the accounts to be kept by the manager of a licensee's business and the purposes for which money in any such account may be expended.

**Clause 146** provides that when a licensee's business ceases to be under management any money held by the manager in connection with the business becomes the property of the licensee.

Explanatory note

**Clause 147** creates an offence for a person hindering, obstructing or delaying a manager in the exercise of his or her functions.

#### Division 3 Receivership

**Clause 148** provides that the Supreme Court may, on the application of the Director-General, appoint a receiver for all or any of the property of a licensee. An application may be made by the Director-General only in specified circumstances.

**Clause 149** provides that if, on the application of a receiver, the Supreme Court is satisfied that all or any of the property of a licensee's associate should be declared to be receivable property, the Court may appoint the receiver to be receiver of all or any of the property.

**Clause 150** provides that before commencing to hear an application for the appointment of a receiver, the Supreme Court may order from the Court any person who is not necessary to the hearing.

**Clause 151** provides that on the appointment of a receiver the Director-General must cause a copy of the order of appointment to be served on the relevant licensee or relevant associate and any other person on whom the Supreme Court has directed a copy be served.

**Clause 152** provides that the receiver may take possession of receivable property of the relevant licensee or relevant associate.

**Clause 153** provides that a person who has information relating to receivable property, or property that a receiver believes on reasonable grounds to be receivable property, must give the information to the receiver.

**Clause 154** provides that a receiver who believes on reasonable grounds that money held in an account with an authorised deposit-taking institution is receivable property may serve on the institution concerned an order prohibiting operations on the account by any person other than the receiver or a person authorised by the receiver.

**Clause 155** provides that a person must not, with intent to defeat the purposes of this Division, improperly deal with receivable property, or property that is likely to become receivable property, or operate an account at an authorised deposit-taking institution.

**Clause 156** provides that if receivable property has at any time been taken by, or paid or transferred to, a person unlawfully or in breach of trust in certain circumstances the receiver may recover from the person, as a debt, the amount

Explanatory note

taken, paid or transferred, the amount of any inadequate consideration for the taking, payment or transfer, the amount of any debt resulting from the taking, payment or transfer, or the value of the property taken or transferred, as appropriate.

**Clause 157** provides that a certificate given by the receiver, or a person authorised by the Director-General, in relation to certain matters, such as the receipt of property by the licensee or an associate, is admissible in any proceedings taken by a receiver and is evidence of the matters specified in the certificate.

**Clause 158** provides that proceedings taken in the name of the receiver in relation to any property may be so taken as if the receiver were beneficially entitled to the property.

**Clause 159** provides that a receiver may deal with receivable property in any manner in which the relevant licensee or relevant associate could, had the receiver not been appointed, have dealt with it.

Clause 160 specifies other powers of a receiver.

**Clause 161** provides that a receiver may give notice to the relevant licensee or associate, or another person, that any claim the licensee, associate or other person has to receivable property must be submitted to the receiver within 1 month after the giving of the notice, or the longer period stated in the notice. A receiver may disregard a claim made by a person given a notice if the claim is not made in accordance with the notice.

**Clause 162** specifies the procedure to be followed if a licensee claims a lien for costs on receivable property.

**Clause 163** provides that the Supreme Court may, on the application of a receiver, may make such order as it thinks fit for the examination by the receiver of a licensee or other person in relation to receivable property.

**Clause 164** specifies the procedure to be followed in respect of receivable property under the control of a receiver that has not been dealt with in accordance with the proposed Act.

**Clause 165** provides that a receiver may invest receivable property in any manner in which trustees are authorised by the *Trustee Act 1925* to invest trust funds.

**Clause 166** provides that the Director-General may reimburse a receiver for any damages or costs recovered against the receiver, or the receiver's employee or agent, for any act or omission done or omitted in good faith and in the purported exercise of the receiver's functions.

Explanatory note

**Clause 167** provides that the Director-General may pay the expenses of the receivership that have not otherwise been paid to the receiver. An amount paid may be recovered by the Director-General from the relevant licensee as a debt.

**Clause 168** provides that, on the application of the relevant licensee, the Supreme Court may, if satisfied the expenses of the receivership are excessive, order the taking of accounts between the Director-General and the receiver.

**Clause 169** provides that receivable property of a relevant licensee or associate is not liable to be taken in execution of any judgment, order or other process of any court or tribunal.

**Clause 170** provides that a receiver, a licensee or a licensee's associate who holds receivable property, or a person who claims receivable property, may apply to the Supreme Court for directions as to the performance of the receiver's functions. The Supreme Court may give such directions as it thinks fit.

**Clause 171** provides that the Supreme Court may give general directions to a receiver for the exercise of the receiver's functions.

**Clause 172** provides that a receiver must, at such times and in respect of such period as the Supreme Court directs, submit reports on the receivership to the Supreme Court and the Director-General.

Clause 173 provides for the termination of the appointment of a receiver.

**Clause 174** creates an offence for a person hindering, obstructing or delaying a receiver in the exercise of his or her functions.

## Part 11 Compensation Fund

#### Division 1 Establishment and management

**Clause 175** provides for the establishment by the Director-General of a Property Services Compensation Fund.

**Clause 176** provides that certain amounts must be paid into the Compensation Fund.

**Clause 177** specifies the purposes for which money in the Compensation Fund is to be applied.

Explanatory note

#### Division 2 Contributions and levies

**Clause 178** provides that an applicant for a licence must pay a contribution to the Compensation Fund at the time the application is made. The amount of the contribution is the amount prescribed by the regulations.

**Clause 179** provides that if the Director-General is of the opinion that the Compensation Fund is likely to be insufficient to meet the liabilities to which it is subject, the Director-General may, with the approval of the Minister, impose a levy on licensees.

#### Division 3 Claims

Clause 180 defines certain terms used in the Division.

Clause 181 defines what is meant by failure to account.

**Clause 182** specifies that the Division extends to a case where a person entrusts money or other valuable property to another person reasonably believing that the other person is a licensee, or an associate of a licensee, and that the money is entrusted in the course of a licensee's business as a licensee.

**Clause 183** specifies the procedure for making a claim against the Compensation Fund.

**Clause 184** provides that a person cannot, without the Director-General's leave, commence any proceedings in relation to the Compensation Fund unless the person has made a claim and the Director-General has disallowed the person's claim. The clause specifies other matters relevant to legal proceedings against the Compensation Fund.

**Clause 185** specifies the limits on an amount that is recoverable by a person from the Compensation Fund.

**Clause 186** provides that the Director-General may cause to be published a notice relating to a defaulting licensee and fixing a date within which claims against the Compensation Fund must be made.

**Clause 187** provides that on payment out of the Compensation Fund in settlement in whole or in part of a claim, the Crown is subrogated, to the extent of the payment, to all the rights and remedies of the claimant against the licensee, or the former licensee, or any other person.

**Clause 188** provides for the recovery, by the Director-General, from the director of a body corporate of a payment out of the Compensation Fund for the consequence of an act or omission of the body corporate.

Explanatory note

**Clause 189** provides that the Director-General may require the production of documents necessary to support any claim under the Act, or available for that purpose, or for the purpose of exercising functions in respect of a defaulting licensee.

**Clause 190** provides that a claim against the Compensation Fund can only be satisfied to the extent of money in the Compensation Fund.

## Division 4 Examination of accounts of licensees and former licensees

Clause 191 defines certain terms used in the Division.

**Clause 192** provides that the Director-General may appoint an appropriately qualified person as an accounts examiner to examine the accounts kept by the licensee in connection with the licensee's business.

**Clause 193** provides that an accounts examiner is to give the Director-General a confidential report about the accounts concerned, indicating whether there is any irregularity, or alleged or suspected irregularity, in the accounts or another matter that in the examiner's opinion should be further investigated.

Clause 194 sets out the powers of an accounts examiner.

**Clause 195** provides that an accounts examiner must not communicate to any person (other than a partner, employer, employee or assistant) the fact that the examiner has been appointed or any matter that comes to the examiner's knowledge in the course of the examination, other than in preparing or furnishing the report to the Director-General or in other specified circumstances.

Clause 196 extends the operation of this Division to former licensees.

## Part 12 Property Services Statutory Interest Account

**Clause 197** provides that a Property Services Statutory Interest Account is to be established and maintained in the accounting records of the Department.

Clause 198 specifies the money that is payable to the Statutory Interest Account.

**Clause 199** specifies how money in the Statutory Interest Account is to be applied by the Director-General, with the consent of the Minister.

**Clause 200** specifies that certain other amounts are also payable from the Statutory Interest Account.

Explanatory note

## Part 13 Enforcement

Clause 201 defines the term authorised officer.

**Clause 202** specifies the purposes for which an authorised officer may exercise the officer's powers.

**Clause 203** provides a power for an authorised officer to enter and inspect premises that the officer believes on reasonable grounds are used for the carrying on of the business of an agent, whether or not the business is being carried on by the holder of a licence. An authorised officer's powers after entering premises are specified in the clause.

**Clause 204** creates an offence for refusing or failing to comply with a requirement made, or to answer a question asked by, an authorised officer, or wilfully delaying, hindering, or obstructing an authorised officer.

**Clause 205** provides that an authorised officer may take possession of, and retain until the completion of any proceedings, records for the purpose of obtaining evidence or protecting evidence from destruction.

Clause 206 specifies the procedure for an authorised officer to obtain a search warrant for premises.

**Clause 207** provides that the Supreme Court may grant an injunction restraining a threatened or apprehended contravention, or the continuation of a contravention, of a provision of the Act or regulations.

## Part 14 Offences and proceedings

#### Division 1 Offences

**Clause 208** creates offences for a licensee or registered person fraudulently converting money received by the licensee or registered person on behalf of any person in respect of any transaction in the licensee's or registered person's capacity as a licensee or registered person, or money held by the licensee or registered person as a stakeholder or in trust. Offences are also created for fraudulently omitting to account for such money and fraudulently rendering an account of such money.

**Clause 209** creates an offence for a licensee or registered person who fraudulently renders an account of expenses, commission or other charges incidental to any transaction, or proposed or contemplated transaction, as a licensee or registered person knowing the account to be false in any material particular.

Explanatory note

Clause 210 provides that nothing in this Division affects the provisions of the *Crimes Act 1900*.

#### Division 2 Proceedings

**Clause 211** provides that proceedings for an offence against the Act or the regulations may be taken and prosecuted only by the Director-General, or a person acting with the authority of the Director-General.

Such proceedings may be dealt with summarily before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate sitting alone or summarily before the Supreme Court in its summary jurisdiction.

**Clause 212** provides that the regulations may prescribe an offence as a penalty notice offence.

**Clause 213** provides that proceedings for an offence against the Act (other than proceedings that are to be dealt with on indictment) or the regulations may be commenced within 3 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.

Clause 214 makes specific provision in relation to offences by corporations.

### Part 15 Administration

**Clause 215** prohibits a person who obtains information in connection with the administration or execution of the Act from disclosing the information except in specified circumstances.

**Clause 216** requires the Director-General to maintain a Register for the purposes of the Act and specifies the information to be entered and kept in that Register.

**Clause 217** provides that a certificate signed by the Director-General certifying that a person is or is not or was or was not on any date or during any period the holder of a licence of a specified class or the holder of a certificate of registration is prima facie evidence of the matters certified.

**Clause 218** provides that the Director-General may delegate the exercise of any of the Director-General's functions under the Act to any public servant employed in the Department or any person, or class of persons, authorised by regulation.

Explanatory note

## Part 16 Miscellaneous

**Clause 219** provides that the Act does not limit or otherwise affect the exercise of any function under the *Fair Trading Act 1987*.

Clause 220 provides for the service of notices under the Act.

Clause 221 repeals the Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941.

**Clause 222** is a formal provision giving effect to Schedule 1 (Savings and transitional provisions).

**Clause 223** is a formal provision giving effect to Schedule 2 (Consequential amendments).

Clause 224 provides a general regulation-making power.

**Clause 225** provides that the Minister must review the Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives. The review must be undertaken 5 years after the Act commences.

## Schedules

Schedule 1 contains savings and transitional provisions consequent on the enactment of the proposed Act.

Schedule 2 contains consequential amendments to various Acts.

First print



New South Wales

## Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

			Page
Part 1	Preliminary	/	
	3 Definition	encement	2 2 10 12
Part 2	Licences a	nd certificates of registration	
	Division 1	Requirement for licence or certificate of registration	
	7 Agents 8 Corpora	f licences and certificates of registration required to be licensed ations require corporation licence ersons and trainees require certificate of tion	13 13 14 15

				Page
	10 11 12	employe Product	red salespersons and trainees required to be ed and supervised by licensee ion of licence or certificate of registration of licence or certificate of registration prohibited	15 16 16
	Divis	ion 2	Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification	
	14	Qualifica Disquali What co	y for licence or certificate of registration ations for licence or certificate of registration ified persons onstitutes approved policy of professional ty insurance	16 17 18 20
	Divis	ion 3	Application and issue procedure	
	19 20	Conside Determi Conditio		21 22 22 22
	23	manage Issue of Duratior	conditions for on-site residential property ers and trainees licence or certificate of registration a e and restoration of a licence or certificate of	23 23 24
		registrat Review	tion	24 25
Part 3	Gen	eral co	nduct of licensees and registered perso	ns
	Divis	ion 1	Place and name of business	
	26 27 28	Display	red office and address of name at registered office is names	26 26 27
	Divis	ion 2	Business practices and supervision	
	29 30	Duty of supervis	ace of business to be in charge of licensee licensee and person in charge to properly se business	28 29
	31 32 33 34	Subage Franchis	e not to share commission with certain persons ncy agreements to be in writing sing agreements of commission and fees	30 30 31 32

		Page
	<ul> <li>Rules of conduct for licensee's business</li> <li>Undertakings by licensees and registered persons</li> <li>Duty of licensee to notify defalcation</li> </ul>	33 33 33
	Division 3 Employees	
	<ul> <li>Liability of licensee for acts of employees</li> <li>Licensee to keep records of certain employees</li> <li>Duty of licensee not to employ certain persons</li> <li>Duty of licensee to notify disqualification of employee</li> <li>Employees required to notify disqualification</li> </ul>	34 34 35 35
	Division 4 Conflicts of interest	
	<ul> <li>43 Financial and investment advice by real estate agents</li> <li>44 Duty not to act for both buyer and seller of land</li> <li>45 Restrictions on licensee obtaining beneficial interest in property</li> </ul>	35 35 36
	Division 5 Advertisements and representations	
	<ul> <li>46 Advertisements to include information about licensee</li> <li>47 Publishing false or misleading advertisements</li> <li>48 Misrepresentation by licensee or registered person</li> <li>49 Damages for fraudulent misrepresentation</li> </ul>	38 39 40 41
Part 4	Agency agreements	
	Division 1 Requirements for agency agreements	
	50 Definitions	42
	51 No entitlement to commission or expenses without agency agreement	42
	52 Approved guide to be provided before agency agreement for residential property signed	43

- 53 Agency agreement must disclose rebates, discounts and commissions 43
- 54 Prohibition against listing residential or rural land subject to sole or exclusive agency 44

			Page
	Division 2	Cooling-off period for residential or rural agency agreements	
	agreem	agreement can be rescinded during cooling-off	45 45 46 46
Part 5		l property and rural land sales	-
	Division 1	Contract for sale of residential property	
	60 Contrac	ed contract for sale of residential property cts for sale of residential property ure following rescission	47 48 49
	Division 2	Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land	
	auction 63 Bids ma 64 Bidders 65 Details 66 Confide	ay only be taken from registered bidders Record to be established by proof of identity entiality of Bidders Record ed consumer education guide for bidders at	50 50 51 52 52 53
	Division 3	Representations as to selling price of residential property	
	69 False re 70 Require	epresentation to seller or prospective seller epresentation to prospective buyer ement to substantiate selling price	53 53
	71 Divisior	es—residential property n extends to estimates of price range ed meaning of "estimate"	54 54 54
Part 6	Auctions—	general	
		ve practices at auction sales ntry in auction record	55 56

				Page
	<ul><li>75 Misrepresentation as to quality etc</li><li>76 Restrictions on bidding by or on behalf of seller or</li></ul>		57	
	auctioneer of livestock			
	77		ing out of prescribed terms and conditions of	57
	78	auction s	ful bidder at auction to supply information	57 58
			k auctions—"comeback" prohibited	58
Part 7	Trus	st accou	nts	
	Divis	ion 1	Preliminary	
	80	Interpreta	ation	59
	Divis	ion 2	Payment of trust money into trust account	
	81		oney to be paid to trust account	59
			l of authorised deposit-taking institutions	60
			ney not available to pay licensee's debts	60 60
			e to notify trust account becoming overdrawn earned on trust accounts to be paid to Statutory	60
	00	Interest /		61
	Divis	ion 3	Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions	
	86	Institutio	ns to provide Director-General with certain	
		informati	-	62
			of trust accounts	63
			wn trust accounts	63
			ured cheques certification	64 64
	91		ertification by auditor	65
			n of authorised deposit-taking institutions from	
		liability		65
	Divis	ion 4	Unclaimed trust money	
	93		ed trust money held by licensee	66
	94		ed trust money held by former licensee or	
	05		representative	66
	95 96		of unclaimed money in trust accounts ent of unclaimed trust money	67 68
	90	терауш	ent of undalined trust money	00

Contents

Part

				Page
	Divis	ion 5	Information about trust accounts or transactions	
	97 98		-General may require information concerned in transaction may request itemised	69
	99	account Offence		69 70
Part 8	Rec	ords		
	Divis	ion 1	Keeping and inspection of records	
	100	License	e's records	71
	101		e to make and keep certain records	71
	102		on of licensee's records	72
	103		on of records of financial institutions	73
	104		o require production of licensee's records	73
	105		b take possession of records to be used as	74
	106	evidence	e al requirements for managing agents	74 74
	108			74 75
	Divis	ion 2	Audit of licensee's records	
	108	Require	ment for audit	75
	109	Audit pe		76
	110	Statutor	y declaration required when no trust money held	
		or receiv		76
	111		ligations of partners	76
			ations of auditors	77
	113	Duties o	fauditors	77
	Divis	ion 3	Freezing of accounts	
	114	Definitio	ns	78
	115		-General may freeze licensee's accounts in	10
	-	particula		78
	116	Financia	al institution must comply with direction	79
	117		not to be operated unless Director-General allows	80
	118	Director	-General may operate account	80
	119	Withdra	wal of direction	80

			Page
Part 9	Con	plaints and disciplinary action	
	120	Grounds for disciplinary action	81
	121	Disciplinary action	82
	122	Decision to take no further action	83
	123	Complaints	83
		Show cause notice	83
	125	Power to suspend licence or certificate of registration	
		when show cause notice served	84
	126	Inquiries and investigation	84
	127	Taking of disciplinary action	84
	128	Recovery of monetary penalty	85
	129	Review of disciplinary action by ADT	85
	130	Warning notices	85
	131	Failure to comply with disqualification from involvement in	
		business	86
	132	Return of suspended or cancelled licence	86
Part 10	Man	agement and receivership	
	Divis	ion 1 Preliminary	
	133	Definitions	87
	134	Associates of a licensee	88
	135	Failure to account	89
	Divis	ion 2 Management	
	136	Appointment of manager	89
		Qualifications for appointment as manager	90
	138	Powers of manager	90
	139	Management continues under receivership	91
	140	Acts of manager taken to be acts of licensee	91
	141	Manager may be reimbursed for damages	91
	142	Payment of expenses of management	92
	143	Manager to report to Director-General	92
	144	Trust money	92
	145	Office accounts	93
	146	Termination of management	93
	147	Obstruction of managers	93

#### Contents

#### Page **Division 3** Receivership 148 Supreme Court may appoint receiver 93 149 Receivership may extend to property of licensee's associate 94 150 Court to be closed 94 95 151 Order to be served 152 Receiver may take possession of property 95 153 Information about receivable property 96 154 Stop order on account 97 155 Improper dealing with property 97 156 Recovery of compensation for disposal of receivable property 98 157 Receiver may give certificate 99 158 Receiver taken to be beneficially entitled to property 100 159 Receiver may deal with property 100 160 Other powers of receiver 100 161 Notice to claim receivable property 101 162 Lien for costs on receivable property 101 102 163 Examination by receiver 164 Property not dealt with by receiver 102 165 Investment of money by receiver 103 166 Receiver may be reimbursed for damages 103 167 Payment of expenses of receivership 103 168 Supreme Court may review expenses of receivership 104 169 Receivable property not to be attached 104 104 170 Applications for directions by receiver, licensee etc 104 171 Supreme Court may give general directions to receiver 172 Receiver to report to Supreme Court and Director-General 105 173 Termination of appointment of receiver 105 174 Obstruction of receivers 106 Part 11 **Compensation Fund**

#### Division 1 Establishment and management

175 Compensation Fund	107
176 Money payable to Compensation Fund	107
177 Application of money in Compensation Fund	107
Division 2 Contributions and levies	
178 Contributions 179 Levies	108 108

Contents

#### Division 3 Claims

	180	Definitions	109
	181	Meaning of "failure to account"	109
	182	Division applies when person reasonably believed to be a	
		licensee	110
	183	Claims against Compensation Fund	110
	184	Legal proceedings	111
	185	Limits on amounts recoverable	112
		Advertisements	112
	187	Subrogation	113
	188	Recovery of payments from directors	113
		Production of documents	114
	190	Satisfaction of claims and judgments	114
	Divis	ion 4 Examination of accounts of licensees and	
		former licensees	
	191	Definitions	114
	192	Appointment of accounts examiner to examine licensee's	
		accounts	115
	193	Accounts examiner to report on accounts	115
	194	Powers of accounts examiner	115
	195	Confidentiality	116
	196	Former licensees	117
Part 12	Prop	perty Services Statutory Interest Account	
	197	Statutory Interest Account	118
	198	Money payable to Statutory Interest Account	118
	199	Application of money in Statutory Interest Account	118
	200	Application of money for purposes of certain Acts	119
Part 13	Enfe	reement	
Part 13	EUIC	prcement	
	201	Authorised officers	120
	202	Purposes for which powers of authorised officers can be	
		exercised	120
		Powers of entry, inspection etc	120
	-	Obstruction etc of authorised officers	121
	205	Taking possession of records to be used as evidence	122
	206	Search warrants	122
	207	Injunctions	123
Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Contents

5

#### **Division 1** Offences

	208 209	Fraudulent conversion and false accounts of money received by licensee or registered person Fraudulent accounts for expenses, commission and other	124
	210	charges Operation of Crimes Act not affected	125 125
	Divis	ion 2 Proceedings	
	212	Proceedings for offences Penalty notices Time for laying information Offences by corporations	125 126 127 127
Part 15	Adm	ninistration	
	216 217	Disclosure of information Register Certificate evidence Delegation	128 129 130 130
Part 16	Misc	cellaneous	
	221 222 223 224	Service of notices Repeals Savings and transitional provisions Consequential amendments of Acts	131 131 132 132 132 132 133
Schedule	s		

Page

1	Savings and transitional provisions	134
2	Consequential amendments	138



New South Wales

# Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

No , 2001

### A Bill for

An Act to provide for the registration and regulation of property, stock and business agents; to repeal the *Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941*; and for other purposes.

Clause 1	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Part 1 Preliminary

The I	Legisl	ature	of New South Wales enacts:	1
Part	:1 I	Preli	minary	2
1	Nar	ne of	Act	3
		This	Act is the Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001.	4
2	Cor	nmen	cement	5
			Act commences on a day or days to be appointed by lamation.	6 7
3	Def	initior	IS	8
	(1)	In th	is Act:	9
			<i>acy agreement</i> means an agreement pursuant to which a licensee orms or agrees to perform services in the capacity of a licensee.	10 11
		agen	<i>it</i> means:	12
		(a)	a real estate agent, or	13
		(b)	a stock and station agent, or	14
		(c)	a business agent, or	15
		(d)	a strata managing agent, or	16
		(e)	a community managing agent, or	17
		(f)	an on-site residential property manager.	18
		auct	<i>ioneer</i> means any person:	19
		(a)	who, in the course of trade or business and at an auction sale (or a proposed auction sale), acts as an auctioneer or sells for reward (whether monetary or otherwise) any land or any livestock, or	20 21 22 23
		(b)	who sells or offers for sale, or who attempts to sell, any land or any livestock by way of auction.	24 25
		<i>auct</i> Inter	<i>ion</i> means the sale of property by any means (including the rnet) whereby:	26 27
		(a)	the highest, the lowest, or any bidder is the purchaser, or the first person who claims the property submitted for sale at a certain price named by the person acting as auctioneer is the purchaser, or	28 29 30 31

Property.	Stock and	Business	Agents	Bill 2001
i iopoity,	otoon and	Baointooo	, .901.10	Din 2001

Act.

Preliminary

Part 1

(b)	there is a competition for the purchase of the property in any way commonly known and understood to be by auction.	1 2
autho	<i>prised officer</i> has the meaning given in Part 13 (Enforcement).	3
	<i>thess agent</i> means any person (whether or not the person carries on	4
	ther business) who for reward (whether monetary or otherwise)	5
	ises or carries on business as an agent for performing any of the	6
follow	wing functions:	7
(a)	selling, buying or exchanging or otherwise dealing with or disposing of, or	8 9
(b)	negotiating for the sale, purchase or exchange or any other dealing with or disposition of, or	10 11
(c)	compiling for publication or compiling and publishing a	12
	document that contains a list relating solely or substantially to	13
	the acquisition or disposal by any person of,	14
	esses or professional practices or any share or interest in or	15
	erning or the goodwill of or any stocks connected with businesses	16
or pro	ofessional practices.	17
	<i>tess day</i> means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, public ay or bank holiday in New South Wales.	18 19
	<i>tess salesperson</i> means a person (other than the holder of a mess agent's licence) who:	20 21
(a)	for or on behalf of a business agent, induces or attempts to	22
	induce or negotiates with a view to inducing any person to sell,	23
	buy, exchange or otherwise deal with or dispose of:	24
	(i) any business or professional practice, or	25
	(ii) any share or interest in or concerning the goodwill of, or any stocks connected with, any business or professional	26 27
	practice, or	27
(b)	for or on behalf of a business agent and otherwise than at a	29
(0)	place at which that business agent carries on business, collects	30
	instalments of principal or interest payable:	31
	(i) under a bill of sale given in respect of a business or	32
	professional practice, or	33
	(ii) under a contract for the sale on terms of a business or	34
	professional practice.	35
certif	<i>ficate of registration</i> means a certificate of registration under this	36

Clause 3	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 1	Preliminary

*community managing agent* means a person who is engaged or appointed, for monetary or other reward, to exercise functions of an association constituted for a scheme under the *Community Land Development Act 1989* but who is not:

Deve	elopment Act 1989 but who is not:	4
(a)	the proprietor of a lot within the scheme, or	5
(b)	the secretary or treasurer of the association, or	6
(c)	a person authorised by the management statement for the scheme to exercise the functions of the secretary or treasurer of the association, or	7 8 9
(d)	a person who maintains or repairs any property that the association is required to maintain and keep in repair.	10 11
	<i>pensation Fund</i> or <i>Fund</i> means the Property Services pensation Fund established and maintained under this Act.	12 13
-	<i>porations Act</i> means the <i>Corporations Act 2001</i> of the monwealth.	14 15
Depa	artment means the Department of Fair Trading.	16
Dire	ctor-General means the Director-General of the Department.	17
bonu	<i>loyee</i> includes any person employed whether on salary, wages, is, commission, fees, allowance or other remuneration and des a director or member of the governing body of a corporation.	18 19 20
<i>form</i> licen	<i>er licensee</i> means a person who has been but has ceased to be a see.	21 22
indiv	<i>idual</i> means a natural person and does not include a corporation.	23
land	includes:	24
(a)	a lot within the meaning of the <i>Strata Schemes (Freehold Development)</i> Act 1973 or the <i>Community Land Development Act 1989</i> and a leasehold interest in a lot within the meaning of the <i>Strata Schemes (Leasehold Development)</i> Act 1986, and	25 26 27 28
(b)	shares that, under a company title scheme, entitle their holder to the possession of premises.	29 30
licen	ce means a licence under this Act.	31
licen	see means the holder of a licence under this Act.	32
licen	see's records has the meaning given in Part 8 (Records).	33
	<i>tock</i> includes horses, cattle, asses, mules, sheep, swine, camels, s, alpacas, ostriches and emus.	34 35

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 3
Preliminary	Part 1

*money* includes an instrument for the payment of money in any case where the instrument may be paid into a bank or other authorised deposit-taking institution.

*money received for or on behalf of any person* includes money held for or on behalf of any person, whether originally received for or on the person's behalf or not.

*on-site residential property manager* means a person (whether or not the person carries on any other business) who, for reward (whether monetary or otherwise) carries on business:

- (a) as an agent for giving possession of residential premises under a lease, licence or other contract or arrangement, or
- (b) as an agent for collecting bonds, deposits, rents, fees or other charges in connection with any such lease, licence or other contract, or
- (c) as a provider of building management services for residential premises (for example, management of the repair, maintenance and security of the premises).

**Note.** It is a condition of an on-site residential property manager's licence that the licensee may act as an on-site residential property manager only in respect of premises at which the licensee's principal place of residence is situated and only if the licensee owns or has a prescribed interest in that principal place of residence.

*principal place of business* means, in relation to a corporation that carries on business at more than one place, the place of business specified in the application made by the corporation for a licence on its own behalf to be its principal place of business.

*real estate agent* means a person (whether or not the person carries on any other business) who, for reward (whether monetary or otherwise), carries on business as an agent for:

- (a) inducing or attempting to induce or negotiating with a view to inducing any person:
  - (i) to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (ii) to make an offer to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (iii) to accept an offer to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (iv) to enter into a contract for the buying, selling, exchanging, leasing, assigning or other disposal of land, or

Part 1 Preliminary

(b) buying, selling, exchanging, leasing, assigning or otherwise disposing of any land, whether or not an auction is involved, or

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

- (c) collecting rents payable in respect of any lease of land, or
- (d) compiling for publication or compiling and publishing any document that contains a list relating solely or substantially to the acquisition or disposal by any person of land,

but does not include a person who carries on business as such an agent in respect of any parcel of rural land with an area of more than 2.5 hectares.

*real estate salesperson* means a person (other than the holder of a real estate agent's licence) who, as an employee of a real estate agent or a corporation that employs a real estate agent (*the employer*):

- (a) induces or attempts to induce or negotiates with a view to inducing any person:
  - (i) to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (ii) to make an offer to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (iii) to accept an offer to buy, sell, exchange, lease, assign or otherwise dispose of any land, or
  - (iv) to enter into a contract for the buying, selling, exchanging, leasing, assigning or other disposal of land, or
- (b) elsewhere than at a place of business of the employer:
  - (i) collects rent payable in respect of any lease of land, or(ii) collects instalments of principal or interest payable
  - under a mortgage of land or under a contract for the sale on terms of land, or
  - (iii) collects amounts payable to a company by a person whose shares in the company entitle their holder to the possession of premises, or
- (c) for or on behalf of the employer, introduces or arranges for the introduction of prospective buyers, sellers, lessees or licensees of premises to a real estate agent or stock and station agent or to the owner, or to an agent of the owner, of the premises, or

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 3
Preliminary	Part 1

(d)	for or on behalf of the employer, arranges for the erection buildings for any other person,	of 1
	ept where the land concerned is rural land and has an area of mo 2.5 hectares.	ore 2
	stered person means the holder of a certificate of registrati er this Act.	on a
	<i>dential property</i> has the same meaning as in Division 8 of Parte Conveyancing Act 1919.	t 4
for g viticu of an	<b>It land</b> means land that is used or apparently intended to be us gain or profit for grazing of livestock, dairying, poultry farmin culture, orcharding, beekeeping, horticulture, the growing of cro ny kind, vegetable growing or any other purpose declared by t tations to be a rural purpose.	ng, 10 pps 17
	<i>utory Interest Account</i> means the Property Services Statuto rest Account referred to in Part 12.	ory 14
carrie	<i>k and station agent</i> means a person (whether or not the persies on any other business) who, for reward (whether monetary erwise), carries on business as an agent for:	
(a)	doing (where the land concerned consists of rural land) any o or more of the things referred to in paragraph (a)–(d) of t definition of <i>real estate agent</i> , or	
(b)	<ul> <li>inducing or attempting to induce or negotiating with a view inducing any person:</li> <li>(i) to buy, sell or otherwise dispose of any livestock, or</li> <li>(ii) to make an offer to buy, sell or otherwise dispose of a livestock, or</li> <li>(iii) to accept an offer to buy, sell or otherwise dispose any livestock, or</li> <li>(iv) to enter into a contract for the purchase, sale or oth disposal of livestock, or</li> </ul>	22 24 24 25 26 26 27 26 27 28 27 28 28 29 29 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20
(c)	selling, buying or exchanging any livestock, whether or not auction is involved, or	an 31
(d)	providing agistment for livestock or collecting of fees for su agistment.	ich 33 34
of a sand s	<i>k</i> and station salesperson means a person (other than the hold stock and station agent's licence) who, as an employee of a sto station agent or a corporation that employs a stock and stati int ( <i>the employer</i> ):	ock 36

Clause 3	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 1	Preliminary

(a)	does (where the land concerned consists of ru		
	or more of the things referred to in paragrap	ohs (a)–(d) of the	
	definition of <i>real estate salesperson</i> , or		
(b)	induces or attempts to induce or negotiates	s with a view to	
	inducing any person:		
	(i) to buy, sell or otherwise dispose of ar		
	(ii) to make an offer to buy, sell or otherwi	ise dispose of any	
	livestock, or	· 1· C	
	(iii) to accept an offer to buy, sell or othe	erwise dispose of	
	(iv) to enter into a contract for the purch	asa sala ar othar	
	(iv) to enter into a contract for the purch- disposal of livestock, or	ase, sale of other	
	•	1	
(c)	arranges for the provision of agistment for liv		
(d)	elsewhere than at a place of business of the e	employer, collects	
	fees for the agistment of livestock.		
	ta managing agent means a person (whether on		
carrie	es on any other business) who, for reward (whe	ether monetary or	
other	rwise), exercises or performs any function	of an owners	
other corpo	rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i>	of an owners	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	rwise), exercises or performs any function	of an owners	
other corpo	rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> <i>1996</i> , not being: a person who:	of an owners mes Management	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> <i>1996</i> , not being: a person who: (i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the	of an owners <i>nes Management</i> strata scheme for	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being:</li> <li>a person who:</li> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> </ul>	of an owners <i>nes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being:</li> <li>a person who: <ul> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>(ii) is the lessee of a lot to which the</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	of an owners <i>nes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being:</li> <li>a person who: <ul> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>(ii) is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	of an owners <i>nes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being:</li> <li>a person who: <ul> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>(ii) is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe</li> </ul></li></ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>(ii) is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>(iii) is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation, and who exercises or performs only function</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ms of the owners	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation, and who exercises or performs only functio corporation required, by the by-laws in force</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ms of the owners e in respect of the	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> <li>and who exercises or performs only functio corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for which scheme for when the owner for when the owner for the exe of the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the owner for the exe of the owner for the exe of the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the exe of the owner for the exe of the owner for the exe of the owner for the owner for the exe of the exe of the exe of the exe of the owner for the exe of the exe</li></ul>	a of an owners <i>mes Management</i> strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ons of the owners e in respect of the which the owners	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> <li>and who exercises or performs only function corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for victured, to be exercised or</li> </ul>	strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ns of the owners e in respect of the which the owners performed by the	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>(i) is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>(ii) is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>(iii) is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> <li>and who exercises or performs only function corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for v corporation is constituted, to be exercised or secretary or treasurer of that executive components.</li> </ul>	strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ns of the owners e in respect of the which the owners performed by the	
other corpo <i>Act I</i> (a)	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> <li>and who exercises or performs only function corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for secretary or treasurer of that executive com owners corporation, or</li> </ul>	strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ons of the owners e in respect of the which the owners performed by the nmittee or of the	
other corpo <i>Act 1</i>	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation, and who exercises or performs only function corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for vector or secretary or treasurer of that executive corr owners corporation, or</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ns of the owners e in respect of the which the owners performed by the nmittee or of the property for the	
other corpo <i>Act I</i> (a)	<ul> <li>rwise), exercises or performs any function oration within the meaning of the <i>Strata Scher</i> 1996, not being: <ul> <li>a person who:</li> <li>is the proprietor of a lot to which the which the owners corporation is cons</li> <li>is the lessee of a lot to which the scheme for which the owners corporation relates, or</li> <li>is the secretary or treasurer of the exe of the owners corporation,</li> </ul> </li> <li>and who exercises or performs only function corporation required, by the by-laws in force strata scheme or leasehold strata scheme for secretary or treasurer of that executive com owners corporation, or</li> </ul>	strata scheme for tituted relates, or leasehold strata tion is constituted cutive committee ns of the owners e in respect of the which the owners performed by the nmittee or of the property for the	

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 3
Preliminary	Part 1

*trainee community managing agent* means a person (other than a community managing agent holding a strata managing agent's licence) who, as an employee of a community managing agent or a corporation that employs a community managing agent, exercises any of the functions of a community managing agent.

*trainee managing agent* means a trainee strata managing agent, trainee community managing agent or trainee on-site residential property manager.

*trainee on-site residential property manager* means a person (other than the holder of an on-site residential property manager's licence or the holder of a real estate agent's licence) who, as an employee of an on-site residential property manager or a corporation that employs an on-site residential property manager, exercises any of the functions of an on-site residential property manager.

*trainee strata managing agent* means a person (other than the holder of a strata managing agent's licence) who, as an employee of a strata managing agent or a corporation that employs a strata managing agent, exercises any of the functions of a strata managing agent.

*trust account* means a trust account required to be kept under this Act.

- (2) A reference in the definition of *real estate agent* in subsection (1) to the leasing of land includes a reference to the introduction, or arranging for the introduction, of a prospective lessee or licensee of premises to another licensed agent or to the owner, or the agent of the owner, of premises.
- (3) Where a person carries on business:
  - (a) as a business agent and also carries on business as an agent for the collection of instalments of principal or interest payable under bills of sale given in respect of businesses or professional practices or under contracts for the sale on terms of businesses or professional practices, a reference in this Act to any such person acting as, or carrying on the business of, a business agent includes a reference to that person carrying on business as an agent for the collection of those instalments, or
  - (b) as a real estate agent and also carries on:
     (i) business as an agent for the collection of instalments of
    - principal or interest payable under mortgages of land or under contracts for the sale on terms of land, or

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

Clause 3	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 1	Preliminary

- business as an agent for the collection of amounts payable in relation to any premises to a company by a person who is the holder of shares in the company and who, by reason of the person's holding those shares, is entitled to possession of those premises, or
- (iii) the business of arranging for the erection of buildings for or on behalf of other persons,

a reference in this Act to any such person acting as, or carrying on the business of, a real estate agent includes a reference to that person carrying on business as an agent for the collection of those instalments or amounts or to that person carrying on the business of so arranging for the erection of buildings, or

(c) as a stock and station agent and also carries on business as an agent for the collection of instalments of principal or interest payable under mortgages of rural land or under contracts for the sale on terms of any such land, a reference in this Act to any such person acting as, or carrying on the business of a stock and station agent includes a reference to that person carrying on business as an agent for the collection of those instalments.

### 4 Exemptions from Act

- (1) This Act does not require a licence to be held by any of the following:
  - (a) a Minister of the Crown whether a Minister of the State of New South Wales or of the Commonwealth,
  - (b) any Government Department of the State of New South Wales or the Commonwealth (including any statutory corporation representing the Crown),
  - (c) a council within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993,
  - (d) any public statutory authority prescribed by the regulations,
  - (e) any officer or employee of the Crown or of any such Minister, department, corporation, council or authority in the exercise of his or her functions as such officer or employee,
  - (f) the Public Trustee, the Protective Commissioner or any executor, administrator, trustee, liquidator, official receiver, trustee in bankruptcy of a bankrupt's estate, trustee under a composition or scheme of arrangement or under a deed of arrangement or under a deed of assignment, or manager of an

20 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 4
Preliminary	Part 1

	estate appointed under the <i>Protected Estates Act 1983</i> , in the exercise of functions as such,	1 2
(g)	any person for the purposes of any sale made of Crown lands or other Crown property or for the purposes of any sale of any property made by virtue of any writ or process issued out of any Court or made in obedience to any process issued by any Court or judge or justice for the recovery of any fine, penalty or award, or under any rule, order or decree of any competent Court or made pursuant to the <i>Impounding Act 1993</i> ,	3 4 5 6 7 8 9
(h)	a receiver appointed under this Act, in the exercise of the receiver's functions under this Act,	10 11
(i)	the New South Wales Land and Housing Corporation,	12
(j)	the New South Wales Department of Housing,	13
(k)	the Office of Community Housing of the Department of Housing,	14 15
(1)	the Aboriginal Housing Office,	16
(m)	an organisation for the time being registered with the Office of Community Housing, or under Part 5 of the <i>Aboriginal</i> <i>Housing Act 1998</i> ,	17 18 19
(n)	an organisation prescribed by the regulations.	20
practi exerci been	se as a legal practitioner from performing any function, ising any power or carrying out any duty that, had this Act not enacted, the person might lawfully have performed, exercised or	21 22 23 24 25
a bus	siness lawfully without a licence expires 3 months after the	26 27 28
This Act does not apply to a sale by auction made for the purposes of or in the course of a fundraising appeal within the meaning of the <i>Charitable Fundraising Act 1991</i> if the appeal is made, and the proceeds of the sale are applied, in accordance with that Act.		29 30 31 32
hold a	a business agent's licence or a certificate of registration under this	33 34 35
(a)	the person holds a dealers licence under the <i>Corporations Act 2001</i> of the Commonwealth, or	36 37
	<ul> <li>(h)</li> <li>(i)</li> <li>(j)</li> <li>(k)</li> <li>(l)</li> <li>(m)</li> <li>(n)</li> <li>This practice exerct been of carries a bussmana</li> <li>This proceed the carries a bussmana</li> <li< td=""><td><ul> <li>(g) any person for the purposes of any sale made of Crown lands or other Crown property or for the purposes of any sale of any property made by virtue of any writ or process issued out of any Court or made in obedience to any process issued by any Court or judge or justice for the recovery of any fine, penalty or award, or under any rule, order or decree of any competent Court or made pursuant to the <i>Impounding Act 1993</i>,</li> <li>(h) a receiver appointed under this Act, in the exercise of the receiver's functions under this Act,</li> <li>(i) the New South Wales Land and Housing Corporation,</li> <li>(j) the New South Wales Department of Housing,</li> <li>(k) the Office of Community Housing of the Department of Housing,</li> <li>(l) the Aboriginal Housing Office,</li> <li>(m) an organisation for the time being registered with the Office of Community Housing, or under Part 5 of the <i>Aboriginal Housing Act 1998</i>,</li> <li>(n) an organisation prescribed by the regulations.</li> <li>This Act does not prevent any person for the time being entitled to practise as a legal practitioner from performing any function, exercising any power or carrying out any duty that, had this Act not been enacted, the person might lawfully have performed, exercised or carried out as a legal practitioner.</li> <li>An exemption under subsection (1) (f) that allows a person to carry on a business lawfully without a licence expires 3 months after the management of the busines applied, in accordance with that Act.</li> <li>This Act does not require a business agent or a business alesperson to hold a business agent's licence or a certificate of registration under this Act if:</li> <li>(a) the person holds a dealers licence under the <i>Corporations</i></li> </ul></td></li<></ul>	<ul> <li>(g) any person for the purposes of any sale made of Crown lands or other Crown property or for the purposes of any sale of any property made by virtue of any writ or process issued out of any Court or made in obedience to any process issued by any Court or judge or justice for the recovery of any fine, penalty or award, or under any rule, order or decree of any competent Court or made pursuant to the <i>Impounding Act 1993</i>,</li> <li>(h) a receiver appointed under this Act, in the exercise of the receiver's functions under this Act,</li> <li>(i) the New South Wales Land and Housing Corporation,</li> <li>(j) the New South Wales Department of Housing,</li> <li>(k) the Office of Community Housing of the Department of Housing,</li> <li>(l) the Aboriginal Housing Office,</li> <li>(m) an organisation for the time being registered with the Office of Community Housing, or under Part 5 of the <i>Aboriginal Housing Act 1998</i>,</li> <li>(n) an organisation prescribed by the regulations.</li> <li>This Act does not prevent any person for the time being entitled to practise as a legal practitioner from performing any function, exercising any power or carrying out any duty that, had this Act not been enacted, the person might lawfully have performed, exercised or carried out as a legal practitioner.</li> <li>An exemption under subsection (1) (f) that allows a person to carry on a business lawfully without a licence expires 3 months after the management of the busines applied, in accordance with that Act.</li> <li>This Act does not require a business agent or a business alesperson to hold a business agent's licence or a certificate of registration under this Act if:</li> <li>(a) the person holds a dealers licence under the <i>Corporations</i></li> </ul>

Clause 4	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 1	Preliminary

Note	s included in this Act do not form part of this Act.	5
tes		4
	of such a dealers licence.	3
	Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth, from the holder	2
(b)	the person holds a proper authority, within the meaning of the	1

## 5 Not

Notes included in this Act do not form part of this Act.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 6	
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2	
Requirement for licence or certificate of registration	Division 1	

Part 2 Licences and certificates of registration		1		
Division 1			Requirement for licence or certificate of registration	2 3
6	Kind	s of l	licences and certificates of registration	4
			e are the following kinds of licences and certificates of registration r this Act:	5 6
		(a)	real estate agent's licence,	7
		(b)	stock and station agent's licence,	8
		(c)	business agent's licence,	9
		(d)	strata managing agent's licence,	10
		(e)	on-site residential property manager's licence,	11
		(f)	corporation licence,	12
		(g)	certificate of registration as a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent.	13 14 15
7	Ager	nts re	equired to be licensed	16
		adver	atural person must not act as or carry on the business of (or rtise, notify or state that the person acts as or carries on the ness of or is willing to act as or carry on the business of):	17 18 19
		(a)	a real estate agent, unless the person is the holder of a real estate agent's licence, or	20 21
		(b)	a stock and station agent, unless the person is the holder of a stock and station agent's licence, or	22 23
		(c)	a business agent, unless the person is the holder of a business agent's licence, or	24 25
		(d)	a strata managing agent or community managing agent, unless the person is the holder of a strata managing agent's licence, or	26 27
		(e)	an on-site residential property manager, unless the person is the holder of an on-site residential property manager's licence.	28 29
		Maxi	imum penalty: 100 penalty units.	30

Clause 7	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 2	Licences and certificates of registration
Division 1	Requirement for licence or certificate of registration

(2)	A natural person is not entitled to bring any proceeding in any court or tribunal to recover any commission, fee, gain or reward for any service performed by the person:	1 2 3
	(a) as a real estate agent, unless the person was the holder of a real estate agent's licence, or employed the holder of such a licence, at the time of performing the service, or	4 5 6
	(b) as a stock and station agent, unless the person was the holder of a stock and station agent's licence, or employed the holder of such a licence, at the time of performing the service, or	7 8 9
	(c) as a business agent, unless the person was the holder of a business agent's licence, or employed the holder of such a licence, at the time of performing the service, or	10 11 12
	(d) as a strata managing agent or as a community managing agent, unless the person was the holder of a strata managing agent's licence, or employed the holder of such a licence, at the time of performing the service, or	13 14 15 16
	(e) as an on-site residential property manager, unless the person was the holder of an on-site residential property manager's licence or a real estate agent's licence, or employed the holder of such a licence, at the time of performing the service.	17 18 19 20
(3)	This section applies to a natural person whether or not the person is a member of a partnership.	21 22
(4)	The fact that a particular activity is an activity for which more than one class of licence may be appropriate does not require the holding of more than one class of licence so long as at least one of the licences that is appropriate to the activity is held.	23 24 25 26
(5)	For the purposes of this section, a person is not considered to carry on a business merely because the person is engaged in a partnership that carries on that business.	27 28 29
	<b>Note.</b> Subsection (5) makes it clear that "silent" partners are not required to be licensed.	30 31
Cor	porations require corporation licence	32
(1)	A corporation must not act as or carry on the business of (or advertise, notify or state that the corporation acts as or carries on the business of or is willing to act as or carry on the business of) an agent unless the corporation holds a corporation licence.	33 34 35 36
	Maximum penalty: 200 penalty units.	37

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 8	
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2	
Requirement for licence or certificate of registration	Division 1	

- (2) A corporation is not entitled to bring any proceeding in any court to 1 recover any commission, fee, gain or reward for any service performed 2 by the corporation as an agent unless the corporation was the holder of 3 a corporation licence at the time of performing the service. 4 9 Salespersons and trainees require certificate of registration 5 (1) A person must not do any of the following things unless the person is 6 the holder of a certificate of registration: 7 (a) be or remain as a real estate salesperson, stock and station 8 salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent in 9 the employment of a person licensed (or required to be 10 licensed) under this Act, or 11 (b) represent, whether expressly or impliedly, that the person is a 12 real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business 13 salesperson or trainee managing agent in the employment of a 14 person licensed (or required to be licensed) under this Act, or 15 act as or exercise any of the functions of a real estate (c) 16 salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson 17 or trainee managing agent. 18 (2) An employed licensee is not required to hold both a certificate of 19 registration and a licence to allow the licensee lawfully to do anything 20 that, in the absence of this section, the licensee could lawfully do as the 21 holder of the licence. 2.2 Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units. 23 10 Registered salespersons and trainees required to be employed and 24 supervised by licensee 25 (1) The holder of a certificate of registration must not act as or exercise 26 any of the functions of a real estate salesperson, stock and station 27 salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent unless the 28 person does so as an employee of the holder of a licence under this 29 Act. 30 (2) The holder of a certificate of registration must not exercise any of the 31 functions of a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, 32 business salesperson or trainee managing agent unless he or she does 33 so under the supervision of a person who: 34
  - (a) is the licensee in charge of the place of business at which the employee is employed, and

Part 2 Divisio	n 1		Licences and certificates of registration Requirement for licence or certificate of registration	
		(b)	is the holder of a licence that allows the licensee to exercise that function without contravening this Act.	1 2
		Max	imum penalty: 50 penalty units.	3
11	Pro	ductio	on of licence or certificate of registration	4
		whic licen regis	censee or registered person must on request at the premises on h the licensee carries on business or exercises functions as a see or registered person produce his or her licence or certificate of tration to an authorised officer and permit the authorised officer spect the licence or certificate of registration.	5 6 7 8 9
		Max	imum penalty: 20 penalty units.	10
12	Len	ding	of licence or certificate of registration prohibited	11
	(1)	hire or p	holder of a licence or certificate of registration must not let out, or lend the licence or certificate of registration to any other person ermit any other person to use the licence or certificate of tration.	12 13 14 15
		Max	imum penalty: 100 penalty units.	16
	(2)	order conc	urt that convicts a person for an offence under this section is to r the cancellation of the licence or certificate of registration erned. The licence or certificate of registration is cancelled on the ng of the order.	17 18 19 20
Divis	ion 2	2	Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification	21
13	Elig	ibility	for licence or certificate of registration	22
	(1)		atural person is eligible to hold a licence only if the Director- eral is satisfied that:	23 24
		(a)	the person is at least 18 years of age, and	25
		(b)	the person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence and each person with whom the person is in partnership is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, and	26 27 28
		(c)	the person has the qualifications required for the issue of the licence, and	29 30
		(d)	the person is not a disqualified person, and	31

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Clause 10

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 13	
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2	
Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification	Division 2	

	(e)	the person has paid such part of any contribution or levy payable under Part 11 (Compensation Fund) as is due and payable on the granting of the licence, and	1 2 3
	(f)	the person will, for the whole of the period of the licence, be insured under an approved policy of professional indemnity insurance in force with respect to the person or his or her employer, or will as a licensee be exempt under the regulations from the requirement for professional indemnity insurance.	4 5 6 7 8
(2)		rporation is eligible to hold a corporation licence only if the tor-General is satisfied that:	9 10
	(a)	the corporation is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, and	11
	(b)	each director of the corporation is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, and	12 13
	(c)	no director of the corporation or executive officer (within the meaning of the <i>Corporations Act</i> ) is a disqualified person, and	14 15
	(d)	at least one of the directors of the corporation holds a licence that a natural person is required to hold to carry on the business that the corporation carries on or proposes to carry on, and	16 17 18
	(e)	the corporation has paid such part of any contribution or levy payable under Part 11 (Compensation Fund) as is due and payable on the granting of the licence, and	19 20 21
	(f)	the corporation will, for the whole of the period of the licence, be insured under an approved policy of professional indemnity insurance.	22 23 24
(3)		rson is eligible to hold a certificate of registration only if the tor-General is satisfied that the person:	25 26
	(a)	is an individual who is at least 16 years of age, and	27
	(b)	is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, and	28
	(c)	has the qualifications required for the issue of a certificate of registration of the class concerned, and	29 30
	(d)	is not a disqualified person.	31
Qua	alificati	ons for licence or certificate of registration	32
(1)	The q	ualifications required for the issue of a licence or certificate of	33
. /	regist	ration are such qualifications as the Minister may approve from	34 35
	time to time by order published in the Gazette.		

Clause 14	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 2	Licences and certificates of registration
Division 2	Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification

(2)	Minis	but limiting the Minister's power to approve qualifications, the ter may approve qualifications by reference to any one or more combination of any one or more) of the following:	1 2 3
	(a)	the completion of a course of study,	4
	(b)	the completion of a period of training in a particular activity,	5
	(c)	the attainment of a standard of competency in a particular activity,	6 7
	(d)	satisfaction of professional development requirements.	8
(3)	Qualifications may be approved for a limited range of activities specified in the approval, so as to enable a person who has those qualifications to be granted a licence or certificate of registration subject to conditions that limit the person to exercising the functions of licensee or certificate of registration holder in relation to that limited range of activities only.		
(4)	4) A person does not have the qualifications required for the issue of a licence or certificate of registration by way of the reissue of an earlier licence or certificate of registration if the person failed to comply with any condition of the earlier licence or certificate of registration that required the holder to undertake professional development, continuing education or a course of study, unless the Director-General otherwise determines in a particular case.		15 16 17 18 19 20 21
(5)	by wa if it regist month	ssue of a licence or certificate of registration is considered to be by of the reissue of an earlier licence or certificate of registration is of the same kind as the earlier licence or certificate of ration and the application for it is made during or within 12 as after the end of the period for which the earlier licence or cate of registration is in force.	22 23 24 25 26 27
Disc	qualifie	ed persons	28
(1)	-	son is a disqualified person for the purposes of this Act if the	29 30
	(a)	has a conviction in New South Wales or elsewhere for an	31

(a) has a conviction in New South Wales or elsewhere for an offence involving dishonesty that was recorded in the last 10 years, unless the Director-General has determined under subsection (2) that the offence should be ignored, or

(b) has a conviction that was recorded in the last 5 years for an offence under section 12 (Lending of licence or certificate of registration prohibited) of this Act or section 41 (Licensee not

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 15	
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2	
Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification	Division 2	

to lend licence) of the *Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941*, unless the Director-General has determined under subsection (2) that the offence should be ignored, or

- (c) is an undischarged bankrupt or is a director or person concerned in the management of a corporation that is the subject of a winding up order or for which a controller or administrator has been appointed, or
- (d) at any time in the 3 years preceding the application for the licence or certificate of registration was an undischarged bankrupt, applied to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounded with his or her creditors or made an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, unless the Director-General is satisfied that the person took all reasonable steps to avoid bankruptcy, or
- (e) at any time in the 3 years preceding the application for the licence or certificate of registration was concerned in the management of a corporation when the corporation was the subject of a winding up order or when a controller or administrator was appointed, unless the Director-General is satisfied that the person took all reasonable steps to avoid the liquidation or administration, or
- (f) is a mentally incapacitated person, or
- (g) is disqualified from holding a licence, certificate of registration or other authority under a corresponding law or under the *Fair Trading Act 1987* or is the holder of such a licence, certificate of registration or other authority that is suspended, or
- (h) is in partnership with a person who is a disqualified person, or
- (i) is for the time being declared to be a disqualified person under Part 9 (Complaints and disciplinary action), or
- (j) is a corporation that is the subject of a winding up order or for which a controller or administrator has been appointed, or
- (k) has failed to pay a contribution or levy payable by the person under Part 11 (Compensation Fund) and the failure continues, or
- has failed to pay any monetary penalty payable by the person under Part 9 (Complaints and disciplinary action) or has failed to comply with a direction given by the Director-General under that Part, and the failure continues, or

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

Clause 15	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 2	Licences and certificates of registration
Division 2	Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification

	(m)	has failed to provide the Director-General with an auditor's report that the person is required to provide under this Act on the audit of the records and documents relating to any money held in a trust account kept by the person under this Act, or	1 2 3 4
	(n)	is in breach of any provision of this Act or the regulations that is prescribed by the regulations as a disqualifying breach.	5 6
(2)	person the tir	Pirector-General may determine that an offence committed by a a should be ignored for the purposes of this section because of ne that has passed since the offence was committed or because triviality of the acts or omissions giving rise to the offence.	7 8 9 10
(3)	In this	section:	11
	is decl	<i>ponding law</i> means a law of another Australian jurisdiction that lared by the Minister from time to time by order published in the te to be a law that corresponds to this Act.	12 13 14
Wha	at cons	titutes approved policy of professional indemnity insurance	15
(1)	indem	ne purposes of this Act, an <i>approved policy of professional</i> <i>inity insurance</i> is a policy, or a policy of a kind, that is approved Minister for the time being by order published in the Gazette.	16 17 18
(2)		der may provide that a policy is an approved policy if the policy lies with either or both of the following:	19 20
	(a)	the policy complies with the conditions set out in the order,	21
	(b)	the policy is described in the order by reference to the insurer and the number of the policy or is identified in the order by other specified particulars.	22 23 24
(3)	) If an order requires an approved policy to comply with conditions set out in the order a policy ceases to be an approved policy if it ceases to comply with those conditions.		25 26 27
(4)	An or	der may:	28
	(a)	apply generally or be limited in its application by reference to specified exceptions or factors, or	29 30
	(b)	apply differently according to different factors of a specified kind.	31 32
(5)	later d	der takes effect on the day it is published in the Gazette or on a late specified in the order. An order may contain provisions of a gs or transitional nature consequent on the making of the order.	33 34 35

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 16	
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2	
Eligibility, qualifications and disqualification	Division 2	

	(6)	) If an order takes effect during the term of a licence, any policy in force in respect of the licensee immediately before the order takes effect that is at that time an approved policy of professional indemnity insurance:		1 2 3
		(a)	is taken to continue to be an approved policy of professional indemnity insurance in relation to the licensee until the expiry of the term of the licence, and	4 5 6
		(b)	is subject to the same conditions to which it was subject immediately before the order took effect.	7 8
	(7)		ection (6) is subject to any express provision to the contrary ined in the order.	9 10
Divis	ion (	3	Application and issue procedure	11
17	Арр	olicatio	on for licence or certificate of registration	12
	(1)		pplication for a licence or certificate of registration is to be made Director-General in a form approved by the Director-General.	13 14
	(2)	The a	application is to be accompanied by:	15
		(a)	an application fee of an amount prescribed by the regulations, and	16 17
		(b)	in the case of an application for a licence, the contribution to the Compensation Fund required to accompany the application, and	18 19 20
		(c)	such information and evidence as the Director-General may request for the purposes of determining the application.	21 22
	(3)		Director-General may require further information and evidence to ven in connection with an application.	23 24
	(4)		Director-General may require the application, and any such mation or evidence, to be verified by statutory declaration.	25 26
	(5)		pplication is not duly made until any requirement under this on is complied with.	27 28
	(6)	regist	erson who in an application for a licence or certificate of ration provides information that is false or misleading in a rial particular is guilty of an offence.	29 30 31
		Maxi	mum penalty: 50 penalty units.	32

Clause 18	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 2	Licences and certificates of registration
Division 3	Application and issue procedure

### 18 Consideration of applications

(1)	The Director-General may make such inquiries as the Director-General
	considers necessary in relation to an application.

1 2 3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

(2) The Commissioner of Police must, if the Director-General so requests, investigate an application and must, as soon as practicable after completing the investigation, make a report on the investigation to the Director-General.

### 19 Determination of applications

- (1) After considering an application, the Director-General is to determine the application by either granting or refusing the application.
- (2) The application must not be granted unless the applicant is eligible to be granted the licence or certificate of registration concerned (as provided by section 13).
- (3) The Director-General must cause notice of the Director-General's decision on an application (including reasons for the decision if the decision is to refuse the application) to be given to the applicant.
- (4) For the purposes only of any appeal proceedings arising in connection with an application, the Director-General is taken to have refused the application if the Director-General has not determined the application within 8 weeks after the application was duly made.

### 20 Conditions

A licence or certificate of registration may be granted subject to conditions, including (but not limited to) conditions of the following kind:

- (a) a condition prohibiting the holder of a real estate agent's licence or stock and station agent's licence from acting as an auctioneer unless the licensee is accredited by the Director-General as having satisfactorily completed a course of training approved by the Director-General in connection with the conduct of auctions and the functions of auctioneers,
- (b) a condition prohibiting the holder from exercising functions under the licence or certificate of registration otherwise than as an employee of a licensee whose licence does not contain such a condition,
- (c) a condition requiring the holder to undertake or complete a specified course of studies within a specified period of time,

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 20
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2
Application and issue procedure	Division 3

(d) a condition requiring a licensee or holder of a certificate of registration to undertake by way of professional development specified further education or training during the term of the licence or certificate of registration,
(e) a condition prohibiting the holder from exercising functions under the authority of the licence or certificate of registration in relation to specified activities, or prohibiting the holder from exercising functions under the authority of the licence or certificate of registration activities.

**Note.** An example of a condition under paragraph (e) is a condition that the holder of a real estate agent's licence act only as a buyer's agent.

# 21 Special conditions for on-site residential property managers and trainees

- (1) An on-site residential property manager's licence is subject to the condition that the licensee must not carry on business as an on-site residential property manager in respect of premises unless:
  - (a) the licensee's principal place of residence is situated at those premises, and
  - (b) the person owns, or has an interest prescribed by the regulations in, that principal place of residence.

**Note.** This condition prevents a person from being an on-site residential property manager for more than one residential complex. To do that, a person must hold a real estate agent's licence.

(2) The certificate of registration of a trainee on-site residential property manager is subject to a condition that the person must not act as or exercise any of the functions of a trainee on-site residential property manager except in respect of premises in which are situated the principal place of residence of the licensee who employs the person.

### 22 Issue of licence or certificate of registration

- (1) Licences and certificates of registration are issued by the Director-General and are to be in such form and specify such information as the Director-General determines.
- (2) The Director-General may determine that a licence or certificate of registration is to display a photograph of the holder and for that purpose may require an applicant to provide a photograph or to permit his or her photograph to be taken.

Page 23

Clause 22	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 2	Licences and certificates of registration
Division 3	Application and issue procedure

(3) A licence or certificate of registration may be issued to replace one that the Director-General is satisfied has been lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed. The Director-General may require payment of a fee prescribed by the regulations for the issue of a replacement licence or certificate of registration.

### 23 Duration

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

1

2

3

4

5

- (1) A licence or certificate of registration takes effect on the date on which it is granted or on such later date as may be specified in it and (unless it is sooner suspended or cancelled) remains in force for 1 year.
- (2) If an application for a licence or certificate of registration is by way of the reissue of an existing licence or certificate of registration, the existing licence or certificate of registration remains in force until the application is determined (even if as a result the existing licence or certificate of registration is in force for more than 1 year).
- (3) The holder of a licence or certificate of registration may at any time surrender it by notice in writing to the Director-General and the licence is thereby cancelled.

### 24 Reissue and restoration of a licence or certificate of registration

- (1) Application may be made for the reissue of a licence or certificate of registration during the current term of the licence or certificate of registration.
- (2) An application for the *reissue* of a licence or certificate of registration constitutes an application for a new licence or certificate of registration that is the same as the current licence or certificate of registration, with the new licence to take effect on the expiry of the current licence or certificate of registration.
- (3) If a licence or certificate of registration expires without an application having been made for its reissue, an application may be made for the restoration of the expired licence or certificate or registration but such an application can only be made within 3 months after the expiry of the licence or certificate of registration.
- (4) The regulations may prescribe a fee as a late application fee to accompany an application for restoration of an expired licence or certificate of registration (in addition to any other fee required to accompany an application for a licence or certificate of registration).

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 24
Licences and certificates of registration	Part 2
Application and issue procedure	Division 3

(5) An application for the restoration of an expired licence or certificate of 1 registration constitutes an application for a new licence or certificate 2 of registration that is the same as the expired licence or certificate of 3 registration, with the new licence to be back-dated to take effect on the 4 expiry of the expired licence or certificate of registration. 5 Note. In all other respects applications for reissue or restoration are subject to the 6 same requirements as apply to and in respect of ordinary applications for a licence 7 8 or certificate of registration. (6) If an application for the restoration of an expired licence or certificate 9 of registration is duly made: 10 anything done by the holder of the expired licence or certificate (a) 11 of registration between its expiry and the determination of the 12 application for restoration (whether the application is granted or 13 refused) is taken to have been done as the holder of a licence or 14 certificate of registration, except for the purposes of 15 sections 7–9, and 16 if the application is granted, the restored licence or certificate of (b) 17 registration is taken to have had effect from the expiry of the 18 expired licence or certificate of registration (and is to be 19 expressed to take effect accordingly). 20 25 **Review by ADT** 21 A person may apply to the Administrative Decisions Tribunal for a 22 review of any of the following decisions of the Director-General: 23 a decision refusing to grant a licence or certificate of (a) 24 registration to the person (including such a decision pursuant to 25 an application for the reissue or restoration of a licence or 26 certificate of registration), 27 (b) a decision of the Director-General to impose a condition on a 28 licence or certificate of registration of the person. 29

Clause 26	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 1	Place and name of business

#### Part 3 General conduct of licensees and registered 1 persons 2 **Division 1** Place and name of business 3 26 **Registered office and address** 4 (1) A licensee must have a registered office within New South Wales. 5 (2) The address specified in an application for a licence as the address at 6 which the applicant proposes to carry on business (or, in the case of a 7 corporation carrying on business at more than one place, the address 8 specified in the application as its principal place of business) is taken 9 to be the registered office of the licensee. 10 (3) Notice of any change in the location of the registered office must be 11 lodged by the licensee with the Director-General within the time 12 prescribed by the regulations. 13 (4) Within the period prescribed by the regulations after a person 14 commences employment as, or ceases to be employed as, the person 15 in charge of a place of business of a corporation, the corporation must 16 lodge with the Director-General: 17 a notice specifying the name and address of, and the classes of (a) 18 licence held by, the person so commencing to be employed, or 19 a notice specifying the day upon which that person ceases to be (b) 20 so employed. 21 Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units. 22 Display of name at registered office 27 23 (1) A licensee must display the licensee's name and description as a 24 licensee legibly and conspicuously: 25 outside the licensee's registered office, and (a) 26

outside any other place at which the licensee's business as a (b) 27 licensee is carried on, in a conspicuous position, in letters easily 28 legible and conforming to the type and size of type prescribed.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 27
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Place and name of business	Division 1

- (2) In addition, a licensee that is a corporation must display legibly and conspicuously:
  - (a) outside the corporation's registered office, the name of the person in charge of the corporation's registered office, and
  - (b) outside any other place at which the business of the corporation is carried on, the name of the person in charge at that place.
- (3) A person must not display or exhibit outside or near the person's office, house or place of business any sign or other matter that indicates or implies that the office, house or place of business is that of a person licensed as a kind of agent under this Act unless the person is licensed as an agent of that kind.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

28 Business names

- (1) A licensee must not, either alone or together with other persons, carry on business as a licensee under a name or advertise or hold out that the licensee carries on business as a licensee under a name unless:
  - (a) the name consists of the name of the licensee and the name of each other person, if any, with whom the licensee is carrying on, or advertising or holding out that the licensee is carrying on, business as a licensee, or
  - (b) the Director-General has approved of the licensee carrying on, or advertising or holding out that the licensee carries on, that business as a licensee under that name.
- (2) The name of a licensee (other than a corporation) consists of the licensee's full name, or the licensee's surname (or family name) together with:
  - (a) the licensee's other name or names, or
  - (b) the initial or initials of the licensee's other name or names, or
  - (c) a combination of one or more of the licensee's other name or names and the initial or initials of the licensee's remaining other name or names, or
  - (d) the other name or names by which the licensee is commonly known or the initial or initials by which the licensee is commonly known or any combination of one or more of those names or initials.

Clause 28	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 1	Place and name of business

- (3) The name of a licensee that is a corporation consists of the corporate name of the corporation.
  (4) The Director-General may refuse to approve of a licensee carrying on, or advertising or holding out that the licensee carries on, business as a licensee under a name if:

  (a) the name is the same as, or is a name closely resembling, the name under which a person whose licence has been cancelled under or in pursuance of this Act was carrying on business immediately before the person's licence was cancelled, or
  - (b) the name implies or is capable of being construed as implying that the licensee is the successor in the business, or in any way interested or concerned in continuing the business as a licensee, of a person whose licence has been cancelled under or in pursuance of this Act, or
  - (c) the name is, in the opinion of the Director-General and in the circumstances of any particular case, undesirable as being contrary to the public interest.
- (5) This section does not affect the *Business Names Act 1962*.

2.2

## Division 2 Business practices and supervision

29 Each place of business to be in charge of licensee

- (1) An individual who carries on business under a licence at more than one place of business must employ at each of those places of business (except the place at which the licensee is personally in charge) as the person in charge of business at that place a person who is the holder of a licence that an individual is required to hold to carry on that business.
- (2) A corporation that holds a corporation licence must employ as the person in charge at each place of business at which the corporation carries on business under the licence a person who is the holder of a licence that an individual is required to hold to carry on that business.
- (3) A licensee must not employ a person to be the person in charge of business at a place of business of the licensee if the person is also employed to be the person in charge of business at another place of business of the licensee or at a place of business of another licensee.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 29
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Business practices and supervision	Division 2

	(4)	business of a licensee must	berson in charge of business at a place of not exercise functions or provide services sees at that place (whether corporations or ensees are in partnership.	1 2 3 4
	(5)	provision of this section unconditionally or subject to	grant a person an exemption from a n. The exemption may be granted o conditions. The Director-General may at g to a person granted an exemption revoke onditions of the exemption.	5 6 7 8 9
	(6)		the matters to be taken into account by the dering whether to grant a person an of this section.	10 11 12
		Maximum penalty:		13
		(a) 200 penalty units in	the case of a corporation, or	14
		(b) 100 penalty units in	any other case.	15
30	Duty	of licensee and person in	charge to properly supervise business	16
	(1)	A licensee must properly s licensee.	supervise the business carried on by the	17 18
	(2)	the person in charge of busin	other licensee ( <i>the principal licensee</i> ) as ness at a place of business of the principal rvise the business of the principal licensee	19 20 21 22
	(3)	The requirement to proper includes the following requi	rly supervise the conduct of business rements:	23 24
		(a) a requirement to propusiness, and	perly supervise employees engaged in the	25 26
		the provisions of thi	ablish procedures designed to ensure that s Act and any other laws relevant to the less are complied with, and	27 28 29
		(c) a requirement to more	nitor the conduct of business in a manner r as practicable that those procedures are	30 31 32

Clause 30	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 2	Business practices and supervision

	(4)	licens busine	Director-General may from time to time issue and notify to ees guidelines as to what constitutes the proper supervision of the ess of a licensee. A failure to comply with the requirements of	1 2 3
			ich guidelines in connection with the supervision of a business	4
			tutes a failure to properly supervise the business.	5
		Maxi	mum penalty:	6
		(a)	200 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or	7
		(b)	100 penalty units in any other case.	8
31	Lice	ensee i	not to share commission with certain persons	9
	(1)		ensee must not enter into an arrangement with or act in	10
			nction with a person that the licensee knows to be an unlicensed	11
			n (other than an employee in the licensee's business as a licensee)	12
			by the unlicensed person is entitled to a share of the commission,	13
			ain or reward payable to the licensee in respect of any transaction	14
		by or	with him or her as a licensee or generally.	15
	(2)	In this	s section:	16
		unlice	ensed person means a person who is not licensed under this Act	17
		or a c	orresponding Act.	18
		Maxi	mum penalty:	19
		(a)	100 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or	20
		(b)	50 penalty units in any other case.	21
32	Sub	agenc	y agreements to be in writing	22
	(1)	An ag	reement between licensees to share any commission, fee, gain or	23
	(-)		d paid or payable to a licensee in respect of any services	24
			med by him or her as a licensee is unenforceable unless the	25
		agree	ment is in writing, is signed by the licensees and contains such	26
		terms	(if any) as may be prescribed by the regulations.	27
	(2)	Any p	provision in, or applying to, such an agreement and purporting to	28
		exclu	de or restrict the operation of the terms (if any) required to be	29
		contai	ined in that agreement has no force or effect.	30
	(3)	A lice	nsee who enters into an agreement that is unenforceable because	31
			s section is guilty of an offence.	32
		Maxi	mum penalty: 50 penalty units.	33

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 32
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Business practices and supervision	Division 2

	(4)	This section does not apply to:	1	
		(a) an agreement between licensees who are in partnership with one another or in the relationship of employer and employee with one another, or	2 3 4	
		(b) an agreement, transaction, circumstance or person prescribed by the regulations as exempt from this section or an agreement, transaction, circumstance or person of a class or description prescribed by the regulations as exempt from this section.	5 6 7 8	
33	Franchising agreements			
	(1)	A licensee who enters into a franchising agreement in connection with the conduct of the licensee's business as licensee must give notice of the agreement to the Director-General. The notice must be in the form approved by the Director-General and must be given within 30 days after the agreement is entered into.	10 11 12 13 14	
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	15	
	(2)	The franchisor under a franchising agreement must notify the Director- General in writing within 7 days after becoming aware of any failure to account by a licensee who is a party to the franchising agreement.	16 17 18	
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	19	
	(3)	The regulations may make provision for or with respect to requiring a party to a franchising agreement to provide specified information to the Director-General in respect of the franchising agreement and activities or other matters connected with the franchising agreement, including (but not limited to):	20 21 22 23 24	
		(a) the occurrence of any event that entitles the franchisor to terminate the franchise agreement, and	25 26	
		(b) the occurrence of any event that results in the franchisee being unable to meet the franchisee's obligations under the franchising agreement as and when they fall due.	27 28 29	
	(4)	In this section:	30	
		<i>franchising agreement</i> means an agreement whereby a licensee is authorised to carry on business under any name in consideration of any other person entitled to carry on business under that name receiving any consideration whether by way of a share in the profits of the licensee's business or otherwise.	31 32 33 34 35	

Clause 33	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 2	Business practices and supervision

*failure to account* has the same meaning as in Part 10 (Management and receivership).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

### 34 Review of commission and fees

- (1) An action or other proceedings cannot be commenced by a licensee for the recovery of remuneration or any sum as reimbursement for expenses until the expiration of 28 days after a statement of claim has been served personally or by post on the person to be charged with the remuneration or expenses.
- (2) The statement of claim must be in writing, set out the amount claimed and contain details of the services performed by the licensee in respect of which the remuneration or expenses are claimed
- (3) If money has been paid to or is or has been retained by a licensee (out of money received by or paid to the licensee) in respect of any transaction by or with the licensee as a licensee and has been so paid or retained as remuneration or as reimbursement for expenses in connection with the transaction, the person paying the money or the person who would be entitled to the money had the money not been retained, may require the licensee to furnish the person with an itemised account of the transaction in accordance with the regulations.
- (4) A person who is served with a statement of claim under this section or is provided with an itemised account of a transaction as provided by this section may apply to the Tribunal for the determination of a consumer claim within the meaning of *Consumer Claims Act 1998* in relation to:
  - (a) the entitlement of the licensee to the whole or any part of the amount specified in the statement of claim or the itemised account, or
  - (b) whether the whole or any part of the amount is reasonable,

or both.

- (5) For the purpose of the application of the *Consumer Claims Act 1998* to that person, a reference in that Act to a *consumer* is taken to include a reference to that person.
- (6) The Tribunal has jurisdiction to hear and determine any such consumer claim despite:
  - (a) the terms or conditions of any agreement or contract entered into between the licensee and the applicant, and

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 34
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Business practices and supervision	Division 2

	(b) the amount being more or less than the maximum amount (if any) of remuneration to which a licensee is entitled under this Act.	1 2 3
(7)	The regulations may make provision for or with respect to requiring the inclusion, in the manner prescribed by the regulations, in a statement of claim or itemised account for the purposes of this section, of a notice, in a form approved by the Director-General, containing advice concerning remedies available under the <i>Consumer Claims</i> <i>Act 1998</i> .	4 5 6 7 8 9
(8)	This section does not limit the Consumer Claims Act 1998.	10
(9)	In this section:	11
	<i>expenses</i> means expenses or charges incurred in connection with services performed by a licensee in his or her capacity as a licensee.	12 13
	<i>remuneration</i> means remuneration by way of commission, fee, gain or reward for services performed by a licensee in his or her capacity as a licensee.	14 15 16
	Tribunal means the Tribunal under the Consumer Claims Act 1998.	17
Rul	es of conduct for licensee's business	18
	The regulations may prescribe rules of conduct to be observed in the course of the carrying on of business under a licence.	19 20
	<b>Note.</b> Part 9 (Complaints disciplinary action) provides that a contravention of a provision of the regulations is grounds for taking disciplinary action against a person.	21 22 23
Uno	dertakings by licensees and registered persons	24
	The Director-General may accept a written undertaking from the holder of a licence or certificate of registration as to the manner in which the holder will exercise functions under the licence or certificate of registration.	25 26 27 28
	<b>Note.</b> Part 9 provides that a breach of such an undertaking is grounds for taking disciplinary action against a person.	29 30
Dut	y of licensee to notify defalcation	31
(1)	A licensee must notify the Director-General as soon as practicable after becoming aware of any failure to account by the licensee.	32 33
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	34

Clause 37	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 2	Business practices and supervision

(2) In this section:
 *failure to account* has the same meaning as in Part 10 (Management and receivership).

# Division 3 Employees

38	Liat	pility of licensee for acts of employees	5
		A licensee who employs a person at any place of business of the licensee is responsible, in tort and in contract, for anything done or not done by the person:	6 7 8
		(a) within the scope of the employee's authority, or	9
		(b) for the benefit, or the purported or intended benefit, of the licensee or the licensee's business.	10 11
39	Lice	ensee to keep records of certain employees	12
	(1)	A licensee must make and keep a record of the name and residential address of each employee that the licensee employs as a real estate salesperson, stock and station salesperson, business salesperson or trainee managing agent.	13 14 15 16
	(2)	The licensee must keep the record for at least 3 years after the person ceases to be an employee.	17 18
	(3)	The licensee must keep the record in the form of a register of employees and that register must be kept at the place of business of the licensee at which the employee is employed.	19 20 21
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	22
40	Dut	y of licensee not to employ certain persons	23
	(1)	A licensee must not employ a person in any capacity in connection with the carrying on of the business conducted by the licensee if the person:	24 25 26
		(a) is a disqualified person, or	27
		(b) has had his or her licence or certificate of registration suspended or cancelled under this Act (unless the person currently holds a licence), or	28 29 30

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 40
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Employees	Division 3

		(c) has had an application for a licence or certificate of registration refused on the ground that the person was not a fit and proper person to hold a licence or certificate of registration (unless the person currently holds a licence).	1 2 3 4
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	5
	(2)	It is a defence to a prosecution for an offence under this section if the licensee establishes that the licensee did not know, and could not reasonably be expected to have known after diligent inquiry, that the person was a person whose employment by the licensee was prohibited by this section.	6 7 8 9 10
41	Dut	y of licensee to notify disqualification of employee	11
		A licensee must notify the Director-General in writing within 7 days after becoming aware that a person employed by the licensee has become a disqualified person.	12 13 14
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	15
42	Em	ployees required to notify disqualification	16
		A person employed by a licensee must notify the licensee within 7 days after the person becomes a disqualified person.	17 18
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	19
Divis	ion 4	Conflicts of interest	20
43	Fina	incial and investment advice by real estate agents	21
	(1)	The regulations may make provision for or with respect to requiring a real estate agent who provides financial or investment advice to a person in connection with the sale or purchase of land to provide to the person specified information or warnings.	22 23 24 25
	(2)	A real estate agent who fails to comply with a requirement of the regulations under this section is guilty of an offence.	26 27
		Maximum penalty: 200 penalty units.	28
44	Dut	y not to act for both buyer and seller of land	29
	(1)	A licensee must not act in his or her capacity as licensee on behalf of both the buyer and the seller of land at the same time.	30 31
Clause 44	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001		
------------	---		
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons		
Division 4	Conflicts of interest		

	(2)	purch under her ca	ensee must not enter into agency agreements in respect of the base or sale of land if the performance of services by the licensee of the agreements will or can result in the licensee acting in his or apacity as licensee on behalf of both the buyer and the seller of and at the same time.	1 2 3 4 5
		Maxi	mum penalty:	6
		(a)	200 penalty units in the case of a body corporate, or	7
		(b)	100 penalty units in any other case.	8
45	Res	trictio	ns on licensee obtaining beneficial interest in property	9
	(1)	an ag	I estate agent who has been retained by a person ( <i>the client</i> ) as gent for the sale of property must not obtain or be in any way erned in obtaining a beneficial interest in the property.	10 11 12
		Maxi both.	mum penalty: 200 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or	13 14
	(2)	obtaiı	I estate salesperson employed by the real estate agent must not n or be in any way concerned in obtaining a beneficial interest in coperty.	15 16 17
		Maxi both.	mum penalty: 200 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or	18 19
	(3)		rson does not contravene this section by obtaining a beneficial est in property if:	20 21
		(a)	before the person obtains the interest, the client consents in writing in a form approved by the Director-General to the person obtaining the interest, and	22 23 24
		(b)	the person acts fairly and reasonably in relation to the obtaining of the interest, and	25 26
		(c)	no commission or other reward is payable to the person in relation to the transaction by which the interest is obtained.	27 28
	(4)		but limitation, a person is considered to obtain a beneficial est in property if:	29 30
		(a)	the person or a close relative of the person obtains a beneficial interest in the property, or	31 32

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 45
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Conflicts of interest	Division 4

	(b)	a corporation having not less than 100 members and of which	1
		the person or a close relative of the person is a member, or a	2
		subsidiary of such a corporation, obtains a beneficial interest in	3
	$(\cdot)$	the property, or	4
	(c)	a corporation of which the person or a close relative of the person is an executive officer obtains a beneficial interest in the	5 6
		property, or	7
	(d)	the trustee of a discretionary trust of which the person or a close	8
	(u)	relative of the person is a beneficiary obtains a beneficial	9
		interest in the property, or	10
	(e)	a member of a firm or partnership of which the person or a	11
		close relative of the person is also a member obtains a	12
		beneficial interest in the property, or	13
	(f)	the person or a close relative of the person has, directly or	14
		indirectly, a right to participate in the income or profits of a business carried on for profit or gain and another percent	15 16
		business carried on for profit or gain and another person carrying on that business obtains a beneficial interest in the	16
		property.	18
(5)	Witho	but limitation, each of the following is considered to constitute the	19
(-)		ing of a beneficial interest in property :	20
	(a)	purchasing property,	21
	(b)	obtaining an option to purchase property,	22
	(c)	being granted a general power of appointment in respect of property.	23 24
(6)	In this	s section:	25
	close i	<i>relative</i> of a person means:	26
	(a)	a spouse of the person, or	27
	(b)	a de facto partner who is living or has lived with the person as	28
		the person's husband or wife on a bona fide domestic basis	29
		although not married to the person, or	30
	(c)	a child, grandchild, sibling, parent or grandparent of the person,	31
	(1)	whether derived through paragraph (a) or (b) or otherwise, or	32
	(d)	any other person who has a relationship with the person that is prescribed by the regulations as constituting the relationship of	33 34
		close relative for the purposes of this section.	34 35
	nrona	<i>rty</i> includes an interest in property.	35
	proper	by mendees an interest in property.	30

Clause 46	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 5	Advertisements and representations

## Division 5 Advertisements and representations

### Advertisements to include information about licensee 2 (1) A licensee must not publish (in a newspaper or otherwise) an 3 advertisement relating to or in connection with the licensee's business 4 unless the advertisement includes the following: 5 (a) if the licensee is an individual carrying on business in the 6 licensee's own name and is not a member of a partnership-the 7 licensee's name and licence number. 8 if the licensee is an individual carrying on business under a (b) 9 business name registered under any Act relating to the 10 registration of business names-either the licensee's name or 11 that business name, and the licensee's licence number, 12 (c) if the licensee carries on business as a member of a 13 partnership-either the licensee's name or the name of the 14 partnership, or the name under which the partnership is 15 registered under any Act relating to the registration of business 16 names, and the licence number of the licensee or another 17 member of the partnership, 18 (d) if the licensee is a corporation and the corporation is carrying 19 on business in its own name-the name of the corporation and 20 the licence number of the corporation, 21 if the licensee is a corporation and the corporation is carrying (e) 22 on business under a business name registered under any Act 23 relating to the registration of business names-either its own 24 name or that business name, and the licence number of the 25 corporation. 26 (2) If a licensee has an interest in any real or personal property as a 27 principal, the licensee must not publish an advertisement relating to or 28 in connection with the property in a newspaper or otherwise without 29 disclosing that interest in the advertisement. 30 Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units. 31

1

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 47	
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3	
Advertisements and representations	Division 5	

47	Pub	olishin	g false or misleading advertisements	1
	(1)		ensee must not publish or cause to be published in the course of ing on business as a licensee any statement that:	2 3
		(a)	is intended or apparently intended by the licensee to promote the sale or lease of any property, and	4 5
		(b)	is false, misleading or deceptive (whether to the licensee's knowledge or not).	6 7
		Maxi	mum penalty: 200 penalty units.	8
	(2)	to be a nat existe	out limiting the generality of subsection (1), a statement is taken false or misleading for the purposes of this section if it is of such ure that it would reasonably tend to lead to a belief in the ence of a state of affairs that does not in fact exist, whether or not atement indicates that the state of affairs does exist.	9 10 11 12 13
	(3)	A sta	tement is <i>published</i> if it is:	14
		(a)	inserted in any newspaper, periodical publication or other publication, or	15 16
		(b)	publicly exhibited in, on, over or under any building, vehicle or place (whether or not a public place and whether on land or water), or in the air in view of persons being or passing in or on any street or public place, or	17 18 19 20
		(c)	contained in any document gratuitously sent or delivered to any person or thrown or left upon premises in the occupation of any person, or	21 22 23
		(d)	broadcast by radio or television, or	24
		(e)	disseminated by means of an Internet website or electronic mail.	25 26
	(4)		defence to a prosecution against a person for an offence under ection if the person proves that:	27 28
		(a)	the person took all reasonable precautions against committing the offence, and	29 30
		(b)	the person believed on reasonable grounds that the statement was true or (in the case of a statement that would reasonably tend to lead to a belief in the existence of a state of affairs that does not in fact exist) the person believed on reasonable grounds that the state of affairs existed, and	31 32 33 34 35

Clause 47	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 3	General conduct of licensees and registered persons
Division 5	Advertisements and representations

(c) the person had no reason to suspect that the statement was false or misleading.

- (5) Despite any proceedings against a person for an offence under this section (whether resulting in a conviction or otherwise) the person remains liable to all civil proceedings as if the proceedings for an offence had not been taken.
- (6) This section is to be read as being in addition to and not in derogation from any enactment or law relating to false or misleading advertisements or other statements.

## 48 Misrepresentation by licensee or registered person

(1) A person who, while exercising or performing any function as a person regulated under this Act, by any statement, representation or promise that is false, misleading or deceptive (whether to the knowledge of the person or not) or by any concealment of a material fact (whether intended or not), induces any other person to enter into any contract or arrangement is guilty of an offence against this Act.

Maximum penalty: 200 penalty units.

- (2) Each of the following is a person regulated under this Act:
  (a) a real estate agent,
  (b) a stock and station agent,
  (c) a business agent,
  (d) a strata managing agent,
  (e) a community managing agent,
  - (f) an on-site residential property manager,
  - (g) a real estate salesperson,25(h) a stock and station salesperson,26
  - (i) a business salesperson,
  - (j) a trainee managing agent.
- (3) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a statement, representation or promise is taken to be false, misleading or deceptive if it is of such a nature that it would reasonably tend to lead to a belief in the existence of a state of affairs that does not in fact exist, whether or not the statement, representation or promise indicates that the state of affairs does exist.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 48
General conduct of licensees and registered persons	Part 3
Advertisements and representations	Division 5

(4) It is a sufficient defence to a prosecution for an offence under this section if the defendant proves that the defendant did not know, and had no reasonable cause to suspect, that the statement, representation or promise was false, misleading or deceptive.

## 49 Damages for fraudulent misrepresentation

No term or provision of any agreement (whether entered into before or after the commencement of this section) for the sale and purchase of land or any interest in land operates to prevent the purchaser from claiming or being awarded damages or any other relief in respect of any fraudulent misrepresentation in connection with the sale and purchase of the land or interest. 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Clause 50 Pro	
5	ncy agreements juirements for agency agreements

## Part 4 Agency agreements

## Division 1 Requirements for agency agreements

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

1

## 50 Definitions

In this Division:

*commission* means remuneration by way of commission, fee, gain or reward for services performed by a licensee in his or her capacity as licensee.

*expenses* means any sum or reimbursement for expenses or charges incurred in connection with services performed by a licensee in the capacity of licensee.

## 51 No entitlement to commission or expenses without agency agreement

- (1) A licensee is not entitled to any commission or expenses from a person for or in connection with services performed by the licensee in the capacity of licensee for or on behalf of the person unless:
  - (a) the services were performed pursuant to an agreement in writing (an *agency agreement*) signed by or on behalf of the person and the licensee, and
  - (b) the agency agreement complies with any applicable requirements of the regulations, and
  - (c) a copy of the agency agreement signed by the licensee was served by the licensee on that person within 48 hours after the agreement was signed by or on behalf of the person.
- (2) The regulations may make provision for or with respect to regulating the form of agency agreements and the terms, conditions and other provisions that an agency agreement must or must not contain. Without limitation, the regulations may prescribe one or more standard forms of agency agreement.
- (3) Without limiting the means by which a copy of the agency agreement may be served on a person, it may be served by means of facsimile transmission or by such other means as the regulations may allow.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 51	
Agency agreements	Part 4	
Requirements for agency agreements	Division 1	

	(4)	A court or tribunal before which proceedings are taken by a licensee for the recovery of commission or expenses from a person may order that the commission or expenses are wholly or partly recoverable despite a failure by the licensee to serve a copy of the relevant agency agreement on the person within 48 hours after it was signed by or on	1 2 3 4 5
		behalf of the person.	6
	(5)	A court or tribunal is not to make such an order unless satisfied that:	7
		(a) the failure to serve a copy of the agreement within the required time was occasioned by inadvertence or other cause beyond the control of the licensee, and	8 9 10
		(b) the commission or expenses that will be recoverable if the order is made are in all the circumstances fair and reasonable, and	11 12 13
		(c) failure to make the order would be unjust.	14
52		proved guide to be provided before agency agreement for residential perty signed	15 16
	(1)	A real estate agent must not enter into an agency agreement with a person for the sale of residential property unless the agent has provided the person with a copy of the approved guide not more than 1 month before the agreement is signed by or on behalf of the person.	17 18 19 20
		Maximum penalty: 40 penalty units.	21
	(2)	In this section:	22
		<i>approved guide</i> means a guide with respect to the sale of residential property approved by the Director-General from time to time for the purposes of this section.	23 24 25
	(3)	A contravention of this section does not affect the validity of the agency agreement.	26 27
53	Age	ency agreement must disclose rebates, discounts and commissions	28
		A licensee is not entitled to any expenses from a person for or in	29
		connection with services performed by the licensee in the capacity of	30
		licensee for or on behalf of the person unless the agency agreement	31
		pursuant to which the licensee performs those services contains a	32
		statement identifying the source and estimated amount of all rebates,	33
		discounts or commissions that the licensee will or may receive in respect of those expenses.	34 35

Clause 54	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 4	Agency agreements
Division 1	Requirements for agency agreements

# 54 Prohibition against listing residential or rural land subject to sole or exclusive agency

- (1) A licensee must not enter into an agency agreement with a person in respect of the sale of residential property or rural land by the person if:
  - (a) the agreement provides for an entitlement to commission in respect of services to be provided at a time when the property or land is or is to be the subject of a sole agency agreement or exclusive agency agreement with another licensee, and

- (b) the licensee knows or has reasonable cause to suspect that the person has entered into that sole agency agreement or exclusive agency agreement.
- (2) A licensee must not solicit or encourage a person to enter into an agency agreement with the licensee if the licensee is prohibited from entering into the agreement by this section.

Maximum penalty:

- (a) 200 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or
- (b) 100 penalty units in any other case.
- (3) A licensee is not entitled to any commission or expenses from a person for or in connection with services performed by the licensee pursuant to an agency agreement entered into by the licensee in contravention of this section.
- (4) In this section:

commission includes fee, gain and reward.

*exclusive agency agreement* means an agency agreement under which an agent agrees to act for the seller on the sale of property and that provides for the agent to be entitled to commission on the happening of an event whether or not the agent is the effective cause of the happening of the event and whether or not the seller is the effective cause of the happening of the event.

*sole agency agreement* means an agency agreement under which an agent agrees to act for the seller on the sale of property and that provides for the agent to be entitled to commission on the happening of an event (whether or not the agent is the effective cause of the happening of the event) unless the seller is the effective cause of the happening of the event.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 55	
Agency agreements	Part 4	
Cooling-off period for residential or rural agency agreements	Division 2	

Division 2		2	Cooling-off period for residential or rural agency agreements	
55	Coc	oling-c	off period for residential or rural agency agreements	3
	(1)		e is to be cooling-off period for every agency agreement in respect e sale of residential property or rural land.	4
	(2)		cooling-off period commences when the agency agreement is ed and ends at 5 pm on the next day that is a business day or a rday.	6 7 8
	(3)	perso agree	gency agreement is <i>signed</i> when it is signed by or on behalf of the on ( <i>the client</i> ) for whom services are to be performed under the ement. If there is more than one client, the agreement is signed in the last client to sign signs the agreement.	9 10 11 12
	(4)		cooling-off period may be extended by a provision of the agency ement, or by the agent in writing before the end of the cooling-off d.	13 14 15
56	Age	ncy a	greement can be rescinded during cooling-off period	16
	(1)	rescis	client can rescind an agency agreement by serving a notice of ssion on the agent under the agreement during the cooling-off of for the agreement.	17 18 19
	(2)	To be	e effective, the notice of rescission must:	20
		(a)	be in writing addressed to the agent and be to the effect that the client rescinds the agreement, and	21 22
		(b)	be signed by the client or the client's solicitor or, if there is more than one client, by each client or their respective solicitors, and	23 24 25
		(c)	be served on the agent in one of the ways provided for by this section.	26 27
	(3)		otice of rescission may be served on an agent in any of the wing ways:	28 29
		(a)	by being given to the agent personally,	30
		(b)	by being delivered to or left at a place of business of the agent or at any other address specified in the agency agreement as a place where a notice of rescission may be given,	31 32 33

Clause 56	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 4	Agency agreements
Division 2	Cooling-off period for residential or rural agency agreements

		(c) by facsimile transmission.	1
57	Effe	ect of rescission	2
	(1)	On service of a notice of rescission, the agency agreement is taken to be rescinded from the time it was entered into.	3 4
	(2)	Neither the agent nor the client is liable to pay any sum for commission, damages, costs or expenses for or in connection with the agency agreement or its rescission.	5 6 7
	(3)	The agent must refund to the client any money paid to the agent under a rescinded agency agreement.	8 9
58	No	contracting out	10
		A provision of an agency agreement or any other agreement or arrangement is void to the extent that it would (but for this section) have the effect of excluding, modifying or restricting the operation of this Division.	11 12 13 14

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 59
Residential property and rural land sales	Part 5
Contract for sale of residential property	Division 1

Part	5 I	Resi	dential property and rural land sales	1
Divis	ion '	1	Contract for sale of residential property	2
59	Pro	posec	d contract for sale of residential property	3
	(1)	In th	is section:	4
		purc	<i>haser</i> includes a grantee of an option.	5
	(2)	the re agen prosp prop	al estate agent must not offer residential property for sale unless equired documents are all available for inspection at the real estate t's registered office by a prospective purchaser or agent for a pective purchaser at all times at which an offer to purchase the erty may be made (or at such other place or at such other times as be prescribed by the regulations).	6 7 8 9 10 11
	(3)		al estate agent is considered to offer residential property for sale n the agent, expressly or by implication:	12 13
		(a)	indicates that residential property is for sale or is to be auctioned at any future time, or	14 15
		(b)	offers to sell residential property, or	16
		(c)	invites an offer to purchase residential property, or	17
		(d)	indicates that a person may be willing to grant an option to purchase residential property.	18 19
	(4)	The	required documents for the purposes of this section are:	20
		(a)	a copy of the proposed contract for the sale of the property (excluding particulars of the purchaser and purchase price), and	21 22
		(b)	the documents required by section 52A of the <i>Conveyancing Act 1919</i> to be attached to the contract before signature by the purchaser, and	23 24 25
		(c)	in the case of an option to purchase residential property—a copy of the proposed option document (excluding particulars of the purchaser and consideration for the option).	26 27 28
	(5)	resid	nout limitation, a real estate agent is to be taken to indicate that lential property is for sale if the real estate agent does any of the wing or causes or permits any of the following to be done:	29 30 31

Clause 59	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 5	Residential property and rural land sales
Division 1	Contract for sale of residential property

		(a)	advertises or promotes the property in any way that, in the circumstances, may reasonably be taken to indicate that the property is or may be for sale, or	1 2 3
		(b)	places a sign on or near the property that, in the circumstances, may reasonably be taken to indicate that the property is or may be for sale, or	4 5 6
		(c)	advertises or in any way gives notice that the property is to be auctioned at any future time, or	7 8
		(d)	places on display particulars or a description of, or a photograph, drawing or other representation of, the property in or on any premises, vehicle or place where the real estate agent conducts business as a real estate agent, or	9 10 11 12
		(e)	shows the property to a prospective purchaser or gives the address of the property to a prospective purchaser.	13 14
	(6)		section does not apply to anything done by a real estate agent acting on behalf of a prospective purchaser of residential rty.	15 16 17
	(7)	The r	egulations may create exceptions to this section.	18
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	19
)	Con	tracts	for sale of residential property	20
	(1)	A rea	l estate agent may do any of the following:	21
		(a)	fill up a proposed contract for the sale of residential property, by inserting details of the purchaser's name, address and description, the purchaser's solicitor's name and address, the purchase price and the date,	22 23 24 25
		(b)	insert in or delete from a contract for the sale of residential property any description of any furnishings or chattels to be included in the sale of the property, or	26 27 28
		(c)	participate in the exchange or making of contracts for the sale of residential property.	29 30
	(2)	prope or ma from	rospective party to a proposed contract for the sale of residential rty for whom a real estate agent acts in relation to the exchange king of the contract notifies the real estate agent, or it is apparent the proposed contract, that a solicitor is or will be acting for the the real estate agent may not participate in the exchange or	31 32 33 34 35

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 60		
Residential property and rural land sales	Part 5		
Contract for sale of residential property	Division 1		

making of the contract unless expressly authorised to do so by the party or the solicitor. A contract is not invalid merely because of the failure of a real estate agent to comply with this subsection.

- (3) A real estate agent who exercises any function pursuant to this section on behalf of any person who is a party or a prospective party to any contract or proposed contract is liable to compensate that person for any loss, damage or expense suffered or incurred by that person as a result of any negligent act or omission, or any unauthorised action, of the real estate agent in the exercise of that function.
- (4) A real estate agent may not charge a fee for anything authorised to be done under this section.
- (5) This section does not affect the existence or nature of any other functions or responsibilities of licensees that exist or may exist apart from this section.
- (6) In this section:

solicitor includes a licensee under the Conveyancers Licensing Act 1995.

## 61 Procedure following rescission

- (1) If a contract for the sale of residential property or an option for the purchase of residential property is rescinded under Division 8 or 9 of Part 4 of the *Conveyancing Act 1919*, and a real estate agent who holds money paid by the purchaser by way of deposit under or in relation to the contract or the proposed contract attached to the option is authorised to deal with that money as provided by this section.
- (2) The real estate agent is authorised to pay to the vendor so much of the money as does not exceed the amount (if any) forfeited under section 66V or 66ZE of that Act, and receipt by the real estate agent of the original or a copy of an effective notice of rescission served by the purchaser under section 66U or 66ZD of that Act is sufficient authority for the real estate agent to make the payment to the vendor.
- (3) The regulations may make provision for or with respect to authorising the real estate agent to pay to the purchaser the balance of the money.
- (4) In this section:
   *deposit* includes any amount paid by the purchaser in relation to the contract or the proposed contract attached to the option or on account of the purchase price of residential property.

Page 49

Clause 61	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 5	Residential property and rural land sales
Division 1	Contract for sale of residential property

*purchaser* includes a prospective purchaser and a grantee or prospective grantee of an option.

# Division 2 Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land

			land	4
62	Res	trictio	ns on bidding by or on behalf of seller or auctioneer	5
	(1)	in the any p	e by auction of residential property or rural land must be notified e conditions of sale to be subject to the right by the seller or by person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer to make 1 bid (and 1 bid).	6 7 8 9
	(2)	At a s	sale by auction of residential property or rural land:	10
		(a)	the seller or any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer must not bid unless the right to bid has been notified in the conditions of sale, and	11 12 13
		(b)	the seller or any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer must not make more than one bid and must not make any bid if one of them has already bid, and	14 15 16
		(c)	the auctioneer must not take from the seller or any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer any bid knowing that the bid is in contravention of this section.	17 18 19
		Maxi	mum penalty: 50 penalty units.	20
63	Bid	s may	only be taken from registered bidders	21
	(1)		uctioneer at a sale by auction of residential property or rural land not take a bid from a person unless:	22 23
		(a)	the relevant details of the person have been entered before the bid is taken in a Bidders Record made in respect of the auction in accordance with section 64, and the auctioneer is in possession of that record when the bid is taken, and	24 25 26 27
		(b)	the person is identified at the auction by the person displaying an identifying number allocated to the person for the purposes of the auction and recorded in the Bidders Record as the identifying number allocated to the person.	28 29 30 31
		Maxi	mum penalty: 50 penalty units.	32

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 63	
Residential property and rural land sales	Part 5	
Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land	Division 2	

(2) An auctioneer who refuses to take a bid from a person pursuant to a 1 requirement under this Division does not incur a liability to any person 2 as a result of that refusal. 3 64 **Bidders Record** 4 (1) Before residential property or rural land is offered for sale by auction, 5 a record (the *Bidders Record*) must be made of the persons who will 6 be entitled to bid at the auction and there must be entered in the 7 Bidders Record in respect of each of those persons: 8 the relevant details of the person, and 9 (a) the identifying number allocated to the person for the purposes (b) 10 of identifying the person at the auction, and 11 such other information as the regulations may require. (c) 12 (2) The relevant details of a person are: 13 the person's name and address and the number or other (a) 14 identifier of proof of identity for that person, and 15 in addition, in the case of a person bidding on behalf of another (b) 16 person, the name and address of that other person and the 17 number or other identifier of proof of identity for that other 18 person. 19 (3) A real estate agent engaged to act in respect of the sale of residential 20 property or rural land by auction is responsible for making the Bidders 21 Record for the auction unless some other agent engaged to act in 22 respect of the sale or acting for or on behalf of the auctioneer has made 23 the Bidders Record for the auction. 24 (4) An agent is to keep a Bidders Record made by the agent for at least 3 25 years and is to keep all the Bidders Records made by the agent 26 together, in the form of a Register of Bidders Records. 27 (5) When residential property or rural land is to be offered for sale by 28 auction or is sold by auction, the agent who makes a Bidders Record 29 for the auction must, at the request of the seller, permit the seller to 30 inspect and take notes from the Bidders Record. Such a request may 31 be made before or after the auction. 32 (6) The regulations may make provision for or with respect to the manner 33 and form in which a Bidders Record is to be made and kept. 34

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

Clause 65	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 5	Residential property and rural land sales
Division 2	Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land

## 65 Details to be established by proof of identity

(1)	An agent must not enter a person's name and address in a Bidders Record unless those details are established by the production to the agent of:	2 3 4
	(a) proof of identity for the person, or	5
	(b) in the case of the details of a person on whose behalf another person is to bid, a letter of authority to bid on the person's behalf specifying the person's name and address and the number or other identifier of proof of identity for that person.	6 7 8 9
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	10
(2)	The only proof of identity that may be used for a person for the purposes of an entry in a Bidders Record is:	11 12
	(a) a motor vehicle driver's licence issued in Australia that displays a photograph of the person, or	13 14
	(b) an Australian passport, or	15
	(c) such other proof of identity as may be prescribed by the regulations.	16 17
(3)	An agent must not enter the relevant details of a person in a Bidders Record if the agent knows or has reasonable cause to suspect that the details are false in a material particular.	18 19 20
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	21
Cor	fidentiality of Bidders Record	22
(1)	An agent who makes a Bidders Record, and any auctioneer to whom the contents of a Bidders Record are disclosed under this Division, must not:	
	(a) divulge any information that the Bidders Record contains except as authorised or required by this Division, and	26 27
	(b) must not use the Bidders Record or the information that it contains for any purpose not authorised by this Division.	28 29
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	30
(2)	This section does not prevent the divulging of information to an authorised officer in accordance with a requirement imposed by or under this Act.	31 32 33

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 67	
Residential property and rural land sales	Part 5	
Bidding at auction of residential property or rural land	Division 2	

67	App	proved consumer education guide for bidders at auctions	1
	(1)	The Director-General may from time to time approve a consumer education guide for prospective bidders at an auction of residential property or rural land.	2 3 4
	(2)	A real estate agent engaged to act in respect of the sale by auction of residential property or rural land must ensure that a person who bids at the auction has been provided before the auction with a copy of the consumer education guide currently approved under this section.	5 6 7 8
		Maximum penalty: 40 penalty units.	9
Divis	sion (	3 Representations as to selling price of residential property	10 11
68	Fals	se representation to seller or prospective seller	12
		A real estate agent or employee of a real estate agent must not make a false representation to a seller or prospective seller of residential property as to the agent's or employee's true estimate of the selling price of the property.	13 14 15 16
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	17
69	Fals	se representation to prospective buyer	18
	(1)	A real estate agent acting pursuant to an agency agreement for the sale of residential property or the employee of such an agent must not, by a statement made in the course of marketing the property falsely understate the estimated selling price of the property.	19 20 21 22
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	23
	(2)	A real estate agent acting pursuant to an agency agreement for the sale of residential property or the employee of such an agent must not, by a statement made in the course of marketing the property make a statement that indicates the price at which it is thought bidding at an auction of the property will start.	24 25 26 27 28
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	29
	(3)	An agent or employee is considered to falsely understate the estimated selling price of residential property if the agent or employee states as his or her estimate of that selling price a price that is less than his or her true estimate of that selling price.	30 31 32 33

Clause 69	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 5	Residential property and rural land sales
Division 3	Representations as to selling price of residential property

	(4)		atement is considered to be made in the course of marketing ential property if the statement is made:	1 2
		(a)	in an advertisement in respect of the property that is published or caused to be published by the agent, or	3 4
		(b)	to a person (orally or in writing) as a prospective purchaser of the property.	5 6
	(5)	sellin	tement in the agency agreement of the agent's estimate of the ag price of residential property is evidence for the purposes of this on of the agent's true estimate of that selling price.	7 8 9
70		luirem perty	ent to substantiate selling price estimates—residential	10 11
	(1)	requi estim	Director-General may by notice in writing to a real estate agent re the agent to provide evidence of the reasonableness of any ate of the selling price of residential property made by the agent statement:	12 13 14 15
		(a)	orally or in writing to a seller or prospective seller of the property, or	16 17
		(b)	in an advertisement in respect of the property that is published or caused to be published by the agent, or	18 19
		(c)	orally or in writing to a person as a prospective purchaser of the property.	20 21
	(2)	A rea within offen	I estate agent who fails to comply with a notice under this section n the period for compliance specified in the notice is guilty of an ce.	22 23 24
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	25
71	Divi	ision e	extends to estimates of price range	26
		appli	Division extends to estimated price range in the same way as it es to estimated price and for that purpose a reference in this sion to price is taken to include a reference to price range.	27 28 29
72	Ext	ended	meaning of "estimate"	30

In this Division, *estimate* includes opinion and belief.

Auctions-general

### Part 6 Auctions—general 1 73 Collusive practices at auction sales 2 (1) A person must not, in relation to the sale by auction of any land or 3 livestock, by a collusive practice induce or attempt to induce any other 4 person: 5 to abstain from bidding generally, or (a) 6 (b) to abstain from bidding for any particular lot, or 7 (c) to bid to a limited extent only, or 8 to do any other act or thing that might in any way prevent or (d) 9 tend to prevent free and open competition. 10 Maximum penalty: 11 (e) 200 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or 12 (f) 100 penalty units in any other case. 13 (2) A person must not as a result of a collusive practice, at a sale by 14 auction of any land or livestock: 15 abstain or agree to abstain from bidding generally, or (a) 16 (b) abstain or agree to abstain from bidding for any particular lot, 17 or 18 (c) bid or agree to bid to a limited extent only, or 19 (d) do or agree to do any other act or thing that might in any way 20 prevent or tend to prevent free and open competition. 21 Maximum penalty: 22 200 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or (e) 23 (f) 100 penalty units in any other case. 24 (3) An auctioneer must not sell by auction any land or livestock unless 25 notice is given prior to the auction, in such manner and in such terms 26 as may be prescribed by the regulations of the material parts of this 27 section. 28 Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units. 29

Clause 73	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 6	Auctions—general

(4) In this section:

*collusive practice* means a promise, express or implied, made by a person that the person will if the person is the successful bidder at auction for land or livestock:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

31

32

33

34

35

36

- give the person to whom the promise is made the right to elect (a) to take over as purchaser through the auctioneer all or any of the land or livestock at the auction price, or
- (b) that the ownership of all or any of the land or livestock will be determined by tossing or the drawing of lots or any other method.

#### False entry in auction record 74

11 (1) An auctioneer or an employee of an auctioneer must not knowingly 12 enter in any record kept or required to be kept by the auctioneer as the 13 purchaser of any land or livestock sold by auction any name other than 14 the name of the actual successful bidder of the land or livestock. 15 Maximum penalty for a first offence: In the case of a corporation, 50 16 penalty units or, in the case of an individual, 20 penalty units. 17 Maximum penalty for a second or subsequent offence: In the case of 18 a corporation, 100 penalty units or, in the case of an individual, 50 19 penalty units. 20 (2) Any auctioneer who employs any person, being a person who enters, 21 in any record required to be kept by the auctioneer, as the purchaser of 22 any land or livestock sold by auction any name other than the name of 23 the actual successful bidder for the land or livestock, is guilty of an 24 offence unless the auctioneer establishes that the auctioneer did not 25 know that a name other than the name of the actual successful bidder 26 was entered. 27 Maximum penalty for a first offence: In the case of a corporation, 50 28 penalty units or, in the case of an individual, 20 penalty units. 29 30

Maximum penalty for a second or subsequent offence: In the case of a corporation, 100 penalty units or, in the case of an individual, 50 penalty units.

(3) If the actual successful bidder at a sale by auction of any land or livestock, as soon as practicable after the auctioneer conducting the sale has indicated the actual successful bidder but not in any case later than the day of the sale, informs the auctioneer that the bidder bid on

Page 56

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 74
Auctions—general	Part 6

behalf of another person and informs the auctioneer of the name of that 1 person, the auctioneer or employee is not guilty of an offence under 2 this section by reason of the name of that other person being entered 3 in a record as purchaser of the land or livestock. 4 75 Misrepresentation as to quality etc 5 An auctioneer must not knowingly misrepresent, or cause or permit to 6 be misrepresented, the value, composition, structure, character or 7 quality, or the origin of manufacture, of any land or livestock put up 8 for sale at a sale by auction conducted by the auctioneer. 9 Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units. 10 76 Restrictions on bidding by or on behalf of seller or auctioneer of 11 livestock 12 (1) A sale by auction of livestock may be notified in the conditions of sale 13 to be subject to the right by the seller or by any person on behalf of the 14 seller or auctioneer to make 1 bid or a specified number of bids. 15 (2) At a sale by auction of livestock: 16 the seller or any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer (a) 17 must not bid unless the right to bid has been notified in the 18 conditions of sale, and 19 (b) the seller or any person on behalf of the seller or auctioneer 20 must not make more than the number of bids notified in the 21 conditions of sale, and 22 the auctioneer must not take from the seller or any person on (c) 23 behalf of the seller or auctioneer any bid knowing that the bid 24 is in contravention of this section. 25 Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units. 26 Contracting out of prescribed terms and conditions of auction sales 77 27 (1) Any provision in, or applying to, an agreement for the sale of property 28 by auction and purporting to exclude or restrict (otherwise than in 29 accordance with this or any other Act) the operation of any conditions 30 prescribed as being applicable to or in respect of the sale by auction of 31

that property or property of that class or description is void.

Clause 77	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 6	Auctions—general

	(2)	A person must not notify or cause to be notified in the conditions of sale by auction of any property any provision purporting to exclude or restrict any conditions prescribed as applicable to or in respect of the sale by auction of that property or property of that class or description.	1 2 3 4			
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	5			
	(3)	In this section:	6			
		property means land or livestock.	7			
78	Suc	Successful bidder at auction to supply information				
	(1)	The actual successful bidder at a sale by auction of any land or livestock must, as soon as practicable after the auctioneer conducting the sale has indicated the actual successful bidder but not in any case later than the day of the sale, supply to the auctioneer or an employee of the auctioneer:	9 10 11 12 13			
		(a) the bidder's name if the bidder bid on his or her own behalf, or	14			
		(b) the name of the person on whose behalf the bidder bid if the bidder bid on behalf of another person—the name of the person on whose behalf he or she bid.	15 16 17			
		Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units.	18			
	(2)	An auctioneer must not sell by auction any land or livestock unless notice is given, in such manner and in such terms as may be prescribed by the regulations, of the material parts of this section.	19 20 21			
		Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units.	22			
79	Live	Livestock auctions—"comeback" prohibited				
	(1)	An auctioneer must not, at an auction for the sale of livestock, sell by auction any lot for a price lower than any price bid in relation to the sale of that lot.	24 25 26			
	(2)	For the purposes of this section, a price is bid if it is called by a prospective purchaser or is attributed to a prospective purchaser by the auctioneer as being the amount of a bid, and is not withdrawn by the prospective purchaser prior to the sale of that lot.	27 28 29 30			

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 80
Trust accounts	Part 7
Preliminary	Division 1

## Part 7 Trust accounts

## Division 1 Preliminary

80	Inte	rpreta	ation	3
	(1)	In th	is Part:	4
			<i>money</i> means money received for or on behalf of any person by ensee.	5 6
	(2)	who	ference in this Part to a licensee includes a reference to a person has ceased to be a licensee and to the personal representative of ensee who has died, and in the application of this Part to:	7 8 9
		(a)	a person who has ceased to be a licensee, a reference to moneys received for or on behalf of a person by a licensee is to be read as a reference to moneys received by that person for or on behalf of any other person in connection with his or her business as a licensee, and	10 11 12 13 14
		(b)	the personal representative of a licensee who has died, a reference to moneys received for or on behalf of a person by a licensee is to be read as a reference to moneys received by that licensee or personal representative for or on behalf of a person in connection with the business carried on by that licensee.	15 16 17 18 19
Divis	sion 2	2	Payment of trust money into trust account	20
81	Tru	st mo	ney to be paid to trust account	21
	(1)	Mon	ey received for or on behalf of any person by a licensee:	22
		(a)	is to be held by the licensee or (if the licensee is employed by a corporation) by the corporation, exclusively for that person, and	23 24 25
		(b)	is to be paid to the person or disbursed as the person directs, and	26 27
		(c)	until so paid or disbursed is to be paid into and retained in a trust account (whether general or separate) at an authorised deposit-taking institution in New South Wales and approved by the Director-General for the purposes of this Part.	28 29 30 31

Page 59

1

Clause 81	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 7	Trust accounts
Division 2	Payment of trust money into trust account

- (2) If the licence is held by a corporation, the trust account is to be in the name of the corporation and in any other case is be in the name of the licensee or of the firm of licensees of which the licensee is a member.(3) The words "Trust Account" are to appear in the name of the trust
- (3) The words "Trust Account" are to appear in the name of the trust account and in the description of the trust account in the books and records of the licensee and also on all cheques drawn on the trust account.
- (4) When opening a trust account at an authorised deposit-taking institution for the purpose of complying with this section, the licensee concerned must ensure that the authorised deposit-taking institution is notified in writing that the account is a trust account required by this Act.
- (5) A licensee must, within 14 days after closing a trust account, notify the Director-General in writing of the closure.

Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.

## 82 Approval of authorised deposit-taking institutions

- (1) The Director-General may approve an authorised deposit-taking institution for the purposes of this Part and may revoke any such approval by notice in writing to the authorised deposit-taking institution.
- (2) The Director-General is not to approve an authorised deposit-taking institution for the purposes of this Part unless satisfied that the institution is able to discharge the obligations of an authorised deposit-taking institution under this Part.

## 83 Trust money not available to pay licensee's debts

- (1) Trust money is not available for the payment of the debts of the licensee to any other creditor of the licensee, or liable to be attached or taken in execution under the order or process of any court at the instance of any other creditor of the licensee.
- (2) This section does not take away or affect any just claim or lien that any licensee may have against or upon trust money.

## 84 Licensee to notify trust account becoming overdrawn

A licensee must, within 5 days after becoming aware that a trust account of the licensee has become overdrawn, notify the Director-General in writing of:

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 84	
Trust accounts	Part 7	
Payment of trust money into trust account	Division 2	

		(a)	the name and number of the account, and	1
		(b)	the amount by which the account is overdrawn, and	2
		(c)	the reason for the account becoming overdrawn.	3
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	4
85		rest e ount	arned on trust accounts to be paid to Statutory Interest	5 6
	(1)		e first business day after the end of each named month, each rised deposit-taking institution must:	7 8
		(a)	calculate interest on the daily balances of all money held during the month in trust accounts kept with the authorised deposit- taking institution (being trust accounts notified to the institution as trust accounts required by this Act) by applying to those balances the prescribed percentage of the trust account rate applicable to the institution for the purposes of this section, and	9 10 11 12 13 14 15
		(b)	pay the amount of that interest to the Director-General for crediting to the Statutory Interest Account.	16 17
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	18
	(2)	purpo accou may t	Minister is required to determine from time to time for the bases of this section, after consultation with the Treasurer, a trust int rate for each authorised deposit-taking institution. The rate be a fixed or variable rate and is to be determined by reference to erest rate that applies in the short term money market.	19 20 21 22 23
	(3)	autho autho	oon as practicable after determining a trust account rate for an rised deposit-taking institution, the Minister must inform the rised deposit-taking institution of the rate by notice in writing and sh a notice of the rate in the Gazette.	24 25 26 27
	(4)	cent c deterr	prescribed percentage for the purposes of this section is 60 per or such other percentage as the Minister may, from time to time, mine after consultation with the Treasurer and notify by order shed in the Gazette.	28 29 30 31
	(5)	other from	thorised deposit-taking institution must not deduct transaction or charges, other than statutory charges (such as account debits tax), the balances referred to in subsection (1) or from an amount of st calculated under that subsection.	32 33 34 35

Part 7 Divisio	n 2		Trust accounts Payment of trust money into trust account	
	(6)	com	Director-General may, by proceedings brought in a court of petent jurisdiction, recover as a debt an amount due and payable e Director-General under this section.	1 2 3
	(7)	This	section does not apply to:	4
		(a)	a separate trust account kept on the instructions of a client of a licensee or a firm of licensees for the exclusive benefit of the client (not being a separate trust account kept as a sub-account of a general trust account), or	5 6 7 8
		(b)	to a trust account of a class of trust accounts prescribed by the regulations as exempt from this section.	9 10
Divis	ion (	3	Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions	11 12
86	Inst	itutio	ns to provide Director-General with certain information	13
	(1)	depo of th	nin 14 days after the end of each named month, an authorised osit-taking institution must notify the Director-General in writing ne following matters with respect to the trust accounts that are ned with the institution under this Part during the month:	14 15 16 17
		(a)	the number of those trust accounts that were opened with the institution during the month,	18 19
		(b)	the names of the licensees who opened those accounts,	20
		(c)	the names and numbers of those accounts and the addresses of the branches of that institution at which those accounts are kept.	21 22
		Max	imum penalty: 100 penalty units.	23
	(2)	The	regulations may:	24
		(a)	require authorised deposit-taking institutions to provide the Director-General with such information relating to all or any trust accounts as is specified or described in the regulations, and	25 26 27
		(b)	authorise the Director-General to require an authorised deposit-taking institution to provide the Director-General with such information relating to trust accounts identified by the Director-General as is specified or described by the Director-General, and	28 29 30 31 32

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Clause 85

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 86	
Trust accounts	Part 7	
Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions	Division 3	

		(c)	make provision for or with respect to any associated matter, including the manner in which, and the time within which, any	1 2		
			such information is to be provided to the Director-General.	3		
	(3)	This	section has effect irrespective of any other law or any rule of	4		
		practi	ce to the contrary.	5		
	(4)	This s	section does not apply to:	6		
		(a)	a separate trust account kept on the instructions of a client of a	7		
			licensee or a firm of licensees for the exclusive benefit of the	8		
			client (not being a separate trust account kept as a sub-account of a general trust account), or	9 10		
		(b)	to a trust account of a class of trust accounts prescribed by the	10		
		(0)	regulations as exempt from this section.	11		
87	Clo	sure o	f trust accounts	13		
			n 14 days after the end of each month, an authorised deposit-	14		
			g institution must, by notice in writing, inform the	15		
			tor-General of the following if a trust account kept with it under art was closed during the month:	16 17		
		(a)	the name and number of the account,	18		
		(b)	the date on which the account was closed.	19		
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	20		
88	Ove	erdraw	n trust accounts	21		
			an authorised deposit-taking institution becomes aware that a	22		
		trust account kept with it under this Part is overdrawn, the institution				
			as soon as practicable (and in any case within 5 business days)	24		
			becoming so aware inform the Director-General of the following tice in writing:	25 26		
		(a)	the name and business address of the licensee concerned, and	27		
		(b)	the name and number of the account, and	28		
		(c)	the date on which the account became overdrawn, and	29		
		(d)	the amount by which the account is overdrawn.	30		
		Maxi	mum penalty: 100 penalty units.	31		

Clause 89	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 7	Trust accounts
Division 3	Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions

#### 89 **Dishonoured cheques** 1 Within 5 business days of an authorised deposit-taking institution 2 becoming aware that a cheque presented on a trust account kept with 3 it under this Part has been dishonoured, the institution must, by notice 4 in writing, inform the Director-General of the following: 5 the name and number of the account, (a) 6 (b) the amount of the dishonour, 7 (c) the date on which the cheque was dishonoured. 8 Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units. 9 90 Monthly certification 10 Within 14 days of the end of each month, an authorised deposit taking 11 institution must provide a written report to the Director-General, 12 certified as correct by the institution, containing the following 13 information in relation to trust accounts kept by it under this Part 14 during the month: 15 the name of the institution and its branch number or its BSB (a) 16 number, 17 the period to which the report relates, (b) 18 (c) the name of each account, 19 (d) the number of each account, 20 the end of month balance for each account (including any nil or (e) 21 overdrawn balances), 22 (f) the interest earned on each account during the month, 23 (g) the interest rate applied to calculate the interest earned on each 24 account during the month, 25 (h) the total amount of interest that the institution paid under this 26 Part to the Director-General during the month in respect of the 27 accounts for crediting to the Statutory Interest Account. 28 29

Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 91	
Trust accounts	Part 7	
Responsibilities of authorised deposit-taking financial institutions	Division 3	

## 91 Annual certification by auditor

Not later than 31 May in each year, an authorised deposit-taking institution approved for the purposes of this Part must provide to the Director-General a certificate given by a registered company auditor (within the meaning of the *Corporations Act*) certifying as to the following:

- (a) that the institution has complied with the requirements of this Part in relation to trust accounts kept by it under this Part during the 12 month period ending on 30 April immediately preceding that 31 May,
- (b) the total amount of interest that the institution paid under this Part to the Director-General during that 12 month period in respect of those trust accounts for crediting to the Statutory Interest Account.

Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.

## 92 Protection of authorised deposit-taking institutions from liability

- (1) An authorised deposit-taking institution:
  - (a) does not incur liability, and is not obliged to make inquiries, in relation to any transaction concerning an account of a licensee kept with the institution or with some other financial institution, and
  - (b) is, in relation to any such transaction, taken not to have any knowledge of a right of any person to money credited to such an account,

unless it would incur such a liability, be obliged to make such inquiries or be taken to have that knowledge in relation to an account kept with it in respect of a person absolutely entitled to the money held in that account.

- (2) This section does not relieve an authorised deposit-taking institution from any liability or obligation that it would have apart from this Act.
- (3) An authorised deposit-taking institution at which a licensee keeps an account for clients' money does not, as regards any liability that the licensee has to the institution (other than a liability relating to that account), have a right to any of the money held in that account, whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, charge or otherwise.

Clause 93	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 7	Trust accounts
Division 4	Unclaimed trust money

## Division 4 Unclaimed trust money

### 93 Unclaimed trust money held by licensee

(1) A licensee who in the month of January in a year holds in a trust account kept by the licensee money that was received by the licensee more than 2 years before that month must furnish to the Director-General in that month a statement (an *unclaimed money statement*) showing particulars of:

- (a) the money so held, and
- (b) each person for whom or on whose behalf the money is held, and
- (c) the address of each of those persons last known to the licensee.
- (2) A statement under this section is to be in the form approved by the Director-General.

# 94 Unclaimed trust money held by former licensee or personal representative

- (1) A former licensee, or the personal representative of a deceased licensee, who holds money in a trust account kept under this Act must furnish to the Director-General a statement giving particulars of:
  - (a) the money held in the trust account as at the date on which the statement is furnished, and
  - (b) the names of the persons for whom or on whose behalf the money is held, and
  - (c) the address of each of those persons last known to the person furnishing the statement.
- (2) This statement is the first statement that the former licensee or personal representative is required to furnish and it is to be furnished within 3 months after the date on which the person ceased to be a licensee or became the personal representative of the deceased licensee.
- (3) The former licensee or personal representative must furnish a further statement (an *unclaimed money statement*) within 14 days after the period of 12 months has elapsed since the first statement was furnished.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 94
Trust accounts	Part 7
Unclaimed trust money	Division 4

	(4)	The further statement is to give particulars of the same matters as the first statement and also include particulars of any payments made from the trust account since the date of the first statement.	1 2 3			
	(5)	A statement under this section is to be in the form approved by the Director-General.	4 5			
	(6)	The regulations may exempt money or a class of money from the operation of this section.	6 7			
95	Dis	Disposal of unclaimed money in trust accounts				
	(1)	When the Director-General receives an unclaimed money statement under this Division, the Director-General is to:	9 10			
		<ul> <li>(a) send by post to each person for whom or on whose behalf any money referred to in the statement is held a notice (an <i>individual notice</i>) in writing addressed to the person at the person's address shown in the statement stating the particulars of the moneys held for or on behalf of that person, and</li> </ul>	11 12 13 14 15			
		(b) cause notification to be published in the Gazette (a <i>Gazette notification</i> ) stating the particulars of the money held for or on behalf of each of those persons.	16 17 18			
	(2)	Each individual notice and the Gazette notification is to state that, if the money is not paid out of the trust account in which it is held within 3 months after the date of publication of the Gazette notice, the person holding the money will be required to pay it to the Director-General.				
	(3)	At any time after the expiration of that 3 months the Director-General may, by a notice in writing served personally or by post on the person by whom the money is held, require that person:	23 24 25			
		(a) to pay to the Director-General any moneys referred to in the Gazette notification that have not been previously paid by that person out of the trust account in which they are held, and	26 27 28			
		<ul> <li>(b) to furnish to the Director-General, within such period as may be specified in the notice to the person, a statement showing particulars of any payments made out of the money referred to in the Gazette notification since the unclaimed money statement was made.</li> </ul>	29 30 31 32 33			
	(4)	The Director-General must pay any money received by the Director-General under this section into the Compensation Fund.	34 35			

Clause 95	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 7	Trust accounts
Division 4	Unclaimed trust money

	(5)	Withi must Direc sectio	1 2 3 4		
	(6)	Fund,	the Director-General makes a payment into the Consolidated the Director-General is to give the Treasurer a statement ining the following particulars:	5 6 7	
		(a)	the name and last known address of each person for whom or on whose behalf the money received by the Director-General was held,	8 9 10	
		(b)	the amount held in respect of each of those persons,	11	
		(c)	the date of gazettal of the Gazette notification in respect of that money,	12 13	
		(d)	the name and address of each licensee who furnished an unclaimed money statement to the Director-General in respect of that money.	14 15 16	
	(7)		rson who fails to comply with the requirements of any notice d on the person under this section is guilty of an offence.	17 18	
		Maxi	mum penalty: 50 penalty units.	19	
96	Repayment of unclaimed trust money				
	(1)	The Treasurer must, on application made to the Treasurer by a person entitled to money paid into the Consolidated Fund under this Division, pay the money to the person.		21 22 23	
	(2)	entitle the D	application for the payment of money to which a person is ed is made while the money is held in the Compensation Fund, pirector-General must pay the money to the person from the pensation Fund.	24 25 26 27	

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 97	
Trust accounts	Part 7	
Information about trust accounts or transactions	Division 5	

## Division 5 Information about trust accounts or transactions

97	Director-General may require information			
	(1)			
		(a) the name of the trust account on which the licensee operates in accordance with this Act, the name of the authorised deposit- taking institution at which the account is current, the balance of the money standing to the credit of the account as at a date specified in the requisition, and particulars of all cheques drawn on the account as at such date and not presented and duly paid, or	7 8 9 10 11 12 13	
		(b) any money paid by any person to the licensee or received by the licensee for or on behalf of any person in connection with the licensee's business as a licensee, and if not still held by the licensee the manner and time of its disbursement, or	14 15 16 17	
		(c) any transaction by or with the licensee as a licensee.	18	
	(2) The licensee must comply with a notice under this section within 7 days after it is served on the licensee.			
	(3)	21 22 23		
98	Person concerned in transaction may request itemised account			
	(1) A person directly concerned in any transaction by or with a licensee in connection with the licensee's business as a licensee may request the licensee in writing to render to the person in the manner prescribed by the regulations an itemised account of the transaction.		25 26 27 28	
	(2)	2) The licensee must comply with the request within 14 days after the request is served on the licensee.		
	(3) A person may not request an itemised account of a transaction that took place more than 6 months before the making of the request.			

Clause 99	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 7	Trust accounts
Division 5	Information about trust accounts or transactions

### Offence

Offence		
(1)	A licensee must not fail without reasonable excuse (proof which lies on the licensee) to comply with a requirement under this Division.	2 3
(2)	A licensee must not, in purported compliance with a requirement under this Division, furnish information that the licensee knows is false or misleading in a material particular.	4 5 6
	Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.	7

Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 100	
Records	Part 8	
Keeping and inspection of records	Division 1	

## Part 8 Records

Division 1			Keeping and inspection of records	2
100	Licensee's records			3
	(1)	) In this Act:		4
		licens	see's records means:	5
		(a)	records required to be kept by a licensee by or under this Act that are in the possession, custody or control of the licensee, and	6 7 8
		(b)	records and documents in the possession, custody or control of a licensee that relate to any account (whether or not a trust account) kept by the licensee in connection with his or her business as a licensee or to any transaction by or with the licensee in connection with his or her business as a licensee.	9 10 11 12 13
	(2)	posse perso transf	cords or documents that were licensee's records are in the assion, custody or control of a person as a former licensee, as the nal representative of a deceased licensee, or as a result of the fer of the business of the licensee or otherwise, those records or ments are still <i>licensee's records</i> for the purposes of this ion.	14 15 16 17 18 19
	(3)	of an opera <i>Land</i>	count on which a strata managing agent operates for or on behalf owners corporation, or on which a community managing agent tes on behalf of an association constituted under the <i>Community</i> <i>Development Act 1989</i> is taken to be an account kept by the in connection with his or her business as a licensee.	20 21 22 23 24
	(4)		Part extends to records in the possession, custody or control of a n even when the records are located outside the State.	25 26
101	Lice	ensee 1	to make and keep certain records	27
	(1)		ensee must make the following records:	28
	. *	(a)	a record containing full particulars of all transactions by or with the licensee in connection with his or her business as a licensee,	29 30
		(b)	such other records relating to the licensee's business as a licensee as may be required by the regulations.	31 32
Clause 101	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001			
------------	---			
Part 8	Records			
Division 1	Keeping and inspection of records			

	(2)	) A record required by this section must be kept for at least 3 years after it is made.	
	(3)	The record must be kept:	3
		(a) by the licensee at the licensee's registered office (while the licensee remains a licensee), or	4 5
		(b) if the licensee ceases to be a licensee, by the former licensee in his or her possession, custody or control unless the former licensee authorises some other person to have possession, custody or control of the record, or	6 7 8 9
		(c) by any other person who obtains possession, custody or control of the record whether as a result of being the personal representative of a deceased licensee or by transfer of the business of the licensee or otherwise.	10 11 12 13
	(4)	The regulations may make provision for the manner and form in which a record required by this section is to be kept.	14 15
	(5)	An entry in a record made under this section and kept at the registered office of a licensee is presumed, unless the contrary is proved, to have been made by or with the authority of the licensee.	16 17 18
	(6)	A person who contravenes a provision of this section is guilty of an offence.	19 20
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	21
102	Insp	pection of licensee's records	22
	(1)	A licensee's records are at all reasonable times open to inspection by an authorised officer.	23 24
	(2)	An authorised officer may require a person who has possession, custody or control of a licensee's records:	25 26
		(a) to produce the licensee's records for inspection,	27
		(b) to furnish all authorities and orders to financial institutions as may be reasonably required of the person.	28 29
	(3)	If a licensee is absent from an office or place of business of the licensee, any employee or agent of the licensee for the time being having the apparent control or charge of the office or place of business is taken to have possession, custody or control of the licensee's records at that office or place of business.	30 31 32 33 34

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 102	
Records	Part 8	
Keeping and inspection of records	Division 1	

(4) An authorised officer may take copies of or extracts from, or make notes from, any licensee's records produced to the authorised officer under this section and for that purpose may take temporary possession of those records.

#### 103 Inspection of records of financial institutions

- (1) An authorised officer may serve on an authorised deposit-taking institution with which a licensee has deposited any money in any account (whether the licensee's own account or a general or separate trust account) a notice, in a form approved by the Director-General and signed by the Director-General or a member of the police force:
  - (a) certifying as to the reason for serving the notice, as provided by this section, and
  - (b) requiring the authorised deposit-taking institution to produce to the authorised officer for inspection the records of the institution relating to the account.
- (2) Each of the following is a reason for serving a notice under this section:
  - (a) the licensee cannot be located,
  - (b) the licensee has left the State,
  - (c) the licensee or any other person required to do so has failed to furnish any authority or order on the institution in accordance with a requirement under this Division,
  - (d) the licensee has ceased to be a licensee.
- (3) An authorised officer may take copies of or extracts from, or make notes from, any licensee's records produced to the authorised officer under this section and for that purpose may take temporary possession of those records.

#### 104 Power to require production of licensee's records

(1) An authorised officer may give a written notice to a licensee or to another person that the officer reasonably believes has possession, custody or control of the licensee's records requiring the licensee or person to produce the licensee's records specified in the notice at the time and place specified in the notice. 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

Clause 104	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 8 Division 1	Records Keeping and inspection of records

	(2)	a not	uthorised officer may inspect any record produced in response to ice under this section and may take copies of or extracts from, or e notes from, any such record.	1 2 3
	(3)	was t	ensee does not contravene a provision of this Act if the licensee unable to comply with the provision because an authorised officer ned possession of a record or document under this section.	4 5 6
105	Pov	ver to	take possession of records to be used as evidence	7
	(1)	may neces	uthorised officer to whom any record is produced under this Part take possession of the record if the authorised officer considers it ssary to do so for the purpose of obtaining evidence or protecting ence from destruction.	8 9 10 11
	(2)	section of an	authorised officer takes possession of any record under this on, the record may be retained by the officer until the completion by proceedings (including proceedings on appeal) in which the rd may be evidence.	12 13 14 15
	(3)	a rea	person from whom the record was taken must be provided, within sonable time after the record is taken, with a copy of the record fied by an authorised officer as a true copy.	16 17 18
	(4)		py of a record provided under this section is, as evidence, of equal ity to the record of which it is certified to be a copy.	19 20
106	Add	litiona	I requirements for managing agents	21
	(1)		ata managing agent or community managing agent must keep a of the following instruments:	22 23
		(a)	an instrument of appointment appointing the agent as strata managing agent or community managing agent, and	24 25
		(b)	an instrument delegating to the agent any powers, authorities, duties or functions of an owners corporation or an association.	26 27
	(2)		py of an instrument of appointment kept under this section is a see's record for the purposes of this Part.	28 29
	(3)	In thi	is section:	30
		neigh	ciation means a community association, precinct association or abourhood association constituted under section 25 of the munity Land Development Act 1989.	31 32 33
			ers corporation means an owners corporation constituted under trata Schemes Management Act 1996.	34 35

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 107
Records	Part 8
Keeping and inspection of records	Division 1

107	Offe	ence		1
	(1)	A per	rson must not:	2
		(a)	wilfully delay or obstruct an authorised officer in the exercise of the authorised officer's functions under this Division, or	3 4
		(b)	fail to comply with a requirement under this Division to produce a record or document in the person's possession, custody, or control, or	5 6 7
		(c)	fail to comply with a requirement under this Division to furnish any authority or order reasonably required of the person under this Division or	8 9 10
		(d)	in purported compliance with a requirement under this Division produce a document or record knowing it to be false or misleading in a material particular.	11 12 13
		Maxi	imum penalty: 100 penalty units.	14
	(2)	addit recor Direc	urt that convicts a person of an offence under this section may, in ion to any penalty imposed, order the person to produce the rds in respect of which the offence occurred to the ctor-General or an authorised officer within such time as the court fies in the order.	15 16 17 18 19
	(3)	a cou a pen	rson who fails to produce a record in accordance with an order of art made under this section is guilty of an offence punishable by alty not exceeding 10 penalty units in respect of each day that the re continues.	20 21 22 23
Divis	sion 2	2	Audit of licensee's records	24
108	Rec	quirem	ent for audit	25
	(1)	A per repre	erson who is a licensee, a former licensee or the personal sentative of a licensee must, within 3 months after the end of the period applicable to the person:	26 27 28
		(a)	cause the records and documents relating to any money held during that period in a trust account kept by the person in accordance with this Act to be audited by a person qualified to act as an auditor for the purposes of this Division, and	29 30 31 32
		(b)	lodge the auditor's report on the audit with the Director-General.	33 34

Clause 108	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 8	Records
Division 2	Audit of licensee's records

	(2)	The Director-General may in a particular case or class of cases by order in writing extend the period of 3 months under subsection (1).	1 2
	(3)	The person must retain a copy of the auditor's report on the audit for a period of three years after the date on which the report was made.	3 4
	(4)	The auditor's report is to be in a form approved by the Director- General and is to be signed by the auditor.	5 6
		Maximum penalty:	7
		(a) 100 penalty units in the case of a corporation, or	8
		(b) 50 penalty units in any other case.	9
109	Auc	dit period	10
	(1)	The audit period applicable to a person is the year ending on 30 June	11
		or such other period as the Director-General may fix in respect of the	12
		person under this section.	13
	(2)	The Director-General may by order in writing served on a person fix	14
		some other period as the audit period applicable to the person.	15
	(3)	Such an order may be made on the application of the person or on the Director-General's own initiative.	16 17
	(4)	Such an order may be made with such limitations as to time or	18
		circumstances, and subject to such conditions, as the Director-General	19
		considers appropriate.	20
110	Stat	tutory declaration required when no trust money held or received	21
		A licensee who in the course of the audit period applicable to the	22
		licensee neither received nor held any money for or on behalf of any	23
		other person must, within the period of three months after that day,	24
		make and lodge with the Director-General a statutory declaration to that effect.	25 26
111	Auc	dit obligations of partners	27
		If the provisions of this Division are complied with by any one of the	28
		licensees in a partnership of licensees in relation to the audit of the	29
		records and documents of the partnership, each of those partners is taken to have complied with those provisions.	30 31
		aken to have complete with mose provisions.	51

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 112
Records	Part 8
Audit of licensee's records	Division 2

#### Qualifications of auditors

112	Qua	lificati	ons of auditors	1
	(1)		rson is qualified to act as an auditor for the purposes of this ion if the person:	2 3
		(a)	is a registered company auditor within the meaning of the <i>Corporations Act 2001</i> , or	4 5
		(b)	is a person who has been nominated by the person whose records and documents are to be audited and who has been approved by the Director-General by order in writing.	6 7 8
	(2)		a person is not qualified to act as an auditor for the purposes of Division if the person:	9 10
		(a)	is or has at any time within 2 years before the last day of the period in respect of which the audit is to be made, been an employee or partner of the person whose records or documents are to be audited, or	11 12 13 14
		(b)	is a licensee, or a shareholder in a corporation that is a licensee and that has not more than twenty shareholders.	15 16
113	Duti	ies of a	auditors	17
	(1)	Divisi been accou conce	auditor in the course of making an audit for the purposes of this ion discovers that any breach of this Act or the regulations has committed, that there is any discrepancy relating to the trust int to which the audit relates or that the records or documents irrned are not kept in such a manner as to enable them to be rly audited, the auditor must:	18 19 20 21 22 23
		(a)	fully set out the facts so discovered by the auditor in the report made by the auditor for the purposes of the audit, and	24 25
		(b)	forward a copy of the report to the Director-General.	26
	(2)	for the which	iditor, or an assistant of an auditor, appointed to make an audit e purposes of this Division must not communicate any matter in may come to the auditor's knowledge in the course of the audit y person except:	27 28 29 30
		(a)	in the course of the auditor's duties as an auditor or assistant of an auditor, or	31 32
		(b)	in accordance with this section, or	33
		(c)	in the like circumstances and to the like extent as an officer of the Department is permitted under this Act to publish that information.	34 35 36

Clause 113	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 8	Records
Division 2	Audit of licensee's records

(3) An auditor's report under this Division (including under this section) relating to documents or records of any person, and any statutory declaration lodged with the Director-General under this Division, are available in the hands of the Director-General for inspection by an auditor appointed to carry out for the purposes of this Division any subsequent audit of the records or documents of that person.

## Division 3 Freezing of accounts

114	Def	inition	IS	8
		In th	is Division:	9
		<i>account</i> means:		
		(a)	a trust account in a licensee's name with a financial institution, or	11 12
		(b)	an account in a licensee's name or in which a licensee has an interest with a financial institution, or	13 14
		(c)	another account to which trust money is deposited.	15
			<i>er</i> of an account means the licensee or other person authorised to ate on the account.	16 17
		<i>licensee</i> includes a former licensee and the personal representative of a deceased licensee.		18 19
		a lice	<i>money</i> means money received for or on behalf of any person by ensee (whether or not the money is deposited in a trust account ired to be kept by a licensee).	20 21 22
115	Dire	ector-0	General may freeze licensee's accounts in particular cases	23
	(1)	Dire	rection under this Division may be given when it appears to the ctor-General that any of the following persons has, or may have, n, misappropriated or misapplied trust money:	24 25 26
		(a)	a licensee,	27
		(b)	the person in charge of a licensee's business at a place,	28
		(c)	an employee of a licensee.	29

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 115	
Records	Part 8	
Freezing of accounts	Division 3	

	(2)	The I	Director-General may by direction in writing direct that:	1
		(a)	if a claim has been made against the Fund concerning the trust money, all or part of the amount to the credit of a specified account be paid to the Director-General, or	2 3 4
		(b)	an amount must not be drawn from a specified account other than with the Director-General's written approval, or	5 6
		(c)	a specified account may be operated only under specified conditions.	7 8
	(3)	financ	lirection must be given to each holder of the account and the cial institution at which the account is kept, and must identify the int to which it relates.	9 10 11
	(4)	•	amount paid to the Director-General pursuant to such a direction be paid into the Fund.	12 13
116	Fina	ancial	institution must comply with direction	14
	(1)	(whet	ancial institution to which a direction under this Division is given ther or not the direction has been given to anyone else) must not, the direction is in force:	15 16 17
		(a)	pay a cheque or other instrument drawn on the account concerned unless the cheque or instrument is also signed by the Director-General or a person authorised by the Director-General for the purposes of this section, or	18 19 20 21
		(b)	give effect to another transaction on the account that is not authorised because of the direction.	22 23
		Maxi	mum penalty: 500 penalty units.	24
	(2)	or oth appro	ignature of the Director-General or authorised person on a cheque her instrument is sufficient evidence of the Director-General's aval to draw an amount from the account to honour the cheque or instrument.	25 26 27 28
	(3)	finano finano	nager or principal officer in charge of an office or branch of the cial institution where an account is kept, or another officer of the cial institution, must not knowingly permit a contravention of this on by the financial institution.	29 30 31 32
		Maxin or bot	mum penalty: 100 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, th.	33 34

Clause 116	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 8	Records
Division 3	Freezing of accounts

	(4)	A person to whom a direction is given does not incur a civil liability to another person by reason only of complying with the direction.	1 2
117	Acc	ount not to be operated unless Director-General allows	3
		After a direction under this Division has been given to the holder of an account, the holder must not (while the direction remains in force) sign	4 5
		a cheque or other instrument drawn on the account unless the cheque	6
		or other instrument has first been signed by the Director-General or a	7
		person authorised by the Director-General to sign the cheque or instrument.	8 9
		Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.	10 11
118	Dire	ector-General may operate account	12
	(1)	The Director-General or a person authorised in writing by the Director-	13
	. ,	General (an <i>authorised person</i> ) may operate on an account that is the	14
		subject of a direction under this Division if the holder of the account	15
		refuses to operate the account.	16
	(2)	A statutory declaration made by the Director-General or authorised	17
		person to the effect that the account holder is refusing to operate on the	18
		account is sufficient evidence to the licensee's financial institution of	19
		that fact.	20
119	Wit	hdrawal of direction	21
	(1)	A direction remains in force until it is withdrawn.	22
	(2)	The Director-General may withdraw a direction under this Division at any time.	23 24
	(3)	When a direction is withdrawn, the Director-General is to give all persons who were given the direction a notice that the direction has been withdrawn. Failure to give notice does not affect the withdrawal of the direction.	25 26 27 28

Part 9 Complaints and disciplinary action

Complaints and disciplinary action

120

# Clause 120

1

Part 9

#### Grounds for disciplinary action 2 Disciplinary action under this Part can be taken against a person who 3 is or was the holder of a licence or certificate of registration on any one 4 or more of the following grounds: 5 the person has contravened a provision of this Act or any other (a) 6 Act administered by the Minister, or the regulations under any 7 such Act, whether or not the person has been prosecuted or 8 convicted of an offence in respect of the contravention, or 9 the person has contravened a condition of the licence or (b) 10 certificate of registration, or 11 the person has, in the course of carrying on business or (c) 12 exercising functions under the licence or certificate of 13 registration, acted unlawfully, improperly, unfairly or 14 incompetently, or 15 (d) the person is not a fit and proper person to hold a licence or 16 certificate of registration, 17 the person is not a fit and proper person to be involved in the (e) 18 direction, management or conduct of the business of a licensee, 19 (f) the person is a disqualified person, 20 (g) the person has failed to pay any part of a contribution or levy 21 that is due and payable under Part 11 (Compensation Fund), 22 (h) in the case of a licensee, there is no approved policy of 23 professional indemnity insurance in force with respect to the 24 licensee (unless the licensee is exempt under the regulations 25 from the requirement for professional indemnity insurance), 26 the person has breached an undertaking given by the person to (i) 27 the Director-General under this Act or the Fair Trading 28 Act 1987, in respect of the person's conduct of business or 29 exercise of functions under the licence or certificate of 30 registration, 31 the person has failed to comply with a direction given to the (j) 32 person by the Director-General pursuant to the taking of 33 disciplinary action under this Part, 34

Clause 120	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 9	Complaints and disciplinary action

		(k)	the person has failed to pay a monetary penalty imposed on the person by the Director-General pursuant to the taking of disciplinary action under this Part,	1 2 3
		(1)	the issue of the person's licence or certificate of registration was obtained by fraud or mistake.	4 5
121	Dis	ciplina	ry action	6
	(1)		of the following actions is disciplinary action that the Director- ral can take against a person under this Act:	7 8
		(a)	caution or reprimand the person,	9
		(b)	give a direction to the person requiring the person to give a specified undertaking to the Director-General as to the manner in which the person will conduct business or exercise functions under a licence or certificate of registration held by the person,	10 11 12 13
		(c)	give a direction to the person requiring the person to take specified action within a specified time in connection with the conduct of business or the exercise of functions under a licence or certificate of registration,	14 15 16 17
		(d)	impose a monetary penalty on the person of an amount not exceeding 100 penalty units in the case of an individual or 200 penalty units in the case of a corporation,	18 19 20
		(e)	impose a condition on the person's licence or certificate of registration,	21 22
		(f)	suspend the person's licence or certificate of registration for a period that does not exceed the unexpired term of the licence or certificate of registration,	23 24 25
		(g)	cancel the person's licence or certificate of registration,	26
		(h)	declare the person to be a disqualified person for the purposes of this Act, either permanently or for a specified period,	27 28
		(i)	disqualify the person from being involved in the direction, management or conduct of the business of a licensee.	29 30
	(2)	perso	wer conferred by this Act to take disciplinary action against a in is a power to take any one or more of the actions that constitute plinary action.	31 32 33

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 121
Complaints and disciplinary action	Part 9

(3) When a licence or certificate of registration is suspended, it is taken not to be in force except for such provisions of this Act or the regulations as the regulations may prescribe as provisions that remain applicable to a suspended licence.

# 

The Director-General may at any stage of a matter that is the subject of consideration by the Director-General under this Part determine to take no further action in respect of the matter, whether or not the

matter is the subject of a complaint or a show cause notice and whether or not the Director-General determines that there are grounds for taking disciplinary action in connection with the matter.

## 123 Complaints

- (1) Any person may make a complaint to the Director-General setting out matters that are alleged to constitute grounds for taking disciplinary action against a person under this Act.
- (2) Action can be taken under this Part whether or not a complaint has been made.

## 124 Show cause notice

Decision to take no further action

- (1) The Director-General may serve a show cause notice on a person if the Director-General is of the opinion that there is reasonable cause to believe that there are grounds for taking disciplinary action against the person.
- (2) A show cause notice is a notice requiring a person to show cause why disciplinary action should not be taken against the person under this Act on the grounds specified in the notice.
- (3) A show cause notice is to be in writing and is to specify a period of not less than 14 days after service of the notice as the period that the person to whom the notice is directed has to show cause as required by the notice.
- (4) The person on whom a show cause notice is served may within the period allowed by the notice make oral or written submissions to the Director-General in respect of the matters to which the notice relates. In the case of a corporation, submissions may be made by a director or officer of the corporation.

Clause 125	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 9	Complaints and disciplinary action

# 125 Power to suspend licence or certificate of registration when show cause notice served

(1) When a show cause notice is served on a person, the Director-General may by notice in writing to the person suspend the person's licence or certificate of registration pending a determination by the Director-General of whether to take disciplinary action under this Act against the person.

- (2) The Director-General may only suspend a licence or certificate of registration under this section if satisfied that the grounds for disciplinary action specified in the show cause notice would, if established, justify the suspension or cancellation of the licence or certificate of registration.
- (3) Such a suspension may not be imposed for a period of more than 60 days after the show cause notice is served.
- (4) The Director-General is not required to afford a person an opportunity to be heard before taking action against the person under this section.
- (5) The Director-General can revoke a suspension under this section at any time by notice in writing to the suspended person.
- (6) This section does not limit or otherwise affect any power to suspend a licence or certificate of registration under section 64A of the *Fair Trading Act 1987*.

### 126 Inquiries and investigation

The Director-General may conduct inquiries and make investigations in relation to the matters to which a show cause notice relates and the submissions, if any, made by or on behalf of the person to whom the show cause notice relates in relation to those matters, as the Director-General thinks fit.

### 127 Taking of disciplinary action

- (1) If the Director-General is satisfied that there are grounds for taking disciplinary action under this Act against a person on whom a show cause notice has been served, the Director-General may by order in writing served on the person take such disciplinary action against the person as the Director-General thinks is warranted.
- (2) The order must include a statement of the reasons for the Director-General's decision on the matter.

Compl	aints a	and disc	iplinary action	Part 9
128	Rec	overy	of monetary penalty	
		this 1		rson by disciplinary action under Director-General in a court of to the Crown.
129	Rev	view of	f disciplinary action by ADT	
		Gene Admi Direc	eral may apply to the Administration in the second strate in the second strate in the second strate in the second strate is a second strate in the second	y action is taken by the Director- tive Decisions Tribunal under the <i>Act 1997</i> for a review of the isciplinary action or on a review
130	Wa	rning I	notices	
	(1)	perso of a	ons of particular risks involved i	publication of a notice warning n dealing with a specified holder not hold a licence, in connection
	(2)	with		to the risks involved in dealing ry of unconscionable conduct in s.
	(3)		Director-General may authorise por more of the following ways:	publication of such a notice in any
		(a)	to any person making inquiri the licensee concerned,	es to the Director-General about
		(b)	by advertisement by the use of	of any medium,
		(c)	to any media representatives.	
	(4)	inves		not be authorised unless an the Director-General, whether or
	(5)	must than	give the person concerned an op	ch a notice, the Director-General oportunity for a period of not less ns to the Director-General about
		(a)		e, after making reasonable efforts a promptly and advise the person
		(b)	the person refuses to make an	y representations.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Clause 128

Clause 130	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 9	Complaints and disciplinary action

	(6) No opportunity to make representations is required to be given if, in the opinion of the Director-General, there is an immediate risk to the public.				
	(7)	No liability is incl	urred by a person for publishing in good faith:	4	
		(a) a notice un	der this section, or	5	
		(b) a fair report	rt or summary of such a notice.	6	
131	Fail	ire to comply wit	h disqualification from involvement in business	7	
			disqualified under this Part from being involved in	8	
			nagement or conduct of the business of a licensee	9	
		must not act conti	rary to the disqualification.	10	
		Maximum penalty	y:	11	
		(a) 200 penalt	y units in the case of a corporation, or	12	
		(b) 100 penalt	y units in any other case.	13	
132	Ret	rn of suspended	or cancelled licence	14	
		A person who has	s possession of a licence or certificate of registration	15	
			pended or cancelled under this Part must give the	16	
			ate of registration to an officer of the Department at	17	
			Department within 7 days after the suspension or	18	
		cancellation takes	effect.	19	
		Maximum penalty	у:	20	
		(a) 40 penalty	units in the case of a corporation, or	21	
		(b) 20 penalty	units in any other case.	22	

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 133
Management and receivership	Part 10
Preliminary	Division 1

Part	10 Ma	inagement and receivership	1
Divis	ion 1	Preliminary	2
133	Definitio	ns	3
	In th	nis Part:	4
		<i>ociate</i> , in relation to a licensee, has the meaning given to it by ion 134.	5 6
	exp	enses, in relation to management, means:	7
	(a)	the remuneration payable to the manager, or	8
	(b)	the expenses incurred in the course of the management or receivership, or	9 10
	(c)	the costs of legal proceedings involved in the management or receivership, or	11 12
	(d)	any reimbursement of the manager or receiver under this Part.	13
	failt	ure to account has the meaning given to it by section 135.	14
	lice	nsee includes:	15
	(a)	a firm of licensees, and	16
	(b)	a former licensee, and	17
	(c)	in relation to anything done or omitted by a licensee—a deceased licensee and a deceased former licensee, and	18 19
	(d)	except in relation to anything done or omitted by a licensee—the personal representative of a deceased licensee or a deceased former licensee.	20 21 22
	Acc	<i>erating Account</i> means the Department of Fair Trading Operating count or a departmental account prescribed by the regulations for purposes of this definition.	23 24 25
	pro	<i>perty</i> , in relation to a licensee, means:	26
	(a)	money or other property received by the licensee on behalf of another person in the conduct of the licensee's business, or	27 28
	(b)	interest, dividends, income, profits or other property derived from or acquired with money or other property referred to in paragraph (a), or	29 30 31

Clause 133	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 1	Preliminary

(c) documents and records of any description relating to anything referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) or to the licensee's business, or

(d) any means by which any records referred to in paragraph (c) that are not written may be reproduced in writing,

and, in relation to a licensee whose business is under management, includes any property of the business.

*receivable property* means property of a licensee or an associate of a licensee that is the subject of an order appointing a receiver, and includes property that, but for its having being taken, paid or transferred unlawfully or in breach of trust, would be receivable property.

*receiver* means a receiver appointed by the Supreme Court under this Part.

*relevant associate* means a licensee's associate of whose property a receiver has been appointed under this Part.

*relevant licensee* means a licensee of whose property a receiver has been appointed.

#### 134 Associates of a licensee

- (1) In this Part, a reference to a licensee's associate is a reference to:
  - (a) a partner of the licensee, or
  - (b) an employee or agent of the licensee, or
  - (c) a corporation, or a member of a corporation, partnership, syndicate or joint venture, in which the licensee or a person referred to in paragraph (a), (b) or (d) has a beneficial interest, or
  - (d) a person who bears a prescribed relationship to the licensee or to a person referred to in paragraphs (a)–(c), or
  - (e) a corporation that (if a person referred to in paragraphs (b)–(d) is a corporation) is a subsidiary of the person within the meaning of the *Corporations Act*, or
  - (f) a person declared by the regulations to be an associate of the licensee or belonging to a class of persons so declared.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 134
Management and receivership	Part 10
Preliminary	Division 1

	(2)		he purposes of subsection (1) (d), a person bears a prescribed onship to a licensee or other person if the relationship is that of:	1 2
		(a)	a spouse, or	3
		(b)	a de facto partner who is living or has lived with him or her as his or her wife or husband on a bona fide domestic basis although not married to him or her, or	4 5 6
		(c)	a child, grandchild, sibling, parent or grandparent, whether derived through paragraph (a) or (b) or otherwise, or	7 8
		(d)	a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.	9 10
135	Fail	ure to	account	11
	(1)		s Part, <i>failure to account</i> means a failure by a licensee to account bay or deliver money or other valuable property:	12 13
		(a)	that has been received by or entrusted to the licensee, or an associate of the licensee, in the course of the licensee's business, and	14 15 16
		(b)	that is, in the case of money or other valuable property received by or entrusted to an associate of the licensee, under the direct or indirect control of the licensee,	17 18 19
		being assoc	g a failure that arises from an act or omission of the licensee or iate.	20 21
	(2)	to mo licens is rec	reference in the definition of <i>failure to account</i> in subsection (1) oney or other valuable property received by or entrusted to a see includes a reference to money or other valuable property that reived by or entrusted to the licensee as trustee, agent, bailee or holder, or in any other capacity.	22 23 24 25 26
Divis	ion 2	2	Management	27
136	App	oointm	ent of manager	28
	(1)		Director-General may appoint a manager for a licensee's business	29
	. /		y of the following cases if the Director-General is of the opinion	30
			t is necessary to make the appointment in order to protect the ests of other persons:	31 32

Clause 136	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 2	Management

	(a)		ensee has made a request to the Director-General for the ntment of a manager, or	1 2
	(b)	the lice or	ensee's licence has been cancelled or is under suspension,	3 4
	(c)		rector-General is of the opinion that there has been, or here may have been, a failure to account by the licensee,	5 6 7
	(d)	obtain	rector-General is of the opinion that a person is unable to a payment or delivery of property held by the licensee se the licensee: is mentally or physically infirm, or is bankrupt, has applied to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, has compounded with his or her creditors or has made an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, or is an inmate within the meaning of the <i>Crimes</i> <i>(Administration of Sentences) Act 1999</i> , or has died, or has abandoned his or her business.	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
(2)	partne	rship, a	f a business that is conducted by 2 or more licensees in a reference in subsection (1) to a licensee is to be read as a all of the licensees in the partnership.	21 22 23
(3)	3) The terms of appointment of a manager must specify the remuneration to which the manager is to be entitled in connection with the management of the business for which the manager is appointed.			24 25 26
Qua	alificatio	ons for	appointment as manager	27
	busine qualif	ess unl ications	ot eligible to be appointed as the manager of a licensee's less the person is a licensee or has such other s or experience as the Director-General considers n a particular case.	28 29 30 31
Pov	vers of	manag	ger	32

- (1) The manager of a licensee's business may, subject to the terms of his or her appointment:
  - (a) carry out work on behalf of the existing clients of the business, and

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 138
Management and receivership	Part 10
Management	Division 2

		(b)	accept instructions from, and carry out work on behalf of, new clients, and	1 2
		(c)	dispose of, and otherwise deal with, any property in relation to the business, and	3 4
		(d)	exercise any right in the nature of a lien over property held by the manager on behalf of the clients of the business, and	5 6
		(e)	incur such expenses as are reasonably related to the conduct of the business, and	7 8
		(f)	do all such things as are ancillary to the exercise of the powers referred to in paragraphs (a)–(e),	9 10
		as if l	ne or she were the licensee to whom the business belongs.	11
	(2)	functi of the	nanager of a licensee's business may not exercise any of the ions conferred by this section in relation to the affairs of a client business unless the client's consent has been obtained to the ger's exercise of those functions.	12 13 14 15
139	Mar	nagem	ent continues under receivership	16
	(1)		nanager of a licensee's business may continue to exercise his or	17
			inctions under this Division even if a receiver is appointed under ion 3 in respect of the licensee's property.	18 19
	(2)	must	nanager of a licensee's business for which a receiver is appointed comply with any lawful direction given by the receiver in ection with the conduct of the business.	20 21 22
140	Act	s of m	anager taken to be acts of licensee	23
	(1)	purpo	ct done by the manager of a licensee's business is, for the oses of any proceedings or transaction that relies on that act, taken we been done by the licensee.	24 25 26
	(2)		ng in this section subjects a licensee to any personal liability in on to any act done by the manager of the licensee's business.	27 28
141	Mar	nager r	may be reimbursed for damages	29
	(1)		Director-General may reimburse a manager for any damages and	30
			recovered against the manager, or an employee or agent of the	31
			ger, for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith in the orted exercise of a function under this Act.	32 33

Clause 141	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 2	Management

(2) Reimbursement under this section is to be by way of payment from the Operating Account.

(3) Neither the manager of a licensee's business nor the Director-General is liable for any loss incurred by the licensee as a consequence of any act or omission of the manager or the Director-General in the conduct of the business if the act or omission was done or omitted in good faith and in the purported exercise of a function under this Act.

#### 142 Payment of expenses of management

- (1) So much of the expenses of the management of a licensee's business as have not otherwise been paid to the manager out of the receipts of the business are to be paid to the manager by the Director-General from the Operating Account.
- (2) An amount paid under this section is recoverable by the Director-General as a debt owed by the relevant licensee.

#### 143 Manager to report to Director-General

- (1) The manager of a licensee's business must report to the Director-General on the management of the business. A report must be made at such times as the Director-General directs and be in accordance with any directions given by the Director-General.
- (2) A report is to include such information as the Director-General directs.
- (3) On the conclusion of the management of a licensee's business, the manager must, when giving the Director-General his or her final report, lodge with the Director-General all the manager's records that relate to the management.

#### 144 Trust money

- (1) Part 8 (Records) applies to the accounts kept by a manager in the same way as it applies to the accounts kept by a licensee.
- (2) The trust accounts and controlled money accounts of a business under management are to be maintained separately from the trust accounts and controlled money accounts of any other business under management.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 145
Management and receivership	Part 10
Management	Division 2

145	Office accounts			
		The 1	regulations may make provision with respect to:	2
		(a)	the accounts that are to be kept in relation to the income	3
			accrued, and the expenses incurred, by the manager of a	4
			licensee's business in connection with the conduct of the	5
			business, and	6
		(b)	the purposes for which money in any such account may be expended.	7 8
146	Ter	minati	ion of management	9
		When	n a licensee's business ceases to be under management, any	10
			ey held by the manager in connection with the business (after	11
		reiml	bursement of any money paid out of the Operating Account in	12
		conn	ection with the management of the business and after payment of	13
		the ex	xpenses of the management of the business) becomes the property	14
		of the	e licensee.	15
147	Obs	structi	on of managers	16
		A pe	rson must not hinder, obstruct or delay a manager in the exercise	17
		of hi	s or her functions under this Division.	18
		Maxi	imum penalty: 50 penalty units.	19
Divis	ion (	3	Receivership	20
148	Sup	oreme	Court may appoint receiver	21
	(1)	The S	Supreme Court may, on the application of the Director-General,	22
		appo	int a receiver of all or any of the property of a licensee and may	23
		make	e the appointment whether or not the licensee has been notified of	24
		the a	pplication or is a party to the proceedings.	25
	(2)	Such	an application may be made by the Director-General only if:	26

the licensee has made a request to the Director-General for the

the Director-General is of the opinion that there has been, or

that there may have been, a failure to account by the licensee,

the licensee's licence has been suspended or cancelled, or

appointment of a receiver, or

(a)

(b)

(c)

or

agement and receivership vivership

		(d) and th	<ul> <li>the Director-General is of the opinion that a person is unable to obtain payment or delivery of property held by the licensee because the licensee: <ul> <li>(i) is mentally or physically infirm, or</li> <li>(ii) is bankrupt, has applied to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, has compounded with his or her creditors or has made an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, or</li> <li>(iii) is an inmate within the meaning of the <i>Crimes (Administration of Sentences) Act 1999</i>, or</li> <li>(iv) has died, or</li> <li>(v) has abandoned his or her business,</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14
		applic	eation to be made in order to protect the interests of other persons.	15
	(3)		ng in this Division prevents a manager of a licensee's business being appointed as a receiver of the licensee's property.	16 17
	(4)		Director-General may publicly notify the appointment of a ver of all or any property of a licensee.	18 19
	(5)	person	upreme Court is not to require the Director-General or any other n, as a condition of granting an application under this section, to ny undertaking as to damages or costs.	20 21 22
149	Rec	eivers	hip may extend to property of licensee's associate	23
		all or to be i	the application of a receiver, the Supreme Court is satisfied that any of the property of a licensee's associate should be declared receivable property, the Court may appoint the receiver to be the ver of all or any of that property.	24 25 26 27
150	Cou	irt to b	e closed	28
	(1)	receiv	e commencing to hear an application for the appointment of a ver, the Supreme Court may order from the precincts of the Court erson who is not:	29 30 31
		(a)	an officer of the Court, or	32
		(b)	a party, a legal representative of a party or a clerk of such a legal representative, or	33 34
		(c)	a member of the same firm of licensees as the respondent, or	35
		(d)	a person who is in the course of giving evidence, or	36

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 150
Management and receivership	Part 10
Receivership	Division 3

		(e)	an authorised officer, or	1
		(f)	a person permitted by the Court to be present in the interests of justice.	2 3
	(2)	prohi proce	Supreme Court may, whether or not at the instance of a party, ibit the publication of any report relating to the evidence or other eedings or of any order made on the hearing of an application for ppointment of a receiver.	4 5 6 7
151	Ord	ler to l	be served	8
	(1)		ne appointment of a receiver, the Director-General is to cause a of the order of appointment to be served on:	9 10
		(a)	the relevant licensee or relevant associate, and	11
		(b)	any other person on whom the Supreme Court directs a copy of the order to be served.	12 13
	(2)		Supreme Court may give directions as to the manner of service nay dispense with service if it thinks fit.	14 15
152	Rec	eiver	may take possession of property	16
	(1)		ceiver may take possession of receivable property of the relevant see or relevant associate.	17 18
	(2)	perm	rson in possession, or having control, of receivable property must it the receiver to take possession of the property if required by the ver to do so.	19 20 21
	(3)	Cour	person fails to comply with such a requirement, the Supreme t may, on the application of the receiver, order the person to er the property to the receiver.	22 23 24
	(4)		the application of a receiver, the Supreme Court is satisfied that an order has not been complied with, the Court:	25 26
		(a)	may order the seizure of any receivable property located on premises specified in the order, and	27 28
		(b)	may make such further order in the matter as it thinks fit.	29
	(5)	An o	rder under subsection (4) (a) authorises:	30
		(a)	any police officer, or	31

Clause 152	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 3	Receivership

	(b)	with a order	ceiver, or a person authorised by the receiver, together any police officer, to enter the premises specified in the and to search for, seize and remove any property that rs to be receivable property.	1 2 3 4
(6)	An ap	plicatio	on by a receiver under subsection (3) may be made:	5
	(a)	of the	case of property in the possession, or under the control, relevant licensee or relevant associate—in the name of ceiver, or	6 7 8
	(b)		y other case—in the name of the relevant licensee or int associate.	9 10
(7)			ust, as soon as possible, return property seized under this ranspires that it is not receivable property.	11 12
Info	rmatic	on abou	It receivable property	13
(1)	prope receiv	erty tha vable p	ho has information relating to receivable property, or t a receiver believes on reasonable grounds to be roperty, must give the information to the receiver if he receiver to do so.	14 15 16 17
	Maxi	mum pe	enalty: 100 penalty units.	18
(2)	with s	such a re	who has any such information may not refuse to comply equirement merely because the information was obtained e from a client or former client of the licensee.	19 20 21
(3)		ly becau	to complies with a requirement under this section is not, use of that compliance, subject to any liability, claim or	22 23 24
(4)			given to a receiver under this section is not admissible as any legal proceedings, other than:	25 26
	(a)	procee prope	edings taken by a receiver for the recovery of receivable rty, or	27 28
	(b)	proce	edings taken under this Part, or	29
	(c)	(i)	edings taken under Part 6 against a licensee: if the information was given to the receiver otherwise than by the licensee, or if the information was given to the receiver by the	30 31 32
		(ii)	if the information was given to the receiver by the licensee and is given in evidence in those proceedings with the licensee's consent.	33 34 35

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 154	
Management and receivership	Part 10	
Receivership	Division 3	

#### Stop order on account

154	Sto	p orde	er on account	1
	(1)	accou	eiver who believes on reasonable grounds that money held in an ant with an authorised deposit-taking institution is receivable erty may serve on the institution concerned an order (in this	2 3 4
			on referred to as a stop order) prohibiting operations on the	5
		accou	ant by any person other than the receiver or a person authorised e receiver.	6 7
	(2)	or ot autho has r	p order may be served by leaving it with the manager, accountant her person appearing to be in charge at the branch of the prised deposit-taking institution at which the account is kept, but no effect unless there is annexed to it a copy of the order	8 9 10 11
		11	inting the receiver.	12
	(3)		uthorised deposit-taking institution served with a stop order:	13
		(a)	must permit the receiver, or a person authorised by the receiver, to operate on the account to which the order relates, and	14 15 16
		(b)	must not permit any withdrawal from the account otherwise than by, or by the authority of, the receiver.	17 18
	(4)	order	every may transfer money from an account the subject of a stop to another account with the authorised deposit-taking institution e name of the receiver to be dealt with as receivable property.	19 20 21
	(5)		authorised deposit-taking institution has the same obligations and ctions:	22 23
		(a)	in relation to an account the subject of a stop order, and	24
		(b)	in relation to an account to which money in such an account is transferred,	25 26
		as if t	the receiver were the relevant licensee or relevant associate.	27
155	Imp	roper	dealing with property	28
		A per	rson must not, with intent to defeat the purposes of this Division:	29
		(a)	operate on an account at an authorised deposit-taking institution, or	30 31
		(b)	destroy or conceal receivable property or property that is likely to become receivable property, or	32 33

Part 10 Management and receivership	Clause 155	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
	Part 10 Division 3	Management and receivership Receivership

	(c)	destroy or conceal any document that identifies or indicates the location of receivable property or property that is likely to become receivable property, or	1 2 3
	(d)	move receivable property, or property that is likely to become receivable property, from one place to another, or	4 5
	(e)	deliver possession of receivable property, or property that is likely to become receivable property, to another person, or	6 7
	(f)	deliver control of receivable property, or property that is likely to become receivable property, to another person.	8 9
	Maxii	num penalty: 100 penalty units.	10
Rec	overy	of compensation for disposal of receivable property	11
(1)	transf	eivable property has at any time been taken by, or paid or erred to, a person unlawfully or in breach of trust in nstances in which:	12 13 14
	(a)	the person knew or believed at the time that the taking, payment or transfer was unlawful or in breach of trust, or	15 16
	(b)	there was no consideration for the taking, payment or transfer, or	17 18
	(c)	there was inadequate consideration for the taking, payment or transfer, or	19 20
	(d)	the person became indebted or otherwise liable to the relevant licensee or relevant associate, or to a client of the licensee, as a result of the taking, payment or transfer,	21 22 23
	paid o	ceiver may recover from the person, as a debt, the amount taken, or transferred, the amount of the inadequacy, the amount of the or the value of the property taken or transferred, as appropriate.	24 25 26
(2)	-	son from whom an amount is recovered under subsection (1) is able to any other person in respect of the amount.	27 28
(3)	unlaw respec	reivable property has at any time been paid or transferred fully or in breach of trust to, or for the benefit of, a person in et of a cause of action the person claims to have against another n, the receiver:	29 30 31 32
	(a)	may recover from the person as a debt the amount of the payment or the value of the property, or	33 34

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 156	
Management and receivership	Part 10	
Receivership	Division 3	

	(b)	to the extent to which the full amount or value is not recovered from the person under paragraph (a)—may take such proceedings in relation to the claimed cause of action as the person could have taken.	1 2 3 4
(4)	a caus procee	ceiver takes proceedings under subsection (3) (b) in relation to be of action claimed by a person, the receiver may not later take edings under subsection (3) (a) to recover property paid or erred to the person in respect of the same cause of action.	5 6 7 8
(5)	discha the pe the de	eivable property is used unlawfully or in breach of trust to arge a debt or liability of a person, the receiver may recover from rson as a debt the amount that was required for the discharge of ebt or liability, reduced by the value of any consideration led by the person for the discharge.	9 10 11 12 13
(6)	the re-	very proceedings under this section may be taken in the name of ceiver or in the name of any other person who, had the receiver en appointed, would have been entitled to take the proceedings.	14 15 16
Rec	eiver n	nay give certificate	17
(1)		eiver, or a person authorised by the Director-General, may give ficate as to any one or more of the following:	18 19
	(a)	the receipt of property by a licensee or a licensee's associate, the nature and value of the property received, the date of its receipt by the licensee or associate and the identity of the person from whom it was received,	20 21 22 23
	(b)	the taking or transfer of property, the nature and value of the property, the date of its taking or transfer and the identity of the person by whom it was taken or to whom it was transferred,	24 25 26
	(c)	the payment of money, the amount of money paid, the date of the payment and the identity of the person who received the payment,	27 28 29
	(d)	the entries made in the records of a licensee or a licensee's associate and the truth or falsity of the entries,	30 31
	(e)	the use of property unlawfully or in breach of trust.	32
(2)	by a	ificate under this section is admissible in any proceedings taken receiver under this Division and is evidence of the matters ied in the certificate.	33 34 35

Clause 158	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 3	Receivership

158	Rec	eiver t	taken to be beneficially entitled to property	1
	(1)	relation	eedings taken under this Division in the name of a receiver in on to any property may be so taken as if the receiver were ficially entitled to the property.	2 3 4
	(2)	perso may were	every able property has been taken by, or paid or transferred to, a on or otherwise used unlawfully or in breach of trust, a receiver take proceedings in the name of the receiver as if the receiver beneficially entitled to the property at the time the property was ken, paid, transferred or used.	5 6 7 8 9
159	Rec	eiver	may deal with property	10
	(1)	the re	every may deal with receivable property in any manner in which elevant licensee or relevant associate could, had the receiver not appointed, have dealt with it.	11 12 13
	(2)	prope	ceiver must, as soon as possible after receiving receivable erty, vest the property in the person on whose behalf it was held e relevant licensee or relevant associate.	14 15 16
160	Oth	er pov	vers of receiver	17
	(1)	A rec	ceiver may:	18
		(a)	prove, grant, claim or draw a dividend in respect of a debt that is receivable property, and	19 20
		(b)	take proceedings to recover damages for a tort committed in relation to receivable property, and	21 22
		(c)	give a receipt for money that is receivable property, and	23
		(d)	employ a person to advise or act in relation to receivable property, in the name of the receiver or in the name of the relevant licensee or relevant associate.	24 25 26
	(2)	perso	ceipt given to a person under subsection (1) (c) discharges the on from any responsibility to see to the application of the money which the receipt was given.	27 28 29
	(3)		weiver is not, in the exercise of his or her functions as a receiver, sonal representative of a deceased licensee.	30 31

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 161
Management and receivership	Part 10
Receivership	Division 3

161	Noti	ice to c	claim receivable property	1
	(1)	A rece	eiver may give notice to:	2
		(a)	the relevant licensee or relevant associate, or	3
		(b)	any other person, that any claim the licensee, associate or other person has to receivable property must be submitted to the receiver within 1 month after the giving of the notice or within such longer period as is stated in the notice.	4 5 6 7
	(2)	A clai	m submitted in response to such a notice must state:	8
		(a)	full particulars of the property, and	9
		(b)	the grounds of the claim.	10
	(3)	associ	eiver may disregard a claim made by a licensee, a licensee's ate or any other person who has been given a notice under this n if the claim is not made in accordance with the notice.	11 12 13
	(4)	The re	elevant licensee or relevant associate is not entitled:	14
		(a)	to enforce a claim to receivable property, or	15
		(b)	except against a client—to the benefit of a lien against a document that is receivable property, unless all other enforceable claims against the property have been satisfied and the expenses of the receivership paid.	16 17 18 19
162	Lier	for co	osts on receivable property	20
	(1)	may se	censee claims a lien for costs on receivable property, the receiver erve on the licensee a written notice requiring the licensee to give receiver, within a specified period of not less than 1 month:	21 22 23
		(a)	particulars sufficient to identify the property, and	24
		(b)	a detailed bill of costs.	25
	(2)	requir	otice, or a subsequent written notice served on the licensee, may e the licensee to apply for an assessment of the bill of costs a reasonable time specified in the notice.	26 27 28
	(3)	receiv assess	licensee requests the receiver in writing to allow access to able property to enable the licensee to have a bill of costs and, the time allowed for taxation does not begin to run until as is provided.	29 30 31 32

Clause 162	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 3	Receivership

(4) If a requirement of a notice under this section is not complied with, the receiver may disregard the claim in dealing with the property claimed to be subject to a lien.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

#### 163 Examination by receiver

(1) The Supreme Court may, on the application of a receiver, make such order as it thinks fit for the examination by the receiver of a licensee or other person in relation to receivable property.

#### (2) On an examination under this section:

- (a) the licensee or other person may be represented by a solicitor or barrister, and
- (b) the Supreme Court may put, or allow to be put, to the licensee or other person such questions as it thinks fit.
- (3) The licensee or other person may be examined on oath or affirmation.
- (4) The licensee or other person is compellable to answer all questions asked in the course of the examination, including any question to which an objection is made on the ground that the answer would tend to incriminate the licensee or other person.
- (5) An answer given by a licensee or other person to a question to which such an objection is made is not admissible in any criminal proceedings other than proceedings relating to the falsity of the answer.

#### 164 Property not dealt with by receiver

- (1) If receivable property under the control of the receiver has not been dealt with in accordance with this Division, the receiver must cause notice of that fact to be given to the Director-General and:
  - (a) if the Director-General so requires within 1 month after the notice is given—must transfer and deliver the property to the Director-General, or
  - (b) if no such requirement is made—must transfer and deliver the property to the relevant licensee or relevant associate.
- (2) If property other than money is transferred or delivered to the Director-General under this section, the Director-General:
  - (a) must deal with it as the Supreme Court directs, and
  - (b) if the property is sold—must treat the proceeds as money paid to the Director-General under this section.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 164
Management and receivership	Part 10
Receivership	Division 3

	(3)	The Director-General must apply money paid to the Director-General under this section:	1 2
		(a) firstly—towards the satisfaction of wholly or partly unsatisfied claims against the relevant licensee, and	3 4
		(b) secondly—in payment of the expenses of the receivership.	5
	(4)	Any money paid to the Director-General under this section that is surplus to the requirements of this section must be paid to the relevant licensee or relevant associate.	6 7 8
165	Inve	estment of money by receiver	9
	(1)	A receiver may invest receivable property in any manner in which trustees are authorised by the <i>Trustee Act 1925</i> to invest trust funds.	10 11
	(2)	Income received from an investment under this section, and any profit made on the sale of such an investment, is receivable property.	12 13
166	Rec	eiver may be reimbursed for damages	14
	(1)	The Director-General may reimburse a receiver for any damages or costs recovered against the receiver, or an employee or agent of the receiver, for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith in the purported exercise of the receiver's functions.	15 16 17 18
	(2)	Reimbursement under this section is to be by way of payment from the Operating Account.	19 20
167	Pay	ment of expenses of receivership	21
	(1)	So much of the expenses of receivership as have not otherwise been paid to the receiver are to be paid to the receiver by the Director-General from the Operating Account.	22 23 24
	(2)	An amount paid under this section may be recovered by the Director-General from the relevant licensee as a debt.	25 26
	(3)	If the Director-General and a receiver fail to agree on the remuneration to be paid to the receiver, the Supreme Court may, on the application of the Director-General or the receiver, determine the amount to be paid.	27 28 29 30
	(4)	The Supreme Court, on the application of the relevant licensee:	31
		(a) may re-open any agreement between the Director-General and a receiver for remuneration of the receiver, and	32 33

Clause 167	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 3	Receivership

		(b)	may determine the amount to be paid.	1
168	Sup	reme C	ourt may review expenses of receivership	2
	(1)		he application of the relevant licensee, the Supreme Court is	3
			d that the expenses of the receivership are excessive, the	4
			ne Court may order the taking of accounts between the or-General and the receiver.	5 6
	(2)	After the	he taking of accounts, the Supreme Court:	7
			may relieve the relevant licensee from payment of any amount in excess of that determined by the Supreme Court to be fairly payable, or	8 9 10
			if the receiver has been paid, or allowed on account, an amount	11
			that includes such an excess—may order the receiver to repay	12
			the excess.	13
169	Rec	eivable	property not to be attached	14
		The rec	ceivable property of a relevant licensee or relevant associate is	15
			ble to be taken in execution of any judgment, order or other	16
		process	s of any court or tribunal.	17
170	App	lication	s for directions by receiver, licensee etc	18
	(1)		iver, a licensee or a licensee's associate who holds receivable	19
			ty, or a person who claims receivable property so held, may	20
			o the Supreme Court for directions as to the performance of the	21
		receive	r's functions.	22
	(2)		application under this section, the Supreme Court may give	23
		such di	rections as it thinks fit.	24
171	Sup	reme C	ourt may give general directions to receiver	25
	(1)	The Su	preme Court:	26
		(a)	may authorise a receiver to do such things in the exercise of the	27
			receiver's functions as the Supreme Court considers	28
			appropriate, and	29
		(b)	may give directions for the exercise of any such authority.	30
	(2)		ver must exercise any authority so conferred in accordance with	31
		any dir	ection so given.	32

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 172
Management and receivership	Part 10
Receivership	Division 3

172	Rec	eiver	to report to Supreme Court and Director-General	1
	(1)	Supre	ceiver must, at such times and in respect of such periods as the eme Court directs, submit reports on the receivership to the eme Court and the Director-General.	2 3 4
	(2)	with	bort is to deal with such matters as the Supreme Court directs and such other matters as the receiver considers appropriate to include e report.	5 6 7
	(3)	Supre	ne conclusion of a receivership, the receiver must lodge with the eme Court all of the receiver's records that relate to the vership.	8 9 10
	(4)		ss the Supreme Court orders their destruction, records lodged r this section are to remain in the custody of the Court.	11 12
173	Ter	minati	on of appointment of receiver	13
	(1)	The S	Supreme Court:	14
		(a)	may terminate the appointment of a receiver, and	15
		(b)	may, if it thinks fit, appoint a new receiver either immediately or at any time within the next 14 days.	16 17
	(2)	The f	former receiver must transfer or deliver the receivable property:	18
		(a)	if a new receiver is appointed—to the new receiver in accordance with any directions given by the Supreme Court, or	19 20
		(b)	if a new receiver is not appointed and if the relevant licensee or relevant associate so requires by notice in writing served on the receiver—to the licensee or associate.	21 22 23
		Maxi	imum penalty: 50 penalty units.	24
	(3)	by th	receivable property must, in accordance with any directions given e Supreme Court, be transferred or delivered as soon as possible the former receiver's appointment is terminated.	25 26 27
	(4)		rmer receiver is not required to comply with the requirements of ection unless:	28 29
		(a)	the expenses of the receivership have been paid to the Director-General, or	30 31
		(b)	the Director-General otherwise directs in relation to those expenses.	32 33

Clause 173	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 10	Management and receivership
Division 3	Receivership

	may transfer or deliver receivable property to the relevant licensee or relevant associate without having been given a notice under subsection (2) (b).	2 3 4
Obstruction of receivers		

A person must not hinder, obstruct or delay a receiver in the exercise	
of his or her functions under this Division.	

Maximum penalty: 100 penalty units.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 175	
Compensation Fund	Part 11	
Establishment and management	Division 1	

Part 11 Compensation Fund						
Division 1			Establishment and management	2		
175	Cor	npens	sation Fund	3		
		the a	Director-General is to cause to be established and maintained in ccounting records of the Department a fund, called the Property ices Compensation Fund.	4 5 6		
176	Mo	ney pa	ayable to Compensation Fund	7		
		The	Compensation Fund is to consist of:	8		
		(a)	any amounts paid by licensees by way of levy under this Act, and	9 10		
		(b)	any amounts required or permitted to be paid to the credit of the Compensation Fund, whether by this Act or any other Act, and	11 12		
		(c)	any amounts payable to the Compensation Fund from the Statutory Interest Account, and	13 14		
		(d)	income from the investment of the Compensation Fund.	15		
177	Арр	olicatio	on of money in Compensation Fund	16		
	(1)		ey in the Compensation Fund may be applied for any purpose for h it is required or permitted to be applied by or under this or any Act.	17 18 19		
	(2)	Fund	Director-General may apply money held in the Compensation (in such order as the Director-General decides) for all or any of ollowing purposes:	20 21 22		
		(a)	satisfying claims (including costs) established against the Compensation Fund in accordance with this or any other Act,	23 24		
		(b)	meeting legal expenses incurred by the Director-General in connection with claims against the Compensation Fund,	25 26		
		(c)	meeting expenses incurred by the Director-General in or in relation to appearances before a court or tribunal with respect to licences under this Act or the <i>Conveyancers Licensing Act 1995</i> ,	27 28 29 30		
		(d)	meeting the costs of administering the Compensation Fund,	31		

Page 107
Clause 177	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 11	Compensation Fund
Division 1	Establishment and management

(e) investing in schemes that relate to the provision of residential accommodation or, subject to such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the regulations, in loans to authorised deposit-taking institutions.

(3) The Treasurer may determine whether any such money is to be invested in any such scheme or loan and the amount to be invested in a scheme or loan.

#### Division 2 Contributions and levies

#### 178 Contributions

- (1) A contribution to the Compensation Fund is to be paid by an applicant for a licence at the time the application is made.
- (2) The amount of the contribution is the amount prescribed by the regulations. The regulations may prescribe different amounts of contributions for different kinds of licences.
- (3) The regulations may provided for a single contribution to be paid if a person applies for more than one kind of licence.
- (4) Contributions under this section are in addition to any fees and levies payable under this Act.
- (5) If a licence is not granted pursuant to an application, any contribution to the Compensation Fund paid by the applicant is to be refunded.

#### 179 Levies

- (1) If the Director-General is at any time of the opinion that the Compensation Fund is likely to be insufficient to meet the liabilities to which it is subject, the Director-General may, with the approval of the Minister, impose a levy on each licensee.
- (2) A levy is payable to the Director-General at the time, and in the manner, fixed by the Director-General.
- (3) The Director-General may, in any special case, allow time for the payment of the whole or part of any levy.
- (4) If, after being given the notice prescribed by the regulations, a licensee fails to pay a levy in accordance with this section, the Director-General may suspend the licence held by the licensee while the failure continues.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 180	
Compensation Fund	Part 11	
Claims	Division 3	

# Division 3 Claims

180	Def	inition	S	2
		In this	s Division:	3
		assoc	<i>iate</i> of a licensee means:	4
		(a)	an employee or agent of the licensee, or	5
		(b)	a person who has the apparent control or charge for the time	6
			being of the business of the licensee or of any office at which	7
			that business is carried on.	8
		•	the to account has the meaning given in section 181.	9
		pecun	<i>uiary loss</i> from a failure to account includes:	10
		(a)	all costs (including the legal costs and disbursements of making	11
			and proving a claim), charges and expenses that a claimant has	12
			suffered or incurred as a direct consequence of the failure to account, and	13 14
		(b)	all interest on money or other valuable property that a claimant	
		(0)	would have received but for the failure to account for the	15 16
			money or other property, with that interest calculated to the date	10
			on which the Director-General determines the claimant's claim	18
			or a judgment is recovered against the Director-General in	19
			relation to the Compensation Fund in respect of that money or	20
			other property.	21
181	Mea	aning c	of "failure to account"	22
	(1)	In this	s Division, a reference to a failure to account is a reference to a	23
		failur	e by a licensee to account for money or other valuable property	24
			sted to the licensee or an associate of the licensee in the course of	25
		the lic	censee's business as a licensee.	26
	(2)		Division applies only to a failure to account that arises from an	27
		act or	omission of the licensee or associate.	28
	(3)		e purposes of this Division, it does not matter that the failure to	29
			int occurred after the licensee ceased to be licensed, if the money	30
			er valuable property concerned was entrusted to the licensee (or	31
		an ass	sociate of the licensee) before the licensee ceased to be licensed.	32

Part 11Compensation FundDivision 3Claims	Clause 181	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
		•

(4) This Division applies whether the failure to account, or the act or omission, took place before or after the commencement of this Division.

#### 182 Division applies when person reasonably believed to be a licensee

- (1) This Division extends to a case where a person entrusts money or other valuable property to another person reasonably believing that the other person is a licensee or an associate of a licensee and that the money or other valuable property is entrusted in the course of a licensee's business as licensee.
- (2) In such a case, the person believed to be a licensee is taken to be a licensee for the purposes of the operation of this Division and the money or other valuable property is taken to have been entrusted in the course of the licensee's business as licensee.

#### 183 Claims against Compensation Fund

- (1) The Compensation Fund is held, and is to be applied, for the purpose of compensating persons who suffer pecuniary loss because of a failure to account.
- (2) A person who claims to have suffered a pecuniary loss because of a failure to account may make a claim against the Compensation Fund, but only if the claim is made in writing to the Director-General within:
  - (a) a period of 12 months after the person has become aware of the failure to account, or
  - (b) a period of 2 years after the date of the failure to account,

whichever period ends first.

- (3) However, a claim caused by a failure of a licensee (or an employee or agent of a licensee) to lodge a rental bond with the Rental Bond Board may also be made at any time within one year after the termination of the tenancy agreement.
- (4) A licensee does not have a claim against the Compensation Fund in respect of a pecuniary loss suffered in connection with the licensee's business as a licensee because of a failure to account.
- (5) Subject to this section, the Director-General may receive and allow, in whole or in part, any claim against the Compensation Fund at any time after the relevant failure to account arose.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 183	
Compensation Fund	Part 11	
Claims	Division 3	

(6) The Director-General may disallow any claim, in whole or in part, in appropriate cases. In particular the Director-General may disallow a claim to the extent that pecuniary loss was suffered as a result of a failure to mitigate loss or was occasioned by unreasonable delay in making a claim.

#### 184 Legal proceedings

- (1) A person cannot, without the leave of the Director-General, commence any proceedings in relation to the Compensation Fund unless the person has made a claim and the Director-General has disallowed the person's claim.
- (2) A person cannot recover from the Compensation Fund by way of any such proceedings an amount greater than the amount of pecuniary loss suffered by the person, after deducting from the total amount of the pecuniary loss:
  - (a) the amount or value of all money or other benefits received or recovered from any source (other than the Compensation Fund) in reduction of the pecuniary loss, and
  - (b) any such amount or value that, in the opinion of the Director-General, might have been received or recovered but for the person's neglect or default.
- (3) Any proceedings in relation to any claim against the Compensation Fund are to be as for a debt due by the Crown and are to be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction. The proceedings do not lie against the Director-General.
- (4) In those proceedings:
  - (a) all defences that would have been available to the licensee in relation to whom the claim arose are available to the Crown, and
  - (b) all questions of costs are in the discretion of the court or, where the proceedings are tried with a jury, the judge presiding at the trial.
- (5) Any order for the payment of costs made by a Local Court operates as a judgment debt under the *Local Courts (Civil Claims) Act 1970* and is enforceable as such under that Act.

Clause 184	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 11	Compensation Fund
Division 3	Claims

(6)	(6) No proceedings can be brought against the Crown in relation to a claim against the Compensation Fund after the end of:	
	(a)	a period of 6 months after the claimant has been notified that the claim has been disallowed, or
	(b)	such longer period as the court may permit, on sufficient cause being shown and on such terms as it thinks fit.

#### 185 Limits on amounts recoverable

- (1) The amount that a person may recover from the Compensation Fund cannot, in any case or in any event, exceed \$500,000 or, if another amount is prescribed by the regulations, the prescribed amount.
- (2) The aggregate sum that may be applied in compensating all persons who suffer or incur pecuniary loss because of a failure to account, or of related failures to account, cannot exceed \$2,000,000 or, if another amount is prescribed by the regulations, the prescribed amount.
- (3) The Director-General may disregard subsection (2) in the case of successive failures to account by a licensee, to the extent that the Director-General is satisfied that the failures are not connected.
- (4) If the total amount of claims or judgments (or both) exceeds the aggregate sum provided for by this section, the Director-General has an unfettered discretion to determine the division and allocation of the available money among the various parties (whether or not to the exclusion of any one or more of them).

#### 186 Advertisements

- (1) The Director-General may cause to be published a notice relating to a defaulting licensee and fixing a date within which claims must be made under this Part.
- (2) The notice is to be published in a newspaper circulating in the district in which the defaulting licensee is or was carrying on business, and also in a newspaper circulating in Sydney. One newspaper may satisfy both requirements.
- (3) Any claim not made in writing on or before the date fixed by the notice is barred, unless the Director-General otherwise determines.
- (4) After that date, the Director-General may distribute compensation in accordance with this Part, having regard only to judgments obtained and claims allowed against the Compensation Fund.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 187
Compensation Fund	Part 11
Claims	Division 3

#### 187 Subrogation

- (1) On payment out of the Compensation Fund in settlement in whole or in part of a claim under this Act, the Crown is subrogated, to the extent of the payment, to all the rights and remedies of the claimant against the licensee, or the former licensee, in relation to whom the claim arose, or any other person.
- (2) A certificate given by the Director-General certifying that a specified amount has been paid out of the Compensation Fund in settlement in whole or in part of a claim under this Act is evidence of the matter certified.
- (3) In the enforcement of any rights or remedies to which the Director-General is subrogated under this section for the purpose of recovering an amount paid out of the Compensation Fund, the amount is taken to be a debt due to the Crown and may be recovered accordingly.

#### 188 Recovery of payments from directors

- (1) This section applies when the payment of an amount out of the Compensation Fund has been made as a consequence of the act or omission of a body corporate (including the payment of any amount to an administrator of the affairs and property of the body corporate).
- (2) The Director-General may recover, jointly or severally, from any person who was a director or persons who were directors of the body corporate at the time of the relevant act or omission, the amount of the payment as a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) In any proceedings for the recovery of an amount under this section, judgment is not to be entered against a defendant who proves that the act or omission occurred without the defendant's express or implied authority or consent.
- (4) Proceedings may be brought for the recovery of an amount under this section whether or not the person against whom the proceedings are brought, or any other person, has been convicted of an offence in respect of the act or omission as a consequence of which the amount was paid.

Page 113

Clause 188	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 11	Compensation Fund
Division 3	Claims

(5) When this section renders a person or persons liable to pay an amount as a consequence of an act or omission of a body corporate, the payment by the person or either or any of those persons of the whole or any part of the amount does not render the body corporate liable to the person concerned in respect of the amount so paid.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

#### 189 Production of documents

- (1) The Director-General may, at any time and from time to time, require the production of documents necessary to support any claim under this Act, or available for that purpose, or for the purpose of exercising functions in respect of a defaulting licensee.
- (2) The Director-General may reject a claim if documents are not produced as required.

#### 190 Satisfaction of claims and judgments

- (1) A claim or judgment against the Compensation Fund can only be satisfied to the extent of money in the Compensation Fund (either then or at a later time). No other money or property (whether of the Crown or otherwise) is available for that purpose.
- (2) If a number of claims or judgments (or both) against the Compensation Fund cannot be satisfied because of an insufficiency of money in the Compensation Fund, the Director-General has an unfettered discretion to determine the division and allocation of the available money among the various parties (whether or not to the exclusion of any one or more of them).

# Division 4 Examination of accounts of licensees and former licensees

191	Definitions	26
	In this Division:	27
	<i>accounts examiner</i> means a person appointed as an accounts examiner under this Division.	28 29
	associate has the same meaning as in Division 3.	30

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 192	
Compensation Fund	Part 11	
Examination of accounts of licensees and former licensees	Division 4	

#### 192 Appointment of accounts examiner to examine licensee's accounts

- (1) For the purpose of safeguarding the Compensation Fund in relation to the affairs of a licensee, the Director-General may, at any time and from time to time, appoint an appropriately qualified person as an accounts examiner to examine the accounts kept by the licensee in connection with the licensee's business.
- (2) A person is appropriately qualified for appointment if the person has such qualifications or experience as in the opinion of the Director-General are appropriate for the purpose of exercising functions under this Division.
- (3) The appointment of an accounts examiner is to be by instrument in writing.
- (4) The Director-General may publicly notify the appointment of an accounts examiner in relation to the accounts of a licensee.

#### 193 Accounts examiner to report on accounts

- (1) An accounts examiner is to furnish to the Director-General a confidential report about the accounts concerned, indicating whether there is any irregularity or alleged or suspected irregularity in the accounts or any other matter that in the person's opinion should, in the interests of the Compensation Fund, be further investigated.
- (2) A copy of the report is required to be sent by post by the Director-General to the licensee as soon as practicable.

#### 194 Powers of accounts examiner

- (1) On production by an accounts examiner of his or her instrument of appointment, the accounts examiner may require the licensee (or, in the absence of the licensee, an associate of the licensee) to do any one or more of the following things:
  - (a) produce to the accounts examiner or any assistant of the accounts examiner all books, papers, accounts, securities or other documents relating to the business of the licensee, or
  - (b) produce to the accounts examiner or any assistant of the accounts examiner any written record made and kept by the licensee under this Act, or
  - (c) give the accounts examiner or any assistant of the accounts examiner all information relating to any material required to be produced under this section, or

Clause 194	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 11	Compensation Fund
Division 4	Examination of accounts of licensees and former licensees

(d) produce to the accounts examiner or any assistant of the accounts examiner all authorities and orders to financial institutions and other documents that may be reasonably required.

- (2) The licensee or associate is guilty of an offence if the licensee or associate, without lawful justification or excuse (proof of which lies on the licensee or associate):
  - (a) refuses or fails to comply with a requirement under this section, or
  - (b) otherwise hinders, obstructs or delays an accounts examiner in the exercise or performance of the accounts examiner's functions under this sections.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

#### 195 Confidentiality

- (1) An accounts examiner must not communicate to any person (other than a partner, employer, employee or assistant of the accounts examiner):
  - (a) the fact of the accounts examiner's appointment under this Division, or
  - (b) any matter that comes to the accounts examiner's knowledge in the course of the examination,

except in the course of preparing and furnishing the report to the Director-General or in the same circumstances as information obtained in connection with the administration or execution of this Act can be disclosed under section 215.

- (2) A partner, employer, employee or assistant (*the colleague*) of the accounts examiner must not communicate to any person (other than the accounts examiner or a partner, employer, employee or assistant of the accounts examiner):
  - (a) the fact of the accounts examiner's appointment under this Division, or
  - (b) any matter that comes to the colleague's knowledge in the course of the examination,

except in the course of the preparing and furnishing of the report to the Director-General or in the same circumstances as information obtained

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 195	
Compensation Fund	Part 11	
Examination of accounts of licensees and former licensees	Division 4	

	in connection with the administration or execution of this Act can be disclosed under section 215.	1 2
(3)	A person who contravenes this section is guilty of an offence.	3
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.	4
For	mer licensees	5
	This Division extends, with any necessary adaptations, to a former	6
	licensee, so that a reference in this Division to a licensee includes a	7
	reference to a former licensee and any person who has the possession,	8
	custody or control of a written record relating to a former licensee and	9
	preserved in accordance with this Act.	10

Clause 197	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 12	Property Services Statutory Interest Account

## Part 12 Property Services Statutory Interest Account

197	Statutory	Interest	Account
101	olucatory	111101001	Account

The Director-General is to cause to be established and maintained in the accounting records of the Department an account called the Property Services Statutory Interest Account.

-----

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

#### 198 Money payable to Statutory Interest Account

The Statutory Interest Account is to consist of:

- (a) any money required or permitted to be paid to the credit of the Statutory Interest Account, whether by this Act or any other Act, and
- (b) income from the investment of the Statutory Interest Account.

#### 199 Application of money in Statutory Interest Account

- (1) Money in the Statutory Interest Account may be applied for any purpose for which it is required or permitted to be applied by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Director-General may, with the consent of the Minister, apply money held in the Statutory Interest Account for all or any of the following purposes:
  - (a) supplementing the Compensation Fund by such amount as may be needed to enable the current liabilities of the fund to be met,
  - (b) providing grants or loans for providing or undertaking education or research programs relating to the property services industry (as defined in section 25I of the *Fair Trading Act 1987*) and approved by the Minister,
  - (c) meeting the costs of administering this Act, the *Conveyancers Licensing Act 1995*, the *Valuers Registration Act 1975* and any other Act prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this paragraph (or the prescribed provisions of any other Act),
  - (d) meeting the costs of the administration of the Property Services Advisory Council,
  - (e) meeting the costs of operating a scheme or schemes for resolving disputes arising between consumers and providers of property services,

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 199
Property Services Statutory Interest Account	Part 12

- (f) investing in schemes that relate to the provision of residential accommodation or, subject to such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the regulations, in loans to authorised deposit-taking institutions.
- (3) The Treasurer may determine whether any such money is to be invested in any such scheme or loan and the amount to be invested in a scheme or loan.
- (4) In this section:

*property services* means services provided in the property services industry as defined in section 25I of the *Fair Trading Act 1987*.

#### 200 Application of money for purposes of certain Acts

- (1) The following amounts are also payable from the Statutory Interest Account:
  - (a) such contributions towards the costs, charges and expenses of administration of the *Residential Tenancies Act 1987*, the *Consumer, Trader and Tenancy Tribunal Act 2001* and the *Residential Parks Act 1998* as may be agreed from time to time by the Minister and the Ministers administering the Landlord and Tenant (Rental Bonds) Act 1977, the Residential Tenancies Act 1987, the Consumer, Trader and Tenancy Tribunal Act 2001 and the Residential Parks Act 1998,
  - (b) such contributions towards the costs, charges and expenses of the administration of the *Retirement Villages Act 1999* as may be authorised by the Director-General with the consent of the Minister,
  - (c) such contributions as may be agreed by the Minister and the Minister administering the *Fair Trading Act 1987* towards the costs, charges and expenses of the administration of that Act,
  - (d) such contributions as may be agreed by the Minister and the Minister administering the Strata Schemes Management Act 1996 and Community Land Management Act 1989 towards the costs, charges and expenses of the administration of those Acts.
- (2) Contributions referred to in this section are to be paid in the manner determined by the Treasurer.

Part 13 Enforcement

# Part 13 Enforcement

201	Aut	horise	d officers	2
	(1)	In this	s Act:	3
		autho	rised officer means:	4
		(a)	an officer of the Department for the time being appointed under this Part as an authorised officer, or	5 6
		(b)	an investigator appointed under section 18 of the <i>Fair Trading Act 1987</i> , or	7 8
		(c)	a police officer.	9
	(2)		Director-General may appoint any officer of the Department as an rised officer for the purposes of this Act.	10 11
	(3)		thorised officer who is not a police officer is to be provided by irector-General with a certificate of identification.	12 13
	(4)	exerci under	uthorised officer (other than a police officer) must, when ising on any premises any function of the authorised officer this Act, produce the officer's certificate of identification to any n apparently in charge of the premises who requests its action.	14 15 16 17 18
202	Pur	poses	for which powers of authorised officers can be exercised	19
			thorised officer may exercise the powers conferred by this Part e purpose of:	20 21
		(a)	ascertaining whether the provisions of this Act or the regulations are being complied with or have been contravened, or	22 23 24
		(b)	investigating a complaint made or intended to be made under this Act.	25 26
203	Pov	vers of	entry, inspection etc	27
	(1)	premi the ca	thorised officer may enter and inspect at any reasonable time any ses that the officer believes on reasonable grounds are used for rrying on of the business of an agent, whether or not the business ng carried on by the holder of a licence.	28 29 30 31

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 203
Enforcement	Part 13

	(2)	a sear	e on premises entered under this section or under the authority of ch warrant under this Part, an authorised officer may do any one re of the following:	1 2 3
		(a)	require any person on those premises to produce any records in the possession or under the control of that person relating to the carrying on of the business of an agent,	4 5 6
		(b)	inspect, take copies of or extracts from, or make notes from, any such records, and for that purpose may take temporary possession of any such records,	7 8 9
		(c)	take possession of any such records if the authorised officer considers it necessary to do so for the purpose of obtaining evidence or protecting evidence from destruction,	10 11 12
		(d)	take such photographs, films and audio, video and other recordings as the authorised officer considers necessary,	13 14
		(e)	require any person on those premises to answer questions or otherwise furnish information in relation to the carrying on of the practice of the business of an agent or a contravention of a provision of this Act or the regulations,	15 16 17 18
		(f)	require the owner or occupier of those premises to provide the authorised officer with such assistance and facilities as is or are reasonably necessary to enable the authorised officer to exercise the functions of an authorised officer under this section.	19 20 21 22
	(3)		thorised officer is not entitled to enter a part of premises used for ential purposes, except:	23 24
		(a)	with the consent of the occupier of the part, or	25
		(b)	a part of premises on which an auction of residential property is being conducted, or	26 27
		(c)	under the authority of a search warrant.	28
204	Obs	structio	on etc of authorised officers	29
		A per	son must not:	30
		(a)	without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to comply with any requirement made or to answer any question asked by an authorised officer under the authority of this Part, or	31 32 33
		(b)	wilfully delay, hinder or obstruct an authorised officer in the exercise of the officer's functions under this Part, or	34 35

Clause 204	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 13	Enforcement

		(c)	furnish an authorised officer exercising functions under this Part with information knowing it to be false or misleading in a material particular.	1 2 3
		Maxin or bot	mum penalty: 100 penalty units or imprisonment for 6 months, th.	4 5
205	Tak	ing po	ssession of records to be used as evidence	6
	(1)	for the destruction of the destr	authorised officer takes possession of any records under this Part are purpose of obtaining evidence or protecting evidence from action, they may be retained by the officer until the completion of roceedings (including proceedings on appeal) in which they may idence.	7 8 9 10 11
	(2)	a reas	erson from whom the records are taken must be provided, within onable time after the records are taken, with a copy of the records ed by an authorised officer as a true copy.	12 13 14
	(3)		by of records provided under this section is, as evidence, of equal ty to the records of which it is certified to be a copy.	15 16
206	Sea	rch wa	arrants	17
	(1)		thorised officer may apply to an authorised justice for the issue earch warrant for premises if the officer believes on reasonable ds:	18 19 20
		(a)	that a provision of this Act or the regulations is being or has been contravened on the premises, or	21 22
		(b)	that there is on the premises evidence of a contravention of a provision of this Act or the regulations.	23 24
	(2)	satisfi	thorised justice to whom such an application is made may, if ed that there are reasonable grounds for doing so, issue a search nt authorising an authorised officer named in the warrant:	25 26 27
		(a)	to enter and inspect the premises, and	28
		(b)	to exercise on the premises any function of an authorised officer under this Part.	29 30
	(3)		B of the <i>Search Warrants Act 1985</i> applies to a search warrant I under this section.	31 32
	(4)		s section, <i>authorised justice</i> has the same meaning as in the <i>h Warrants Act 1985</i> .	33 34

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 207
Enforcement	Part 13

#### Injunctions

(1)	On the application of the Director-General, the Supreme Court may	2
	grant an injunction restraining a threatened or apprehended	3
	contravention, or the continuation of a contravention, of a provision of	4
	this Act or the regulations.	5
(2)	An injunction may be granted without the Director-General being	6
	required to show a likelihood of damage.	7
(3)	If in the opinion of the Court it is desirable to do so, the Court may	8
	grant an interim injunction pending determination of the application.	9
(4)	When the Director-General makes an application for the grant of an	10

- (4) When the Director-General makes an application for the grant of an injunction under this section, the Court is not to require the Director-General or any other person, as a condition of granting an interim injunction, to give an undertaking as to damages.
- (5) This section does not limit any provision of the Fair Trading Act 1987.

Clause 208	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 14	Offences and proceedings
Division 1	Offences

### Part 14 Offences and proceedings

#### Division 1 Offences

# 208 Fraudulent conversion and false accounts of money received by licensee or registered person (1) This section applies to: (a) any money received by a licensee or registered person on behalf of any person in respect of any transaction in the

(b) any money so received that is held by the licensee or registered person as a stakeholder or in trust pending the completion of any transaction.

registered person, or any part of any such money, and

licensee's or registered person's capacity as a licensee or

- (2) If the licensee or registered person fraudulently converts the money or any part of that money to his or her own use or to the use of any other person, the licensee or registered person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.
- (3) If the licensee or registered person fraudulently omits to account for, deliver or pay the money or any part of the money to the person from whom it was received or to the person or persons entitled to it, the licensee or registered person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.
- (4) If the licensee or registered person fraudulently renders an account of the money or any part of the money knowing the account to be false in any material particular, the licensee or registered person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.
- (5) On the prosecution of a person for an offence under this section it is not necessary to prove the fraudulent conversion by the accused of any specific sum of money if there is proof of a general deficiency on the examination of the books of account, or entries kept, or made by the accused, or otherwise, and the jury are satisfied that the accused fraudulently converted the deficient money or any part of it.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 209	
Offences and proceedings	Part 14	
Offences	Division 1	

209	Fra	udulent accounts for expenses, commission and other charges	1
		If a licensee or registered person fraudulently renders an account of	2
		expenses, commission or other charges incidental to any transaction or	3
		proposed or contemplated transaction as a licensee or registered person	4
		knowing the account to be false in any material particular, the licensee	5
		or registered person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.	6 7
		imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.	1
210	Оре	eration of Crimes Act not affected	8
		Nothing in this Division affects the generality of any provisions of the	9
		Crimes Act 1900.	10
Divis	ion 2	2 Proceedings	11
211	Pro	ceedings for offences	12
	(1)	Proceedings for an offence under this Act or the regulations may be	13
		taken and prosecuted only by the Director-General or, in the name of	14
		the Director-General, by a person acting with the authority of the	15
		Director-General.	16
	(2)	Proceedings for an offence under this Act or the regulations may be	17
		dealt with:	18
		(a) summarily before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate	19
		sitting alone, or	20
		(b) summarily before the Supreme Court in its summary	21
		jurisdiction.	22
	(3)	If proceedings are brought in a Local Court, the maximum monetary	23
	(- )	penalty that the Local Court may impose for the offence is 100 penalty	24
		units or such other amount as may be prescribed by the regulations,	25
		despite any higher maximum monetary penalty provided in respect of	26
		the offence.	27
	(4)	Despite any proceedings against a person for an offence against this	28
	. /	Act or the regulations (whether resulting in a conviction or otherwise)	29
		the person remains liable to civil proceedings in the same manner as	30
		if the proceedings for an offence had not been taken.	31

Clause 212	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 14 Division 2	Offences and proceedings Proceedings
DIVISION	T Toceedings

#### 212 Penalty notices

(1) An authorised officer may serve a penalty notice on a person if it appears to the officer that the person has committed an offence against this Act or the regulations, being an offence prescribed by the regulations as a penalty notice offence. 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

- (2) A penalty notice is a notice to the effect that, if the person served does not wish to have the matter determined by a court, the person can pay, within the time and to the person specified in the notice, the amount of the penalty prescribed by the regulations for the offence if dealt with under this section.
- (3) A penalty notice may be served personally or by post.
- (4) If the amount of penalty prescribed for an alleged offence is paid under this section, no person is liable to any further proceedings for the alleged offence.
- (5) Payment under this section is not to be regarded as an admission of liability for the purpose of, and does not in any way affect or prejudice, any civil claim, action or proceeding arising out of the same occurrence.
- (6) The regulations may:
  - (a) prescribe an offence for the purposes of this section by specifying the offence or by referring to the provision creating the offence, and
  - (b) prescribe the amount of penalty payable for the offence if dealt with under this section, and
  - (c) prescribe different amounts of penalties for different offences or classes of offences.
- (7) The amount of a penalty prescribed under this section for an offence is not to exceed the maximum amount of penalty that could be imposed for the offence by a court.
- (8) This section does not limit the operation of any other provision of, or made under, this or any other Act relating to proceedings that may be taken in respect of offences.
- (9) In this section:

*authorised officer* means a person authorised in writing by the Director-General as an authorised officer for the purposes of this section.

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 213	
Offences and proceedings	Part 14	
Proceedings	Division 2	

#### 213 Time for laying information

Proceedings for an offence against this Act (other than proceedings that are to be dealt with on indictment) or the regulations may be commenced within 3 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.

#### 214 Offences by corporations

- (1) If a corporation contravenes, whether by act or omission, any provision of this Act or the regulations, each director of the corporation, and each person concerned in the management of the corporation, is taken to have contravened the same provision unless the director or person satisfies the court that:
  - (a) he or she was not in a position to influence the conduct of the corporation in relation to its contravention of the provision, or
  - (b) he or she, being in such a position, used all due diligence to prevent the contravention by the corporation.
- (2) A person may be proceeded against and convicted under a provision pursuant to subsection (1) whether or not the corporation has been proceeded against or been convicted under that provision.
- (3) Nothing in subsection (1) prejudices or affects any liability imposed by a provision of this Act or the regulations on any corporation by which an offence against the provision is actually committed.

Part 15 Administration

## Part 15 Administration

#### 215 Disclosure of information

(1)	<ol> <li>A person must not disclose any information obtained in connec with the administration or execution of this Act unless that disclo is made:</li> </ol>		
	(a)	with the consent of the person from whom the information was obtained, or	
	(b)	in connection with the administration or execution of this Act, or	
	(c)	for the purposes of any legal proceedings arising out of this Act or of any report of any such proceedings, or	
	(d)	in accordance with a requirement imposed under the Ombudsman Act 1974, or	
	(e)	to a regulatory officer or law enforcement officer, for the purposes of assisting the officer in the exercise of the officer's functions, or	
	(f)	as otherwise authorised by this section or the regulations, or	
	(g)	with other lawful excuse.	
	Maxir both.	num penalty: 20 penalty units or imprisonment for 6 months, or	

- (2) The Director-General may communicate to any person directly concerned in any transaction with a licensee in connection with his or her business as a licensee any information furnished to the Director-General in connection with the administration or execution of this Act, in so far as it relates to any such transaction and directly concerns any such person.
- (3) The Director-General may request and receive information from a law enforcement officer or regulatory officer for the purpose of assisting the Director-General in the exercise of functions under this Act or under any other Act administered by the Minister.
- (4) The Director-General may enter into agreements and other arrangements for the sharing or exchange of information as authorised by this section.

Administration

216

Part 15

(5)	In this	s section:	1		
	<i>law enforcement officer</i> means:				
	<ul> <li>(a) a member of the Police Service, the Australian Federal Police or of the police force of another State or a Territory, or</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>(b) the Director of Public Prosecutions or the Crown Prosecutor of the State or the Director of Public Prosecutions or the Crown Prosecutor of the Commonwealth or of another State or Territory, or</li> </ul>				
	(c)	any other person, or officer of an authority, responsible for the investigation or prosecution of offences under laws of the State, the Commonwealth, another State or a Territory.	9 10 11		
	<i>regulatory officer</i> means an officer or employee of a government agency (including the government of a jurisdiction outside the State and outside Australia) exercising functions under an enactment with respect to fair trading or an enactment that provides for the issue of licences or other authorities in connection with the undertaking of an activity regulated under the enactment.				
Reg	ister		18		
(1)	<ol> <li>The Director-General is to maintain a Register for the purposes of this Act and is to enter and keep in the Register particulars of such of the following as the regulations may require:</li> </ol>				
	(a)	the licences and certificates of registration issued under this Act,	22 23		
	(b)	prosecutions taken under this Act and the result of those prosecutions,	24 25		
	(c)	penalty notices issued under this Act,	26		
	(d)	warning notices that the Director-General has authorised publication of under this Act,	27 28		
	(e)	formal cautions issued under this Act,	29		
	(f)	disciplinary action taken under this Act,	30		
	(g)	undertakings given under this Act by the holder of a licence or certificate of registration,	31 32		
	(h)	the appointment of a manager or receiver under this Act,	33		
	(i)	such other matters as may be prescribed by the regulations.	34		

Clause 216	Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001
Part 15	Administration

(2) Any person is entitled to inspect any entry in the Register on payment of such fee as the Director-General may determine for the giving of access to the Register.

#### 217 Certificate evidence

A document purporting to be a certificate signed by the Director-General and certifying that any person is or is not or was or was not on any date or during any specified period the holder of a licence of a specified class or the holder of a certificate of registration is evidence of the matters certified in all courts and before all persons and bodies authorised by law to receive evidence.

#### 218 Delegation

The Director-General may delegate the exercise of any function of the Director-General under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to:

- (a) any public servant employed in the Department of Fair Trading, or
- (b) any person, or any class of persons, authorised for the purposes of this section by the regulations.

Miscellaneous

Clause 219

Part 16

# Part 16 Miscellaneous

219	Fair	Tradi	ng Act not affected	2	
			Act does not limit or otherwise affect the exercise of any function r the <i>Fair Trading Act 1987</i> .	3 4	
220	Ser	Service of notices			
	(1)		tice or direction in writing that is required or permitted to be a under this Act may be given as provided by this section.	6 7	
	(2)	A no corpo	tice or direction may be given to a person other than a body orate:	8 9	
		(a)	by giving it to the person himself or herself, or	10	
		(b)	by leaving it at his or her place of residence with someone who apparently resides there and has apparently reached the age of 16 years, or	11 12 13	
		(c)	by leaving it at his or her place of employment or business with someone who is apparently employed there and has apparently reached the age of 16 years, or	14 15 16	
		(d)	by posting it in a letter addressed to him or her at the address last known to the Director-General of his or her place of residence, employment or business.	17 18 19	
	(3)	A no	tice or direction may be given to a body corporate:	20	
		(a)	by giving it to the secretary of the body corporate, or any other person concerned in the management of the body corporate, personally, or	21 22 23	
		(b)	by leaving it at the body corporate's only or principal place of business with someone who is apparently employed there and has apparently reached the age of 16 years, or	24 25 26	
		(c)	by posting it in a letter addressed to the body corporate at the address last known to the Director-General of its only or principal place of business.	27 28 29	
	(4)	This	section does not limit any provision of the Corporations Act.	30	

#### Clause 221 Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001

Part 16 Miscellaneous

221	Rep	beals		1
	(1)	The	Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941 is repealed.	2
	(2)		Property, Stock and Business Agents (General) Regulation 1993 pealed.	3 4
222	Sav	vings a	and transitional provisions	5
		Sche	edule 1 has effect.	6
223	Cor	nsequ	ential amendments of Acts	7
		Sche	edule 2 has effect.	8
224	Rec	gulatic	ons	9
	(1)	for operm	Governor may make regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, or with respect to any matter that by this Act is required or nitted to be prescribed or that is necessary or convenient to be cribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.	10 11 12 13
	(2)	In pa	rticular the Governor may make regulations for or with respect to:	14
		(a)	prescribing the procedure to be followed in respect of applications under this Act,	15 16
		(b)	fixing the maximum amount of remuneration to which a licensee is entitled, by way of commission, fee, gain or reward, for services performed by him or her as a licensee,	17 18 19
		(c)	requiring licensees to display or otherwise publicise or give notice of particulars of their remuneration and prescribe the consequences of a failure to comply with any such requirement,	20 21 22 23
		(d)	prescribing the accounts and other records to be kept by a licensee and the manner in which they are to be kept,	24 25
		(e)	prescribing the conditions applicable to and in respect of the sale by auction of land or livestock,	26 27
		(f)	prescribing the manner in which the conditions of the sale by auction of land or livestock must be notified,	28 29
		(g)	prescribing exemptions from requirements of this Act.	30
	(3)	exce	egulation may create an offence punishable by a penalty not eding 40 penalty units in the case of a body corporate or 20 lty units in any other case.	31 32 33

Property, Stock and Business Agents Bill 2001	Clause 225
Miscellaneous	Part 16

#### **Review of Act**

Review of Act		1
(1)	The Minister is to review this Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives.	2 3 4
(2)	The review is to be undertaken as soon as possible after the period of 5 years from the date of assent to this Act.	5 6
(3)	A report on the outcome of the review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 12 months after the end of the period of 5 years.	7 8

Schedule 1	Savings a	and transitional	provisions
------------	-----------	------------------	------------

			(Section 222)	2
1	Def	inition	1	3
		In thi	is Schedule:	4
		<b>repe</b> Act 1	aled Act means the Property, Stock and Business Agents 1941.	5 6
2	Reg	gulatio	ons	7
	(1)	trans	regulations may contain provisions of a savings or itional nature consequent on the enactment of the wing Acts:	8 9 10
		this A	Act	11
	(2)		such provision may, if the regulations so provide, take t from the date of assent to the Act concerned or a later	12 13 14
	(3)	date	the extent to which any such provision takes effect from a that is earlier than the date of its publication in the ette, the provision does not operate so as:	15 16 17
		(a)	to affect, in a manner prejudicial to any person (other than the State or an authority of the State), the rights of that person existing before the date of its publication, or	18 19 20
		(b)	to impose liabilities on any person (other than the State or an authority of the State) in respect of anything done or omitted to be done before the date of its publication.	21 22 23
3	Lice	ences	and certificates of registration under repealed Act	24
	(1)	regis befor	erson who was the holder of a licence or certificate of tration under a provision of the repealed Act immediately re its repeal is taken to be the holder of the corresponding ce or certificate of registration under this Act.	25 26 27 28
	(2)	The o	corresponding licence or certificate of registration:	29
		(a)	is taken to have been issued subject to the same conditions to which it was subject under the repealed Act, and	30 31 32

Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 1

	(b) remains in force for the remainder of the period for which it was issued.	1 2
	Note. Licences under the repealed Act were issued for 3 years.	3
Per	nding applications and objections	4
(1)	The repealed Act continues to apply as if it had not been	5
	repealed to and in respect of:	6
	(a) an application for the issue, renewal or restoration of a	7
	licence or certificate of registration under a provision of the repealed Act that was pending immediately before	8
	the repealed Act that was pending immediately before its repeal, and	9 10
	(b) any objection under a provision of the repealed Act in	11
	respect of such an application.	12
(2)		13
	a provision of the repealed Act pursuant to subclause (1) is	14
	taken to have been issued or renewed immediately before the repeal of the provision.	15 16
	repeat of the provision.	10
Per	iding complaints	17
(1)	The repealed Act continues to apply as if it had not been	18
	repealed to and in respect of a complaint that was made under	19
	section 29, 29A, 60 or 60AA of the repealed Act and was pending immediately before the repeal of those sections.	20 21
$(\mathbf{n})$		
(2)	For the purposes of the operation of this Schedule, any action taken by a court on such a complaint is to have effect as if it	22 23
	was made immediately before the repeal of the provision of the	23
	repealed Act under which the complaint was made.	25
Per	nding appeals	26
(1)	Any appeal pending under section 31 or 61 of the repealed Act	27
	immediately before the repeal of the section under which the	28
	appeal was made is to continue and be determined as if the	29
	repealed Act had not been repealed.	30
(2)	For the purposes of the operation of this Schedule, the	31
	determination of the appeal is to have effect as if the appeal	32
	was made immediately before the repeal of the provision of the repealed Act under which it was made.	33 34
	repeared Act under which it was made.	54

Schedule 1 Savings and transitional provisions

7	Rec	ords	1
		Any records kept under or for the purposes of a provision of	2
		the repealed Act are taken to be kept under or for the purposes	3
		of the corresponding provision of this Act.	4
8	Com	npensation Fund	5
	(1)	The Compensation Fund under this Act is a continuation of the	6
		Compensation Fund under the repealed Act.	7
	(2)	Any amount payable to the Compensation Fund under the	8
		repealed Act immediately before the commencement of this	9
		clause is payable instead to the Compensation Fund under this	10
		Act.	11
	(3)		12
		repealed Act are taken to have been made to the Compensation	13
		Fund under this Act.	14
9	Stat	utory Interest Account	15
	(1)	The Statutory Interest Account under this Act is a continuation	16
		of the Statutory Interest Account under the repealed Act.	17
	(2)	Any amount payable to the Statutory Interest Account under	18
		the repealed Act immediately before the commencement of this	19
		clause is payable instead to the Statutory Interest Account	20
		under this Act.	21
	(3)	Contributions made to the Statutory Interest Account under the	22
		repealed Act are taken to have been made to the Statutory	23
		Interest Account under this Act.	24
0	Trus	st account rates	25
		A trust account rate determined for an authorised deposit-taking	26
		institution and in force under section 36AA of the repealed Act	27
		immediately before its repeal is taken to have been determined	28
		under section 85 of this Act in respect of that institution until	29
		a different rate is determined for that institution under that	30
		section.	31

Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 1

1	1 Approval of business name	1
	The Director-General is taken to have approved of a licensee	2
	carrying on, or advertising or holding out that the licensee	3
	carries on, business as a licensee under a name for the	4
	purposes of this Act if, immediately before the commencement	5
	of this clause, the licensee carried on business as a licensee	6
	under that name in compliance with section 43A of the	7
	repealed Act.	8
1	2 Licences cancelled under repealed Act	9
	A reference in this Act to a licence cancelled under this Act	10
	includes a reference to a licence cancelled under the repealed	11
	Act.	12
1	3 Receivers	13
	The repealed Act continues to apply to and in respect of a	14
	receiver whose appointment under the repealed Act is in force	15
	immediately before the commencement of this clause as if the	16
	repealed Act had not been repealed.	17
1	4 Act extends to acts and omissions before commencement	18
	Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, a provision	19
	of this Act extends to any act or omission occurring before the	20
	commencement of the provision.	21
1	5 Continuity of things done before commencement	22
	Anything done by the Director-General or a licensee under or	23
	for the purposes of a provision of the repealed Act is, to the	23
	extent that the thing done has effect immediately before the	25
	repeal of the provision, taken to have been done under or for	26
	the purposes of the corresponding provision of this Act.	27
1	6 Disclosure of information	28
	For the purposes of section 215 (Disclosure of information) of	29
	this Act, information obtained in connection with the	30
	administration or execution of the repealed Act is taken to have	31
	been obtained in connection with the administration or	32
	execution of this Act.	33

Schedule 2	Consequential amendments
------------	--------------------------

Sch	edule 2 Consequential amendments	1
	(Section 223)	2
2.1	Community Land Management Act 1989 No 202	3
	Section 3 Definitions	4
	Omit " <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i> " from the definition of <i>managing agent</i> in section 3 (1).	5 6
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	7
2.2	Conveyancers Licensing Act 1995 No 57	8
[1]	Section 5 Disqualified persons	9
	Omit section 5 (1) (h). Insert instead:	10
	(h) is a disqualified person under the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001.</i>	11 12
[2]	Section 5 (2) (b)	13
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941".	14
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	15
[3]	Section 19 Multidisciplinary partnerships	16
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 19 (3). Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	17 18
[4]	Section 22 Sharing staff of legal practitioners and real estate and other agents	19 20
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 22 (1). Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	21 22

Consequential amendments

Schedule 2

[5]	Section	on 29		1
	Omit	the se	ction. Insert instead:	2
	29	Bar	kers to pay interest to Statutory Interest Acco	ount 3
		(1)	Sections 85 and 86 of the <i>Property, Stock and B</i> <i>Act 2001</i> apply in respect of all money held in account under this Division as if:	
			(a) the trust account were a trust account op under section 81 of that Act, and	ened and kept 7 8
			(b) the licensee who opened and keeps the were a licensee under that Act.	e trust account 9 10
		(2)	A licensee must, when opening a trust account a deposit-taking institution under this Division, e authorised deposit-taking institution is notified account is, for the purposes of sections 85 and to be regarded as a trust account required by th notification is, for the purposes of those sections, as a notification that the trust account is require	ensure that the121 that the trust1386 of that Act,14at Act. Such a15to be regarded16
[6]	Section	on 37	Definition	18
	of <b>PS</b> .	BA Â	erty, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from ct in section 37. ad "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 200	20
[7]	Section	on 38	Claims can be made against Compensation I	Fund 22
			6 (Compensation Fund) of the PSBA Act" from ad "Part 11 of the PSBA Act".	section 38 (1). 23 24
[8]	Section	on 38	(3)	25
			on 64E (4) of the PSBA Act". ad "Section 179 (4) of the PSBA Act".	26 27
[9]	Section	on 39	Contributions by licensees	28
			on 64D or 64E of the PSBA Act" from section 3 ad "section 178 or 179 of the PSBA Act".	<b>39</b> . 29 30

Schedule 2 Consequential amendments
-------------------------------------

[10]	Section 43 Appointment of manager	1
	Omit "a determination by the Director-General under Part 6 of the <i>Property</i> , <i>Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i> " from section 43 (1) (c).	2 3
	Insert instead "a determination by the Director-General under Part 11 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i> ".	4 5
[11]	Section 55 Supreme Court may appoint receiver	6
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 55 (2) (c).	7 8
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	9
2.3	Fair Trading Act 1987 No 68	10
[1]	Section 8 Delegation by Director-General	11
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 8 (1) (f).	12 13
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	14
[2]	Section 25I Functions	15
	Omit " <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i> " from paragraph (a) of the definition of <i>property services industry</i> in section 25I (2).	16 17
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	18
2.4	Fines Act 1996 No 99	19
	Schedule 1 Statutory provisions under which penalty notices issued	20 21
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941, section 86C" from Schedule 1.	22 23
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001, section 212".	24

Consequential amendments

#### Schedule 2

2.5	Landlord and Tenant (Rental Bonds) Act 1977 No 44	1
	Section 20 Rental Bond Interest Account	2
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 20 (2A).	3 4
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	5
2.6	Pawnbrokers and Second-hand Dealers Act 1996 No 13	6
	Section 4 Restrictions on operation of this Act	7
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 4 (1). Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	8 9
2.7	Retirement Villages Act 1999 No 81	10
[1]	Section 23 Deposits to be kept in trust	11
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 23 (3) (b).	12 13
	Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	14
	1 57 0	
[2]	Section 168 Sale of premises	15
[2]	Section 168 Sale of premises Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the note to section 168 (1).	16 17
	Section 168 Sale of premises Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the note to section 168 (1). Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	16 17
[2]	Section 168 Sale of premises Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the note to section 168 (1).	16
	Section 168 Sale of premises Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the note to section 168 (1). Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	16 17 18

Schedule 2	Consequential amendments
------------	--------------------------

2.8	Strata Schemes Management Act 1996 No 138	1
[1]	Chapter 2, Part 4	2
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the introductory note under the heading to Part 4 of Chapter 2. Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	3 4 5
[2]	Section 26 What is a strata managing agent?	6
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 26. Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	7 8
[3]	Section 26	9
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from the note to section 26. Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	10 11 12
[4]	Section 33 Information may be required relating to strata managing agent's trust account	13 14
	Omit "section 36 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i> " from section 33.	15 16
[5]	Insert instead "the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i> ". Section 38 Who is responsible for providing information if a strata managing agent ceases to hold a licence or dies?	17 18 19
	Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 38. Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	20 21
[6]	Section 38 (a)	22
	Omit "section 36 (6) of".	23
[7]	Section 38 (b)	24
	Omit "section 38 (2) of".	25

Consequential amendments

Schedule 2

Section 40 Certain provisions of other Acts requiring agents to provide information not to apply to affairs of owners corporation	1 2
Omit "section 38A (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7) of the Property, Stock and	3
Business Agents Act 1941" from section 40 and from the note to that	4
section wherever occurring.	5
Insert instead "section 98 of the Property, Stock and Business Agents	6
Act 2001".	7
Section 105 Owners corporation may require certain persons to	8
produce records, accounts and property of the owners corporation	9
Omit "section 38 of the Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941"	10
from section 105 (4).	11
Insert instead "the Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	12
Section 105	13
Omit "Section 38 of the Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941"	14
from the note to section 105.	15
Insert instead "The Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	16
Section 162 Order appointing strata managing agent to exercise certain	17
functions	18
Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 162	19
(4) (a).	20
Insert instead "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001".	21
	<ul> <li>information not to apply to affairs of owners corporation</li> <li>Omit "section 38A (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7) of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i>" from section 40 and from the note to that section wherever occurring.</li> <li>Insert instead "section 98 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i>".</li> <li>Section 105 Owners corporation may require certain persons to produce records, accounts and property of the owners corporation</li> <li>Omit "section 38 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i>" from section 105 (4).</li> <li>Insert instead "the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i>".</li> <li>Section 105</li> <li>Omit "Section 38 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i>".</li> <li>Section 105</li> <li>Omit "Section 38 of the <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941</i>" from the note to section 105.</li> <li>Insert instead "The <i>Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 2001</i>".</li> <li>Section 162 Order appointing strata managing agent to exercise certain functions</li> <li>Omit "Property, Stock and Business Agents Act 1941" from section 162 (4) (a).</li> </ul>